REGULATION OF YEAST TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS SKO1 AND CST6 BY SUMOYLATION

VERONI SARATHA SRI THEIVAKADADCHAM

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN BIOLOGY YORK UNIVERSITY TORONTO, ONTARIO

February 2020

© Veroni Saratha Sri Theivakadadcham, 2020

ABSTRACT

Sumoylation is a post-translational modification that plays an essential role in cellular processes, including transcriptional regulation. Transcription factors represent one of the largest groups of proteins that are modified by the SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier) protein. In this study, we focused on finding roles for sumoylation in regulating two gene-specific bZIP transcription factors, Sko1 and Cst6, in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Sko1 plays a unique bifunctional role in regulating transcription: it is a repressor during normal growth, by interacting with co-repressor complexes, and an activator during osmotic stress, via interaction with Hog1 Kinase. We show that Sko1 is poly-sumoylated at Lys 567 but its sumoylation is not regulated by stress. Along with sumoylation, Sko1 also undergoes phosphorylation, by PKA and Hog1, and our experiments show that these two modifications are not interdependent. We find that DNA binding is a requirement for Sko1 sumoylation and genome-wide chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP-seq) analysis shows that Sko1 sumoylation controls the occupancy level of Sko1 on target promoters and is involved in preventing Sko1 from binding to non-target promoters. Moreover, blocking sumoylation attenuated the interaction between Sko1 and Hog1 on target promoters.

Cst6, on the other hand, is required for survival during ethanol stress and has roles in the utilization of carbon sources other than glucose. In this study, we show that Cst6 is multi-sumoylated at Lys residues 139, 461 and 547. The level of Cst6 sumoylation increases in ethanol and oxidative stress conditions, but decreases if ethanol is used as the sole carbon source. Unlike Sko1, protein levels of SUMO-deficient Cst6 were moderately reduced compared to the wild-type form, implying that sumoylation promotes Cst6 stability. ChIP experiments suggests that sumoylation is important for the timely recruitment of Cst6 to its target promoters. In addition, we provide evidence that Cst6 sumoylation reduces the expression of some target genes, during non-stress and ethanol stress

conditions. Taken together, our studies suggest that the specific effects of sumoylation in regulating transcription factors are target specific. Nevertheless, SUMO plays a general role by controlling the transcription factor-DNA interaction to maintain proper gene expression.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my mother, **Annette Sri Theivakadadcham**. I pursued with PhD mainly to fulfill my mother's dream. Her constant support and motivation has given me the strength to travel through my PhD journey. Thank you mum, without your love, advice and support, this would not have been possible.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my family members for all their love and support. Along with my mother, my Godfather, **Dunstan Egbert**, has shown his love, care, and support from day one. I would not have been able to complete this dissertation without your constant advice and support. I would like to thank my better half, my husband, **Vinoth Matthews**. Although you entered midway into my journey, you are one of the main reasons for the successful completion of my PhD. You are my pillar of strength. I thank my siblings for their love and support and in particular, to my sister, **Antonette Nicholas**, for being another mother to me. Your support in my early education has set the right foundation for my present success.

I would like to thank my supervisor **Dr. Emanuel Rosonina** for giving me the opportunity to work in the Rosonina Lab. You have been a great mentor during my work. Thank you for your support, guidance and encouragement. I am thankful for the opportunities you have given me over the years to present my research at various conferences. I am also grateful to my supervisory committee members, **Dr. John McDermott** and **Dr. Peter Cheung**. I was able to improve my projects with your excellent advice, suggestions and support. Additionally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to **Dr. Bridget Stutchbury** for her support, understanding, and advice. Your assistance has helped me a lot. I would also like to thank **Dr. Yi Sheng, Dr. Derek Wilson** and **Dr. Brian Raught** for agreeing to be on my examining committee, for their time and effort.

I would also like to thank all the members of the Rosonina lab, past and present: John, Yimo, Marjan, Akhi, Justin, Farhaan, Russell, Jessica Petricca, Giovanni, Areeb, Ben, Bryan, Mostafa, Mohammad, and Sukyong. You have made my time in the Rosonina lab so enjoyable and memorable. Special thanks to John for being my best friend. You were the first person I have always approached whenever I needed someone to talk to. Thank you for all the help with proof reading my work. Although they belonged to different labs, special thanks to Jessica D'Angelo, and Shailee Jani for being two great friends. You were there supporting me through all the ups and downs I have faced. Together, we had many good times and those memories will never be forgotten. A special thanks to all my other friends from the 3rd Floor of LSB, Dr. Rahima Khatun, Dr. Mohamed Salem, Dr. Dayana D'amoura, Dr. Queenie Hu, Dr. Jyotsna Vinayak, Dr. Stefanie Bernaudo and Dr. Yara Zayed. Thank you all for being a good friend and a mentor. Your advice and guidance have helped me to finish my PhD on time.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIAITONS	xi
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Post-translational modification	1
1.2 Sumoylation	3
1.2.1 Sumoylation Pathway	7
1.2.2 De-sumoylation	9
1.2.3 SUMO acceptor sites	11
1.2.4 SUMO chain formation	
1.2.5 Molecular consequences of sumoylation	14
1.2.6 The SUMO Enigma	17
1.2.7 SUMO and stress response	19
1.3 Biological functions of SUMO	21
1.3.1 Non-nuclear sumoylation	
1.3.2 Nuclear sumoylation	
1.4 Sumoylation and transcription	
1.4.1 Transcriptional repression by SUMO	
1.4.2 Transcriptional activation by SUMO	
1.5 Transcription	
1.5.1 DNA cis-regulatory elements	
1.5.2 Transcription overview	
1.6 Transcription factors	
1.6.1 Transcription Factor binding motifs and DNA binding specificity	
1.6.2 Characterization of transcription factors based on DBD	
1.7 bZIP transcription factors	
1.7.1 Suppressor of Kinase Overexpression 1 (Sko1)	
1.7.2 Chromosome stability 6 (Cst6)	39
1.8 Rationale and objectives of this study	40

CHAPTER 2: SUMOYLATION OF DNA-BOUND TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR SK PREVENTS ITS ASSOCIATION WITH NONTARGET PROMOTERS	01 43
2.1 ABSTRACT	44
2.2 INTRODUCTION	45
2.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	49
2.4 RESULTS	55
2.5 DISCUSSION	77
2.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	80
2.7 SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	81
CHAPTER 3: ETHANOL STRESS STIMULATES SUMOYLATION OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR CST6 WHICH RESTRICTS EXPRESSION OF ITS TARGET GENES	95
3.1 ABSTRACT	96
3.2 INTRODUCTION	97
3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	100
3.4 RESULTS	105
3.5 DISCUSSION	127
3.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	129
3.7 SUPPLMENTARY DATA	130
SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	135
4.1 SUMMARY	135
4.1.1 Yeast transcription factor Sko1 is regulated by sumoylation	135
4.1.2. Yeast transcription factor Cst6 is regulated by sumoylation	138
4.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	141
4.2.1 Further examining the regulation of Sko1 by sumoylation	141
4.2.2 Further examining the regulation of Cst6 by sumoylation	142
4.3 Conclusions	143
REFERENCES	145
Chapter 1	145
Chapter 2	153
Chapter 3	158
Chapter 4	161
APPENDIX	163

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 1

Table 1.1: Enzymes mediating the sumoylation pathway in S. cerevisiae and H. sapiens
<u>CHAPTER 2</u>

Table 2 S 1: Yeast strains used in this study	. 92
Table 2 S 2: Oligonucleotide primers used in this study.	. 93
Table 2 S 3: List of peaks identified in ChIP-seq peak analysis for each of the four samples	
over two replicates (Replicates 1 and 2)	. 94
Table 2 S 4: Annotated list of peaks that are present in both replicates for each sample/analysi	S
("Overlapping Peak Sets").	. 94
Table 2 S 5: Differential binding analysis (performed with DiffBind) at consensus peaks for	
pair-wise comparisons of ChIP-seq data sets.	. 94
Table 2 S 6: Numerical values for graphical data presented throughout, listed by figure number	er
as separate sheets/tabs.	. 94

CHAPTER 3

Table 3 S 1: Yeast strains used in this study	133
Table 3 S 2: Oligonucleotide primers used in this study.	134

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1.1: Structural comparison between Ubiquitin and the human SUMO1 isoform	4
Figure 1.2: Sequence alignment between Ubiquitin and SUMO family proteins.	6
Figure 1.3: Sumoylation pathway in mammals and S. cerevisiae.	8
Figure 1.4: Types of sumoylation and the function of poly-sumoylation in ubiquitin-mediated	
proteasomal degradation	. 13
Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of how SUMO alters the binding site on the target	
surface	. 15
Figure 1.6: Methods explaining how sumoylation can have a prolonged effect on	
transcriptional repression even after de-sumoylation of the transcription factor	. 18
Figure 1.7: Schematic representation of the cis-regulatory sequences involved in transcription	28
Figure 1.8: Schematic representation of the formation of transcription machinery	. 30
Figure 1.9: bZIP transcription factor structures and comparisons	. 35
Figure 1.10: Sko1 is a bifunctional transcription factor	. 38

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2.1: Sko1 is constitutively sumoylated at Lys 567	58
Figure 2.2: Sko1 sumoylation shows no interdependence with phosphorylation but requires	
DNA binding.	62
Figure 2.3: Binding site analysis from Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT ChIP-seq experiment	67
Figure 2.4: Sko1-MT binds dramatically more promoter regions than Sko1-WT.	69
Figure 2.5: Sko1-MT binds more promoter regions than Sko1-WT after treatment with NaCl.	71
Figure 2.6: Differential binding analysis indicates that Sko1-MT has higher occupancy levels	
than Sko1-WT	75
Figure 2 S 1:	82
Figure 2 S 2: Binding site analysis of Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT ChIP-seq experiment for	
Replicate 2 and for peaks overlapping in both replicates	84
Figure 2 S 3: Distribution and motif analysis of ChIP-seq peak sets.	86
Figure 2 S 4:	88
Figure 2 S 5: Effects of elevated Sko1 binding on steady-state expression levels of target	
genes in the sko1-MT strain.	90
Figure 2 S 6: Effects of blocking Sko1 sumoylation on recruitment of Hog1 to target genes	
during osmotic stress.	91

CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.1: bZIP transcription factor Cst6 is sumoylated	108
Figure 3.2: Sumoylation level of Cst6 is elevated during oxidative and ethanol stress	112
Figure 3.3: Cst6 sumoylation level during ethanol stress is dependent on the dose and durat	ion
of stress exposure.	115
Figure 3.4: Cst6 is multi-sumoylated at K139, K461 and K547 during non-stress and ethano	ol
stress conditions	118
Figure 3.5: Sumoylation of Cst6 is not essential for cell viability but influences its	
abundance	122
Figure 3.6: Sumoylation enhances Cst6 promoter binding and restricts expression of some	
target genes	126
Figure 3 S 1:	131
Figure 3 S 2: Global levels of sumoylation are influenced by carbon source and ethanol	
stress.	132

LIST OF ABBREVIAITONS

Abbreviation	Full name
Aca	ATF/CREB repressor
Acr	ATF/CREB repressor
AP-1	Activator protein-1
ATF	Activating Transcription Factor
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bHLH	basic helix-loop-helix
bZIP	basic leucine zipper
СЕВР	CCAAT-enhancer binding protein
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
ChIP-seq	Chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing
COF	Cofactors
CRE	cAMP Response Element
CREB	cAMP Response Element-Binding Protein
Cst6	Chromosome stability 6
DBD	DNA-binding domain
DDR	DNA damage response
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
FDR	False-discovery rate
FE	Fold enrichment
GEO	Gene expression omnibus
GO	Gene ontology
GTFs	General transcription factors
HDAC	Histone deacetylases
IGV	Integrative Genomics Viewer
IP	Immunoprecipitation
Lys	Lysine
NBs	Nuclear bodies
NDSM	Negatively charged amino acid-dependent sumoylation motif
NEM	N-ethylmaleimide
NHR	Nuclear hormone receptor
NLS	Nuclear localization sequence
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance

NP40	Nonidet P-40
NTP	Nucleoside triphosphates
OD	Optical density
PDSM	Phosphorylation-dependent sumoylation motifs
PIAS	Protein inhibitor of STAT
PIC	Pre-initiation complex
РМВ	Protein binding microarrays
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
РТМ	Post-translational modifications
PTP1B	Protein-tyrosine phosphatase-1B
PXR	Pregnane X receptor
RanGAP1	Ran GTPase-activating protein 1
RNAP	RNA polymerase
RT	Reverse transcription
SAE	SUMO-activating enzyme
SENP	Sentrin-specific protease
SC	Synthetic complete
SIM	SUMO Interacting Motifs
Sko1	Suppressor of Kinase Overexpression 1
SM	Sulfometuron methyl
SSR	SUMO stress response
STUbL	SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligases
SUMO	Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier
TAF	TBP-associated factor
TBP	TATA box-binding protein
ТСА	Trichloroacetic acid
TCAG	The Centre for Applied Genomics
TDG	Thymine-DNA glycosylase
TSS	Transcription start site
TF	Transcription factor
UAS	Upstream activation sequences
ZF	Zinc finger

CHAPTER 1 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Post-translational modification

Proteins play vital roles in many cellular functions such as catalysis, transport, structural building, defence, hormones, and many more. While the human genome consists of about 25,000 protein coding genes, there are more than 1 million proteins found in cells that are functionally different [1]. Much of the diversity among proteins is due to alternative splicing and post-translational modifications (PTMs). Alternative splicing takes place before an mRNA is translated to a protein by ribosomes, whereas, PTMs occur after protein synthesis. Many proteins are not functionally active immediately after the synthesis process; they must first undergo certain chemical modifications to become fully functional and these modifications are known as PTMs [1]. PTMs are most often driven by enzymes that either add a functional group or peptides, or perform proteolytic cleavage to orchestrate protein activity [2]. PTMs can regulate a protein throughout its lifespan starting from its intracellular localization, DNA-binding, protein-protein interactions, and all the way to its degradation [2].

To date, more than 200 PTMs have been identified and some common PTMs include phosphorylation, acetylation, glycosylation, methylation, ubiquitination, and sumoylation [1-3]. Other PTMs, such as oxidation, neddylation, formylation, propionylation, and butyrylation have also gained attention in recent years. The effects of the modifications vary, but can include altering the charge state, hydrophobicity, conformation and stability of the target proteins [3]. In addition, most of these PTMs are reversible and can have different functions in different organelles. For example, phosphorylation controls nuclear localization of some proteins by either assisting (e.g. inflammatory response transcription factor RelA) or preventing (e.g. Bach2, a regulator of the immune system) their nuclear import [4, 5]. Whereas in the nucleus, phosphorylation can regulate gene expression by influencing the DNA binding activity of transcriptional regulators. For example, ZEB1, an essential transcription factor in the development of the eye and neurons, is subjected to phosphorylation at Thr 867 which promotes ZEB1-DNA binding [6]. In contrast to this, YY1 phosphorylation at Tyr 383 interferes with its DNA binding thereby supressing transcription of genes involved in embryogenesis [7].

In many cases, proteins can be modified by multiple PTMs that are dependent or independent of each other [1-3]. These modifications can work together to alter the functional outcomes of a target protein. For example, pregnane X receptor (PXR) is a ligand-activated transcription factor that has a pivotal role in transcription regulation of drug metabolism and drug transport pathways in the liver and intestine [8-10]. PXR is regulated by acetylation, sumoylation and ubiquitination, and recent studies have shown an interconnected role for these modifications. Both the ligand binding and recruitment of p300 induces a conformational change in PXR that promotes p300-mediated histone acetylation which facilitates transcriptional activation. Sustained transcription induces p300 mediated acetylation of PXR at Lys109 [8]. PXR acetylation induces further conformational changes that reduces its affinity to its DNA binding partner RXRα, resulting in the destabilization of transcriptional complex and transcriptional repression.

Another study indicated that this acetylation of PXR is important in mediating PXR sumoylation which is involved in transcriptional repression of target genes [9]. PXR is sumoylated with SUMO-2/3 at Lys108 and 128/129 by the PIASy SUMO E3 ligase. This sumoylation, in turn, stimulates K48-linked poly-ubiquitination at Lys170 to promote proteasome-mediated degradation of PXR [10]. Interestingly, increased acetylation on ligand-activated PXR correlated with an increase in poly-ubiquitination at Lys170 and 160 [9]. These results together show the interplay between acetylation, sumoylation, and ubiquitination in the regulation of PXR. Importantly, deregulation of PTMs are found in human diseases such as cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, and diabetes [2].

1.2 Sumoylation

Since the discovery of sumoylation in 1996 by Günter Blobel and his team, this PTM was shown to be involved in a wide range of cellular processes such as DNA damage response, nuclear/cytoplasmic transport, cell cycle progression, signalling, cellular stress response and transcriptional regulation [11-14]. Sumoylation involves the attachment of a SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier) peptide to lysine residues of substrate proteins [12-14]. SUMO is a small protein that consists around 95-115 amino acids and has a calculated molecular mass of ~12 kDa. The first SUMO target was identified in mammals, the Ran GTPase-activating protein 1 (RanGAP1), a protein that functions in regulating nuclear import and export systems [11].

Three-dimensional structures of both SUMO and ubiquitin are very similar and these proteins contain a tightly packed $\beta\beta\alpha\beta\beta\alpha\beta$ fold (Figure 1.1) [3]. SUMO shares about an 18% amino acid sequence homology with ubiquitin and these two proteins contain a double glycine at their C-termini (Figure 1.2A). In contrast, SUMO has a long N-terminal domain that is absent in ubiquitin and SUMO and ubiquitin have different surface charge distributions [15]. These observations suggest that they interact with distinct substrates to exert different functions.



Figure 1.1: Structural comparison between Ubiquitin and the human SUMO1 isoform. Both proteins share structural similarities with the tightly packed ββαββαβ fold. Contrastingly, SUMO1 has a long N- terminus which is absent in ubiquitin. The structure of ubiquitin was determined by X-ray crystallography whereas the structure of SUMO was discovered by NMR [15].

SUMO is conserved among eukaryotes and since its discovery, at least one SUMO isoform has been identified in all eukaryotes. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Caenorhabditis elegans*, and *Drosophila* express only a single SUMO protein. Contrastingly, mammals express five SUMO isoforms: SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4 and SUMO5 [13]. *S. cerevisiae* SUMO (also known as Smt3), encoded by the *SMT3* gene, shares similarities to the amino acid sequences of the mammalian SUMO isoforms (Figure 1.2A) [12]. SUMO1 shares only about 47% sequence similarity to SUMO2 and SUMO3. On the other hand, since SUMO2 and SUMO3 share 97% sequence identity, they are often referred to as SUMO2/3.

SUMO4 was identified through DNA sequence analysis as it shares about 87% similarity with the SUMO2/3 sequence [16, 17]. However, differences between SUMO4 and the other SUMO isoforms have led to questions about whether it is expressed or functions like other SUMO peptides. Unlike other SUMOs, the *SUMO4* gene lacks introns, thus making it possible that it is actually a pseudogene. In addition, it has a proline instead of glutamine in position 90, which questions whether it can be processed by known SUMO proteases to a mature form (Figure 1.2A) [16, 17].

Lastly, SUMO5 was the latest identified SUMO isoform to be identified, and it shares a high sequence similarity with SUMO1 (Figure 1.2B). Although these five isoforms share some sequence similarities, their expression profiles are different [12]. SUMO1 and SUMO2/3 are ubiquitously expressed while SUMO4 and SUMO5 are tissue specific. Although the SUMO4 mRNA has been found in specific organs such as spleen, lymph nodes, and kidneys, the endogenous SUMO4 protein has not been detected [12, 16, 17], whereas SUMO5 is translated in the lungs and spleen [18].

Ubiquitin									му	2 <mark>I</mark> F	V	(TLT	GKT	I	LE	VE:	SSD!	r <mark>i</mark> d	NV	KAI	κīχ	DKE	35
Smt3	MSD	SEVN	Q <mark>EA</mark>	KP	EV	KP-	-EVF	(PE	THI	IL K	V.	S-DG	SSE	IF	FK	IK	(TT)	L R	RI	ME	<mark>A</mark> FA	K <mark>RQ</mark> (57
SUM01	MSD		Q <mark>EA</mark>	KP	ST	EDL	GDKł	ŒGI	EYI}	(LK	v	I <mark>GQD</mark>	SSE	IH	IFK	V <mark>K</mark> I	M <mark>TT</mark> I	H <mark>L</mark> K	KI	KE:	SYC	Q <mark>RQ</mark> (56
SUMO2	MAD		E	KP	KE	G	V <mark>KTI</mark>	EN <mark>N</mark> I	DHIN	1 <mark>IK</mark>	v	AGQD	GSV	vç	2FK	IK	RHTI	PLS	КI	MK/	AYC	ERQ	52
SUMO3	<mark>MS</mark> E		E	KP	KE	G	V <mark>KTI</mark>	s-N	DHIN	1 <mark>IK</mark>	V.	1GQD	GSV	vç)FK	IK	RHT]	PLS	K I	MK/	AYC	ERQ	51
SUMO4	MAN		E	KP	т <mark>е</mark>	E	V <mark>KTI</mark>	EN <mark>N</mark> I	N <mark>HII</mark> N	1 <mark>IK</mark>	v.	AGQD	GSV	vç)FK	IK	RQ <mark>T</mark> I	PLS	K I	MK/	AYC	EPR	52
SUMO5	MSD		L <mark>EA</mark>	KP	ST	EHL	GDK1	[KD]	EDI	(LR	v	I <mark>GQD</mark>	SSE	IH	IFK	v <mark>k</mark> i	MTT]	I K	КI	K <mark>K</mark> :	5 <mark>YC</mark>	QR <mark>Q</mark> (56
																				_			

Ubiquitin	IPPDQQRLIFACKQLEDGRTLA	DYNIQKEST <mark>L</mark> HLVLRLR <mark>GG</mark>	76
Smt3	KEMDSLRFLYDGIRIQADQTPE	DLD <mark>MED</mark> N <mark>D I <mark>I</mark>EAHREQI<mark>GG</mark></mark>	98
SUMO1	VPMNSL <mark>RFLFE</mark> GORIADNHTPK	ELG <mark>MEEED</mark> V <mark>I</mark> EVYQE <mark>QTGG</mark>	97
SUMO2	LSMRQIRFRFDGQPINETDTPA	QLEMEDEDT <mark>I</mark> DVFQQQT <mark>GG</mark>	93
SUMO3	LSMRQIRFRFDGQPINETDTPA	QLEMEDEDTIDVFQQQTGG	92
SUMO4	LSMKQ <mark>IRFR</mark> FG <mark>GQP</mark> ISGTDKPA	QLEMEDEDT <mark>IDVFQQPTGG</mark>	93
SUM05	VPVNSL <mark>RFLF</mark> E <mark>GQRI</mark> ADNHT <mark>P</mark> E	ELG <mark>ME</mark> EE <mark>DVI</mark> E <mark>V</mark> YQEQI <mark>GG</mark>	97

Figure 1.2: Sequence alignment between Ubiquitin and SUMO family proteins. Mammalian SUMO isoforms and yeast SUMO (Smt3) share some sequence similarity with ubiquitin. Dark blue background shows the identical residues in all sequences, including the di-glycine motif. Light blue background represents conserved positions among ubiquitin and SUMO. Positions that are identical in at least three of the SUMO proteins, but not in Ub, are shaded with a purple background. Sequence alignment of SUMO isoforms and ubiquitin was made using Clustal Omega.

1.2.1 Sumoylation Pathway

SUMO proteins are synthesized as immature precursors and must undergo a C-terminal cleavage mediated by SUMO-specific proteases to become mature proteins [11, 14]. This cleavage exposes a di-glycine motif ('GG') that is required for SUMO conjugation to occur on lysine residues in substrate proteins. Similar to ubiquitination, sumoylation is a dynamic process which requires catalysis by three classes of enzymes: E1 activating enzymes, E2 conjugating enzyme, and E3 ligases (Figure 1.3). The mammalian and yeast proteins involved in the sumoylation pathway are listed in Table 1.1.

Once the mature form of SUMO is formed, it undergoes an activation step by the E1 activation enzyme in an ATP dependent manner. The mammalian SUMO E1 enzyme is composed of two subunits, SUMO-activating enzyme subunit 1 (SAE1; known as Aos1 in yeast) and SUMO activating enzyme subunit 2 (SAE2; known as Uba2 in yeast) [11-14]. The activation of SUMO is a two-step process: (i) SUMO E1 complex adenylates the exposed 'GG' of the SUMO protein; (ii) SAE2 forms a thioester bond between its active site cysteine and the carboxyl terminus (at the 'GG') of SUMO [12]. Formation of the thioester bond activates SUMO, therefore enabling its interaction with the SUMO E2 enzyme, Ubc9. Activated SUMO is then transferred to a cysteine in the active site of Ubc9, maintaining the thioester bond by a trans-thioesterification reaction [11-14]. In contrast to ubiquitination, in which E3 ubiquitin ligases are the primary determinant of substrate specificity, Ubc9 can directly specify its targets via the consensus motif Ψ KxD/E, where Ψ is a hydrophobic residue, K is the lysine (Lys) to be modified and x is any amino acid (Figure 3: Step 4A).



Figure 1.3: The sumoylation pathway in mammals and *S. cerevisiae***.** (1) SUMO precursors are cleaved at the C-terminus by SUMO-specific protease to reveal the GG motif. (2) Mature SUMO is activated by the E1 activating enzyme in an ATP-dependent manner. (3) Activated SUMO is then transferred to the E2 conjugating enzyme, Ubc9. Substrate is sumoylated by one of the three methods: (4A) Ubc9 can trigger the conjugation of SUMO to a lysine residue within a consensus modification motif (ΨKxE) of a given substrate; or (4B) SUMO E3 ligase (e.g. SP-RING) interacts with both the Ubc9-SUMO complex and the substrate to facilitate substrate sumoylation; or (4C) SUMO E3 ligase (e.g. IR-RanBP2) interacts only with the Ubc9-SUMO complex during sumoylation. (5) Finally, de-sumoylation is carried out by SUMO-specific protease that cleaves the SUMO peptide from the substrate proteins, and (6) allowing the recycling of free SUMO. SIM: SUMO interacting motif. Figure adapted from [13].

Although Ubc9 can transfer the SUMO protein to a substrate protein, there are a number of SUMO E3 ligases discovered, that enhance SUMO conjugation and substrate specificity. The identified SUMO E3 ligases are classified into three groups: Siz/PIAS-RING (SP-RING), Internal repeats (IR)-RanBP2, and the others. Similar to Ubc9, SUMO E3 executes the transfer of SUMO by forming an isopeptide bond between the lysine of a target protein and the C-terminal glycine of SUMO [11-14] (Figure 1.3: Steps 4B and 4C).

1.2.2 De-sumoylation

Sumoylation is a highly dynamic process, and the removal of SUMO from substrates is referred to as de-sumoylation. This step is mediated by the same enzymes that cleave the SUMO precursors before the activation step (Figure 1.3; compare Step 1 and Step 5). There are several SUMO proteases identified to date, including Ulp1 and Ulp2 in yeast, and the sentrin-specific protease (SENP) family in humans [11-14] (Table 1.1). SUMO proteases contain shallow clefts lined with conserved amino acids, such as tryptophans, that clamp the di-glycine motif leading to the cleavage of the SUMO C-terminus [19]. These proteases show substrate specificity and have been discovered to be localized to different subcellular compartments in cells. For example, Ulp1, SENP1 and SENP2 localize to the nuclear envelope to function in cleaving SUMO precursors and de-sumoylating substrates. In Contrast, Ulp2, SENP6 and SENP7 localize in the nucleoplasm in order to remove poly-SUMO chains [19].

Enzymes	S. cerevisiae	H. sapiens
SUMO	Smt3	SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4, SUMO5
E1 activating enzyme	Aos1, Uba2	Sae1, Sae2
E2 conjugating enzyme	Ubc9	Ubc9
E3 ligase	Siz1, Siz2, Cst9, Mms21	PIAS1, PIAS2, PIAS3, PIAS4, ZMIZ1, NSE2, RanBP2, Pc2, MUL1, TOPORS, HDAC4, HDAC7, TRAF7, FUS, RSUME
SUMO protease	Ulp1, Ulp2	SENP1, SENP2, SENP3, SENP4, SENP5, SENP6, SENP7, DESI1, DESI2, USPL1

 Table 1-1: Enzymes mediating the sumoylation pathway in S. cerevisiae and H. sapiens.

Adapted from [13]

1.2.3 SUMO acceptor sites

Approximately 75% of SUMO substrates are modified within the consensus motif (ΨKxD/E). However, sumoylation can also occur at a lysine residue within at least two other types of SUMO acceptor sites: phosphorylation-dependent sumoylation motifs (PDSM) and negatively charged amino acid-dependent sumoylation motif (NDSM) [20-22].

The PDSM is composed of a SUMO consensus motif and a proline-directed phosphorylation site (Ψ KxExxSP) [11, 21]. Binding of SUMO within PDSM is dependent on prior phosphorylation. The first evidence of PDSM-dependent sumoylation was observed in heat-shock factor 1 and heat-shock factor 4 [21]. Subsequent bioinformatics analyses showed the presence of PDSM in multiple transcriptional regulators, including erythroid transcription factor GATA-1, Smad nuclear interacting protein-1, and myocyte enhancer factor 2 [21]. On the other hand, NDSM (Ψ KxExxxxxxx) contains negatively charged residues within a 10-amino-acid region downstream of the SUMO consensus motif [19, 22]. NDSM was first discovered in Elk-1 and later in PML, Sin3A and NF1.

Both PDSM and NDSM provide negatively charged residues downstream of the Lys residue [20, 21]. These negatively charged residues are used to interact with the basic patches on Ubc9, thereby stabilizing the interaction between Ubc9 and the SUMO target to facilitate the transfer of SUMO [19-21]. The main difference between these two motifs is that PDSM provides the acidic nature by phosphorylation of a nearby serine residue, whereas the negative charge in the NDSM is a property of the primary sequence of the protein [17].

1.2.4 SUMO chain formation

Through the sumoylation cycle, a substrate can undergo different types of sumoylation: monosumoylation (sumoylated at a single Lys); multi-sumoylation (sumoylated at multiple Lys); or poly-sumoylation (formation of SUMO chains on one or more Lys) (Figure 4A) [12-14]. SUMO 2/3 contain a SUMO consensus motif in their N-terminal region, centered on K11 [12, 23] (highlighted on Figure 1.2B), whereas yeast SUMO (Smt3) contains three SUMO consensus motifs around K11, K15, and K19 [23, 24]. These Lys residues with these three SUMO forms serve as a platform to be modified by SUMO chains. There are non-consensus Lys residues in SUMO1 (K7, K17, K25), SUMO2 (K32, K34), and SUMO3 (K33, K35) that accept the formation of SUMO chains. Interestingly, in humans, SUMO chains can be formed with the combination of different SUMO isoforms. For example, SUMO1 conjugates to K11 of SUMO2/3 to terminate the chain formation in an *in vitro* reaction [25]. This termination is due to the absence of K11 on SUMO1 hindering the ability for further chain elongation (Figure 1.4A) [25, 26].

De-sumoylation of SUMO chains is mainly executed by Ulp2 and SENP6 SUMO proteases, in yeast and mammalian cells respectively, as seen by the heavy accumulation of poly-sumoylated proteins in the absence of these two proteases [23]. Multiple SUMO targets have been identified to be poly-sumoylated and the SUMO chain has many biological functions. The well-studied primary function of poly-sumoylation is that it targets the substrate for ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation (Figure 1.4B) [27, 28]. SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligases (STUbLs) bind poly-sumoylated targets to form poly-ubiquitin chains. Subsequently, the 26S proteasome is recruited to degrade the target protein. In addition, poly-sumoylation has been found to increase sporulation efficiency in yeast, and it plays a role in kinetochore function in humans [29, 30].



Figure 1.4: Types of sumoylation and the function of poly-sumoylation in ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation. (A) SUMO targets can be either mono-sumoylated, poly-sumoylated or multi-sumoylated. Combinations of SUMO2/3 (S2/3) and SUMO1 (S1) can form poly-sumoylation and SUMO1 often terminates the chain elongation. (B) Schematic representation to explain how poly-sumoylation on target proteins leads to ubiquitin-mediated proteasome degradation. Poly-sumoylated protein is recognized by SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligases (STUbLs), RING finger type of ubiquitin ligase. STUbL adds poly-ubiquitin chains that are recognized by the 26S proteasome, which then facilitates protein degradation. Finally, ubiquitin and SUMO are recycled by de-ubiquitination (DUB) and de-sumoylation (ULP), respectively. SIM: SUMO interacting motif. Figures are adapted from [26] and [28], respectively.

1.2.5 Molecular consequences of sumoylation

Sumoylation can affect protein localization, enzymatic activity, protein stability or influence interactions with other proteins [20, 31]. For example, sumoylation of RanGAP1, a GTPase activating protein, increases its interaction with RanBP2, a component of the nuclear pore complex, to facilitate RanGAP1 nuclear import [32]. In addition, the sumoylation of p53 promotes its interaction with the nuclear export receptor CRM1 to allow nuclear export of p53 [33].

SUMO also influences protein stability by either enhancing stability directly, or by assisting in ubiquitin-mediated degradation. For example, in the absence of viral infection, cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) is modified by SUMO1, which prevents poly-ubiquitination and the subsequent degradation of cGAS, thereby enhancing its stability [34]. On the other hand, RNF4, a ubiquitin E3 ligase, preferentially binds to the poly-sumoylated promyelocytic leukaemia (PML) protein to induce poly-ubiquitination of PML and the subsequent degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway [35].

All these general functions of SUMO are mediated by altering the surface of the target protein, thereby influencing interactions with other proteins. There are multiple ways that this can be achieved: (i) target conformation changes after the modification by SUMO (Figure 1.5A); (ii) the presence of SUMO can mask the binding sites that are needed for other proteins to interact (Figure 1.5B); or (iii) SUMO provides the binding sites/surface for other proteins to bind (Figure 1.5C) [13, 20, 31].



Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of how SUMO alters the binding site on the target surface. (A) SUMO conjugation induces conformational changes on the substrate. (B) Binding of SUMO prevents the interaction with a partner protein. (C) SUMO promotes protein-protein interaction through SUMO interacting motifs (SIM). Figure adapted from [13].

Sumoylation of thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG) is thus far the best example to explain how SUMO modulates the target conformation (Figure 1.5A). During DNA repair, TDG binds to the DNA to execute base excision repair by removing the mutant base pair. After excision, TDG is modified by SUMO1 causing a conformational change. This change in structure reduces the affinity between TDG and DNA, thereby removing TDG from DNA [36]. This allows the binding of other proteins involved in DNA repair to then proceed with repairing the DNA lesion.

In addition to protein conformational change, SUMO can mask binding sites that are needed for other proteins to interact (Figure 1.5B). For example, transcription factor Sp1 is sumoylated by SUMO2/3 which prevents Sp1 interaction with the acetyl transferase p300 during ocular lens differentiation [37]. In addition, sumovlation of the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2-25k inhibits the interaction with ubiquitin E1 enzyme, causing a decrease in ubiquitin conjugation [38]. In contrast, SUMO also provides binding sites/surface for other proteins to bind. Sumoylated proteins non-covalently interact with other proteins via SUMO interacting motif (SIM) (Figure 1.5C) [13, 20]. The SIM is made up of hydrophobic residues (V/I/L)-x-(V/I/L)-(V/I/L), where x is any amino acid [13]. Sumoylated proteins and proteins containing SIMs can bind to form protein complexes. For example, PML nuclear bodies (PML NBs) are made by forming complexes with sumoylated and SIM containing proteins such as PML, p53, sp100, CBP, and DAXX [39]. In fact, STUbLs bind to the poly-sumoylated protein using their SIMs, then mediate poly-ubiquitination for subsequent degradation (Figure 1.5C and Figure 1.3B) [27]. Along with PML (mentioned above), other proteins such as $I\kappa B\alpha$ (Inhibitor the NF- κB transcription factor) and hypoxia-inducible factor 1α are also found to be degraded through similar methods [40, 41].

1.2.6 The SUMO Enigma

An interesting observation regarding sumoylation is that, although a small fraction of targets is sumoylated at a given time, this is enough for a maximum effect. This phenomenon has been referred to as 'SUMO enigma' [17]. The underlying mechanism for the SUMO enigma has not been determined, but there are some possible explanations regarding this effect. As sumoylation is a dynamic event, if proteases act constitutively and rapidly to de-sumoylate target proteins soon after their sumoylation, this might partly explain the low steady-state level of sumoylated proteins at a given time.

It is also possible that the effect of sumoylation persists even after de-sumoylation of the target proteins [17, 20, 42]. For example, sumoylation of some transcription factors was shown to be involved in transcriptional repression by recruiting proteins that repress transcription (detailed explanation below). There are two mechanisms proposed that explains how low levels of sumoylated transcription factors could repress transcription even after de-sumoylation (Figure 1.6) [20]. Sumoylated transcription factors might recruit chromatin remodelling proteins that have repressive activity. This will ensure that the chromatin stays in a repressive state even after SUMO is removed from the transcription factor (Figure 1.6A). Alternatively, sumoylation of a transcription factor initiates the formation of a repressive complex on chromatin and this complex will remain stable even after SUMO is removed from the transcription factor or the regulator need only to be sumoylated for a short period of time during which gene silencing is initiated. Regardless of the small fraction of sumoylated proteins found in cells, the functional outcomes of sumoylation in regulating target proteins are diverse.



Figure 1.6: Methods explaining how sumoylation can have a prolonged effect on transcriptional repression even after de-sumoylation of the transcription factor. (A) Sumoylated transcription factors might recruit chromatin remodelling proteins that have repressive activity, such as deacetylation. This will ensure that the chromatin stays in a repressive state even after SUMO is removed from the transcription factor. (B) Sumoylation of a transcription factor initiates the formation of a repressive complex on chromatin and this complex will remain stable even after SUMO is removed from the transcription factor. TF: transcription factor. Figure adapted from [20].

1.2.7 SUMO and stress response

Although only a small fraction of targeted proteins are sumoylated at a given time, overall sumoylation levels are altered during stress conditions. Steady-state sumoylation levels are heavily elevated during stress conditions, and this scenario is called the SUMO stress response (SSR) [43]. SSR is common in mammalian, yeast and plant cells and is observed during several endogenous or environmental stress conditions such as DNA damage, osmotic stress, oxidative stress, hypoxia, and heat shock [12, 43-50]. In yeasts, the kinetics of SSR depends on the concentration and the type of the stressors [44]. For example, during severe hyperosmotic stress (1 M NaCl, 1 M KCl, or 1 M sorbitol) and oxidative stress (100 mM H₂O₂), the increase in sumoylation was noted within 2 min of introducing the stressors. In the presence of 10% ethanol, SSR was noted within 10-15 min of introducing the ethanol stress. SSR during severe osmotic only lasts about 10-45 min, but it lasts about 3 hours during severe oxidative and ethanol stress [44]. Similarly, in mammalian cells, elevated sumoylation was observed within 5 min of heat shock and lasted about 2 hours [45].

Many proteins are not detectably sumoylated during normal growth but display elevated sumoylation levels after exposure to stress. For example, in a yeast mass spectrometry study, H2B (a histone component), Bir (involved in kinetochore function), Sod1 and Tsa1 (antioxidant enzymes), proteins that are usually not modified by SUMO during normal growth, were found to be sumoylated during oxidative stress [46]. Similarly, in Hcr1 (related to translation), Adh1 (function in metabolism) and Bob3 (chromatin related), sumoylation was only observed during ethanol stress [46]. Moreover, an interesting observation in mammals was that during normal growth conditions, SUMO substrates were mostly conjugated by SUMO1, leaving a heavy abundance of free SUMO2/3. However, when cells were exposed to stress conditions, more

SUMO conjugations were observed with SUMO2/3, depleting the levels of free SUMO2/3, thus signifying its functional importance in SSR [47]. For example, during heat shock, 766 proteins were identified to be sumoylated by SUMO2 and in oxygen/glucose-deprivation-induced cells, 188 SUMO-3 substrates were identified [43, 45, 48].

There have been a few studies that examined mechanisms responsible for the SSR in cells. Among proteins that are sensitive to heat shock, it was observed that the activity of all SENPs (except SENP6), mammalian SUMO proteases, are heat-sensitive and inactive during heat shock. Therefore, the inactivation of SENP causes a decrease in de-sumoylation which explains the increased sumoylation observed during heat shock [49]. Similarly, severe oxidative stress inactivates SENP1 by forming a disulfide bond between two SENP1 molecules thereby interfering with the de-sumoylation pathway [43]. Related yeast studies suggest that the global increase in transcription during stress conditions is what causes the increase in sumoylated proteins during the SSR [44]. Since transcription related proteins are known to be heavily modified by SUMO (explained below), this study suggests that ongoing transcription and SSR are related. In fact, this study also demonstrated that SSR is not regulated by translation or proteasome-dependent degradation [44]. Moreover, SUMO conjugation during SSR is dependent on the Siz1 SUMO E3 ligase and the timely reversal of SSR is dependent on the SUMO-specific protease Ulp2 in yeast [44].

1.3 Biological functions of SUMO

Sumoylation is important for many cellular processes throughout the cell. Although early studies regarding SUMO functions focused more on nuclear processes, there are also many non-nuclear proteins that are modified by SUMO. The emerging evidence suggests that defects related to sumoylation have been observed in many disorders including cancer, Huntington's and Alzheimer's diseases [12].

1.3.1 Non-nuclear sumoylation

Sumoylated proteins are found on the plasma membrane, endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria where they serve multiple functions in protein signaling, cytoskeletal organization, channel activity, receptor function, exocytosis, autophagy, mitochondrial dynamics and others [20, 51]. In fact, the first SUMO target discovered, Ran1GAP, is sumoylated in cytoplasmic filaments of the nuclear pore complex [11].

At the plasma membrane, SUMO targets receptors and plasma channels to exert its function. GluR6, a subunit of the kainate receptor, is sumoylated when induced by kainite to facilitate kainite-induced endocytosis [52]. In contrast, sumoylation of TRPM4, a cation channel, impairs its endocytosis function [53]. Sumoylation of RIM1 α functions in synaptic vesicle exocytosis, causing clustering of calcium channels and enhancing the Ca2+ influx necessary for exocytosis [54]. In addition, sumoylation regulates the function of cytoskeletal proteins. For example, SUMO ligase PIAS3, sumoylates Rac1 a protein that regulates the actin cytoskeleton [55]. Rac1 sumoylation has been reported to function in Rac1 activation, cell migration, and lamellipodia formation in response to hepatocyte growth factor.

The first protein found to be sumoylated at the endoplasmic reticular membrane was proteintyrosine phosphatase-1B (PTP1B). PTP1B negatively regulates growth-factor signaling by binding to receptor tyrosine kinases. SUMO E3 ligase-mediated sumoylation of PTP1B impairs its activity by reducing its protein stability [56]. SUMO has also been discovered to exert its functions in the mitochondria. Mitochondrial fission and fusion are balanced by the Drp1 protein and it is subjected to sumoylation by SUMO1, which causes mitochondrial fission [57]. Overexpression of SENP5 SUMO protease induces de-sumoylation of Drp1, which causes mitochondrial fusion [58]. However, the exact mechanism of how SUMO regulates this function is yet to be studied.

1.3.2 Nuclear sumoylation

The majority of SUMO related studies have focused on nuclear targets, and the sumoylated proteins identified in subnuclear structures such as polycomb group (PcG) bodies, PML nuclear bodies, and nucleoli, were found to play multiple roles in the DNA damage response (DDR), chromatin organization, and transcription [31]. DNA is constantly challenged by potential damage and the DDR is a critical mechanism in maintaining genomic integrity. Multiple proteins are sumoylated in the DDR pathway. For example, sumoylation of tumor suppressor PTEN is important for its nuclear retention and helps to function in homologous recombination [59]. Sumoylation of Rad52 enhances its stability by protecting it from ubiquitin mediated degradation [60]. Rad52 binds to the single stranded DNA and processes the ends of the DNA molecules, which can then be bound by Rad51. In addition to increasing its stability, sumoylation promotes Rad52 disassociation from DNA, thereby giving space for Rad51 to function [61]. A similar function was observed for Rad52 sumoylation in yeast [62]. Sumoylation of MDC1 is responsible for recruitment and complex formation of other proteins involved in the DDR, such as RNF4, RNF8-

UBC13, ABRA1 and BRCA1 [63]. In fact, BRCA1 is also subjected to sumoylation and this modification enhances its ubiquitin ligase activity 10-20 fold [64].

Along with DDR, telomere length must be maintained for proper genomic integrity. Yeast strains defective in SUMO, Ubc9, or SUMO E3 ligases demonstrated abnormal elongation of their telomeres [65, 66]. Supporting this, lengthened telomeres ware also observed in strains expressing non-sumoylatable Cdc3, an inhibitor of telomerase. However, in the presence of a Cdc3-SUMO fusion, telomere size was shortened, suggesting an inhibitory role for sumoylation in regulating telomere size [66]. Sumoylation also functions in maintaining heterochromatin structure. For example, during interphase, sumoylation of the heterochromatin factor HP1 α is important for its localization into pericentric domains, and for the interactions with major α -satellite RNA transcripts, to promote heterochromatin formation in the centromere [67, 68].

1.4 Sumoylation and transcription

Large numbers of sumoylated proteins identified using proteomics and mass spectrometry are involved in transcription [1-3, 11-15]. This includes RNA polymerase subunits, transcription factors, coactivators, corepressors, histones, chromatin remodeling complexes, and components of PML NBs. Among these proteins, transcription factors represent the largest classes of SUMO substrates [69]. Furthermore, SUMO signals were observed on promoters of transcriptionally active genes such as constitutive and inducible genes, emphasizing the functional importance of SUMO in active transcription [70].

1.4.1 Transcriptional repression by SUMO

Sumovation of proteins involved in transcription is most often associated with transcriptional repression. Indeed, transcription of inducible genes such as STL1 (osmostress-induced gene) and ARG1 (amino acid starvation-induced gene) was elevated when the function of Ubc9 was impaired [70]. Different mechanisms are used by SUMO to repress transcription. Among these mechanisms, in some cases, SUMO targets proteins involved in transcriptional activation for degradation. RNA polymerase (RNAP) III is involved in the expression of tRNAs, and one of its subunits, Rpc53, is targeted for sumoylation by the Siz1 E3 SUMO ligase. Sumoylated Rpc53 then triggers ubiquitination of Rpc160, the catalytic subunit of RNAPIII, followed by its degradation [71]. Similarly, transcription factors PEA3, Sp1 and c-Myc are degraded by the SUMO-ubiquitinproteasome degradation pathway [72-74]. In another mechanism, SUMO enhances the activity of corepressors or their recruitment to chromatin. For example, in yeast, sumoylation of corepressor Tup1, part of Tup1-Cyc8 corepressor complex, was shown to be involved in transcriptional deactivation by promoting the removal of sumovlated transcription factor Gcn4 from DNA [75]. In mammals, sumovaliation of the transcription factor PPAR α creates a docking site for the nuclear receptor co-repressor NCoR, which represses transcription of PPAR α -target genes [76].

Moreover, sumoylation of some transcription factors enhances their interaction with chromatin remodelling complexes. For example, sumoylation of transcription factors NFAT, Elk-1 and MafG enhanced their interaction with histone deacetylases (HDACs) [77-79]. This interaction induces deacetylation of histones followed by DNA condensation, and as a consequence, expression of target genes is suppressed. In fact, sumoylation of histone H4 also recruits HDACs and heterochromatin protein 1, in mammals [80]. Similarly, in yeast, all four core histones were found
to be sumoylated to repress transcription [81]. Interestingly, HDACs themselves have been shown to be sumoylated. HDAC1 is sumoylated by SUMO1 and this modification was shown to enhance its repressor activity [82]. Sumoylation is also known to be involved in the promoter clearance of some transcription factors such as yeast Gcn4 and mammalian c-Fos [83, 84]. Sumoylation of Gcn4 aids in its removal from the promoters of target genes through Srb10 phosphorylationmediated degradation of sumoylated Gcn4 [83]. In contrast, the mechanism for c-Fos promoter clearance by its sumoylation remains to be studied [84].

1.4.2 Transcriptional activation by SUMO

Interestingly, emerging recent evidences suggests positive roles for sumoylation in regulating transcription. A genome-wide study suggested that SUMO signals were heavily enriched on tRNA genes and ribosomal protein genes [85]. This study demonstrated that SUMO at these genes is involved in transcriptional activation. Specifically, sumoylation of Rap1 transcription factor at these genes was found to promote the recruitment of general transcription factor TFIID to induce transcription of ribosomal protein genes [85]. In addition, in some cases, SUMO modification was shown to interfere with the corepressor function, or to block the interaction between transcription factors and co-repressors. For example, during hyperosmotic stress, the Cyc8 corepressor is sumoylated to form Tup1-Cyc8 inclusions, which allows the expression of genes that are important for hyperosmotic stress related adaptation [86]. In mammals, ErbB2 induces sumoylation of transcription factor MFZ1. Sumoylated MFZ1 is then activated by subsequent phosphorylation which assists in the dissociation of MFZI with its corepressors such as CTCF [87].

Furthermore, SUMO can enhance the interaction between transcription factors and DNA. For example, sumoylation of transcription factors CREB1 and Pax6 enhances their association with

DNA to induce transcription [88, 89]. Sumoylation also enhances the stability of proteins by preventing their ubiquitination-mediated degradation. For example, sumoylation competes with ubiquitin for the Lys residues on transcription factors such as delta-lactoferrin and ZHX1, to prevent ubiquitination [90, 91]. Moreover, some HDACs are sumoylated under certain conditions, which results in a loss of deacetylation functions and an increases in target gene expression. For example, HDAC2 sumoylation by SUMO1 is induced in the presence of cigarette smoke extract, which inhibits the HDAC2 activity and enhances the expression of the IL-8 gene [92].

1.5 Transcription

1.5.1 DNA cis-regulatory elements

The expression of protein coding genes requires the synthesis of mRNA in a process called transcription. Transcription involves the binding of transcription related proteins to DNA cis-regulatory sequences in a region usually upstream of the transcription start site (TSS) [93-99]. In yeast, the cis-regulatory sequence includes the core promoter, the upstream activator sequence (UAS), and potential silencer sequences [93] (Figure 1.7A). The yeast core promoter is located 20-30 base pairs upstream of TSS and may contain the TATA box element, which mostly differs from the consensus, TATAAA, by up to 2 bases [95].

Higher eukaryotic cis-regulatory sequences are more complex compared to the simple yeast system. Mammalian cis-regulatory sequences can include, in addition to the core promoter, multiple enhancer regions, silencers and insulators (Figure 1.7B). Enhancers can be situated upstream or downstream of the core promoter of the genes they regulate, and can even be found within introns [99]. The mammalian core promoter itself display significant complexity, with multiple sub-regulatory regions: (i) the TATA box that is located upstream of the TSS; (ii) the

initiator (INR) element that is located at, or immediately adjacent to, the TSS; (iii) the TFIIB recognition element (BRE) that is located 35 bp upstream of TSS; and (iv) the downstream promoter element (DPE) that is located 30 bp downstream of the TSS [96, 97].

Yeast UAS and the mammalian enhancers contain multiple gene-specific transcription factor recognition sites or binding sites through which various combinations of transcription factors are recruited to activate transcription [98, 99]. In contrast, silencers function to repress transcription, while insulators interfere with the function of both enhancers and silencers [98]. Insulators are further categorized as enhancer blockers, when the insulator blocks the enhancer function, and barriers, when the silencer function is blocked [98].



Figure 1.7: Schematic representation of the cis-regulatory sequences involved in transcription. (A) Yeast cis-regulatory sequences include a simple core promoter (e.g. TATA box), upstream activator sequence (UAS) and silencer element. (B) Complex eukaryotic promoter elements can include the TATA box (TATA), Initiator sequences (INR), and downstream promoter elements (DPE). In addition, multiple enhancer modules are found interspersed with silencer and insulator elements. Figure adapted from [99].

1.5.2 Transcription overview

Regulatory signals from gene-specific transcription factors converge at the core promoter to activate transcription [93] (Figure 1.8). Prior to initiation of transcription, RNA polymerase (RNAP) II and general transcription factors (GTFs: TFIID, TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIIE, TFIIF, and TFIIH) assemble on promoter regions to form a pre-initiation complex (PIC) [93, 97-101] (Figure 1.8A). Formation of the PIC requires the concerted action of GTFs beginning with the binding of TFIID to the promoter. TFIID contains TATA-binding protein (TBP) and TBP-associated factors (TAFs), and the binding of TBP to the TATA element on the promoter induces a 90 degree bend in the DNA [97-100]. Not all core human and yeast promoter regions contain a TATA box. In fact only about 10% of the yeast promoters contain TATA [93]. However, TBP can associate with variants of TATA-like promoter regions [93, 100]. In mammals, TAF1 and TAF2 recognize the INR region and TAF6 and TAF9 recognize DPE region within the core promoter [97].

TFIIA and TFIIB are then recruited to stabilize the TBP-DNA complex. In mammals, TFIIB binds to the BRE region in the core promoter [97]. Next, an RNAPII-TFIIF complex binds to form the core PIC. TFIIF plays a role in TSS selection and prevents non-specific interaction of Pol II with DNA [100]. Finally, the binding of TFIIE and TFIIH completes formation of the PIC. TFIIE functions as a bridge between RNAPII and TFIIH [101]. In the presence of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), TFIIH uses its DNA-dependent ATPase activity to melt the DNA to make a 'transcription bubble' and eventually form the open promoter complex (Figure 1.8B) [100]. Next, nucleoside triphosphates (NTPs) are utilized to form the nascent RNA. Finally, GTFs (referred to as initiation factors in Figure 1.8B) dissociate from the promoter as RNAP II clears the promoter and associates with elongation factors during the elongation phase of transcription [100-102].



Figure 1.8: Schematic representation of the formation of transcription machinery. (A) The step-wise process of pre-initiation complex (PIC) formation is initiated by the recruitment of TFIID subunits, TATA box-binding protein (TBP) and TBP-associated factors (TAFs), to the unbound promoter. Then, TFIIB and TFIIA are recruited to stabilize TBP-DNA complex. Then, the core PIC is formed after the association of Pol II-TFIIF complex. Subsequent binding of TFIIE and TFIIH completes the formation of PIC. (B) In the presence of ATP, DNA is opened by TFIIH to form a 'transcription bubble' to initiate transcription. After the initiation of nascent RNA synthesis, initiation factors dissociate to enable the formation of an elongation complex. NTP, nucleoside triphosphate. Figure adapted from [100].

1.6 Transcription factors

Apart from the general transcription factors (mentioned above), there are multiple sequencespecific transcription factors (TFs) that bind to cis-regulatory sequences in DNA to control the expression of target genes [93, 103, 104]. By regulating gene expression they play an important function in cellular processes, including cell proliferation and differentiation, stress response and homeostasis. Generally, TFs contain a DNA-binding domain (DBD), effector domain (such as an activation or a repression domain), a nuclear localization sequence (NLS), and a regulatory domain [93].

TFs are referred to as transcriptional activators or transcriptional repressors depending on the presence of an activation domain or a repression domain, respectively [93]. In addition to having these effector domains, transcription factors interact with different cofactors (coactivators and corepressors) to decide the transcriptional outcome [93]. Some TFs including yeast TFs Ash1 and Sko1, are able to both activate and repress transcription, depending on the promoter that is targeted, cofactor association, and growth conditions [93, 103, 104]. TFs can be classified based on their binding sequence motifs and characterization of their DNA-binding domains (DBDs) [93, 103].

1.6.1 Transcription Factor binding motifs and DNA binding specificity

A single TF can recognize multiple DNA binding site sequences with varying binding affinity, and these sequences are collectively referred to as binding motifs [93]. Multiple methods are used to find DNA binding motifs for TFs, including genome-wide studies such as chromatin immunoprecipitation followed by next-generation sequencing (ChIP-Seq) [93, 103-105]. Interestingly, a single type of binding motif sequence can be found hundreds of times in a genome, but not all the sites will be occupied by the cognate TFs at a given time [105]. Some TFs, such as

Forkhead and C2H2-zf, can bind multiple binding motifs [104]. Therefore, apart from the binding motifs themselves, there are other factors that determine the DNA binding specificity of TFs. For example, an interaction between two TFs can be necessary to facilitate binding to a specific sequence in what is referred to as cooperative binding. As mentioned below, some families of TFs bind to DNA as partners, either as homodimers or heterodimers, and these cooperative bindings confer DNA binding specificity [103, 104, 106]. TF binding specificity can be determined by non-DNA binding cofactors and their recruitment motifs [104, 107]. Although non-DNA binding cofactors cannot directly contact DNA, in some cases, such recruitment motifs are required for their recruitment to target genes. For example, RYAAT, the recruitment motif for cofactors Met28 and Met4, which is situated near TF Cbf1 binding sites, is required for the association of the Met4–Met28–Cbf1 regulatory complex to target genes [107].

Moreover, DNA shape or DNA flexibility can guide TF-DNA interactions [103, 105]. Using propeller twist, a technique used to explain DNA flexibility based on it GC content, researchers found that TFs belonging to the homeodomain POU and Forkhead families prefer sequences with an enhanced negative propeller twist (more GC content), while TFs that belong to the C2H2 and ETS families prefer binding to sequences with a less negative propeller twist (more AT content) [105]. In addition, binding of one TF can influence the shape of the DNA in a manner that promotes the binding of a second TF. For example, binding of IFN β enhanceosome facilitates the binding of eight other transcription factors and three non-binding coactivators [103].

1.6.2 Characterization of transcription factors based on DBD

Whereas TFs bind to their DNA binding motifs through DBDs, some, such as Swi6 and Met4, which do not contain a DBD, associate with DNA through a DNA binding partner [93]. For TFs

that do bind to the DNA directly, there are different types of DBDs. In fact, TFs can be grouped into different classes based on the type of DBD that they contain. Zinc finger (ZF), Homeodomain, basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH), basic leucine zipper (bZIP), and nuclear hormone receptor (NHR) are some examples [93, 103, 104].

1.7 bZIP transcription factors

Among the different types of TFs discovered, the basic leucine-zipper (bZIP) proteins form a large multifunctional family, which is conserved in all eukaryotes. There are about 53 bZIP proteins identified in humans and 14 bZIP proteins in yeast [108, 109, 112]. bZIP TFs contain a highly conserved 60-80 amino acid bZIP domain, consisting of a basic region, responsible for DNA binding, followed by a leucine zipper coiled-coil motif [108, 110]. bZIP dimers form a chopsticks-like structure by dimerization through their leucine-zipper segments (Figure 1.9A). bZIP proteins can either form homodimers or heterodimers. As dimers, they regulate transcription by binding short DNA target sites, often in the form of 8-base pair palindromes [110]. There are different groups of families within bZIP proteins whose members have similarity in their protein sequences and DNA binding preferences. This includes activator protein-1 (AP-1), activating Transcription Factor (ATF), cAMP Response Element-Binding Protein (CREB) and CCAAT-enhancer binding protein (CEBP). Members within these groups can bind together to form heterodimers [108-110].

Among these different groups of families, ATF/CREB members have been extensively studied and are used as models to understand transcription factor-DNA interaction. Although ATF and CREB proteins were discovered individually, these two families bind to identical sequences in DNA, and are usually referred to as the ATF/CREB family. They bind to the cAMP responsive element (CRE), TGACGTCA, in DNA [11]. There are multiple subfamilies in the ATF/CREB family that function in a variety of cellular process during non-stress and stress conditions.

In yeast, transcription factors belonging to ATF/CREB family are Aca1, Cst6 (also known as Aca2), Sko1 (also known as Acr1), and Hac1 [112]. These transcription factors share some similarities and differences in their structures as illustrated in Figure 1.9B. All four proteins are highly similar in their basic domain, and they all contain a Lys residue within the basic region, at a position that is conserved with a Lys in ATF/CREB, but not in AP-1 [112]. Among these proteins, Aca1 and Cst6 share a stretch of an 80 amino acid region (known as Aca-specific region), which is not present in the other two proteins. Although these proteins belongs to the same group, they have distinct biological functions and targets genes as described below for Sko1 and Cst6.





Figure 1.9: bZIP transcription factor structures and comparisons. (A) Structure of bZIP transcription factor. Yeast Gcn4 bZIP domain structure is shown, as obtained from the protein data bank (PDB ID: 2DGC). (B) Schematic structural comparison between yeast ATF/CREB bZIP transcription factors. bZIP domains (striped and shaded boxes) and the Aca-specific region (hatched boxes) are indicated. Conserved residues in the basic region are bolded and boxed. Figures adapted from [93] and [112], respectively.

1.7.1 Suppressor of Kinase Overexpression 1 (Sko1)

Sko1, initially identified as ATF/CREB repressor 1 (Acr1), is constitutively expressed and composed of 647 amino acids [113, 114]. It belongs to the ATF/CREB family due to the fact that its bZIP domain is highly similar to the bZIP domains of mammalian TFs CREB and ATF2, although the Sko1 bZIP domain is less similar to the bZIP domains of yeast AP-1 TFs Gcn4 and Yap1 [113]. Using this domain, Sko1 binds as a homodimer to the CRE region in its target genes [114]. It is not required for mitotic growth, mating, sporulation, spore germination, or filamentous growth [113]. However, Sko1 is associated with promoters of genes involved in glycolysis, transmembrane transporters, transcription regulators and stress response [113-121]. In particular, Sko1 is the main TF that regulates the expression of osmotic and oxidative stress response genes, including the expression of genes that encode proteins that directly relieve osmotic and oxidative stress [114, 117].

Sko1 plays a unique bi-functional role in transcription: during normal growth, it represses the transcription of osmotic and oxidative stress-inducible genes and upon stress, it activates the transcription of these same defense genes (Figure 1.10) [114-116]. Its transcriptional repressor function is dependent on the recruitment of Tup1-Cyc8 corepressor complexes to its target promoters (Figure 1.10A) [114-116]. Tup1 binds directly to the N-terminus of Sko1 to induce the repressor function [114, 118]. The switch from being a repressor to an activator during osmotic stress relies specifically on the phosphorylation of the Hog1 MAP kinases and the Hog1-dependent recruitment of the coactivator SAGA, SWI/SNF nucleosome remodeling complexes and RNAPII to induce the transcription of target genes (Figure 1.10B) [116-120]. Studies have shown that the

interaction between Sko1 and Tup1-Cyc8 corepressor complexes is unaffected in the presence of Hog1 during osmotic stress [115, 116]. In fact, ChIP experiments on Sko1 target genes, such as *GRE2* and *AHP1*, have shown that the recruitment of Ada2, a subunit of the SAGA complex, and Swi2, subunit of SWI/SNF complex, are reduced in the absence of Tup1 indicating the importance of Tup1 function during osmotic stress [116]. In addition to the phosphorylation by Hog1, Sko1 is phosphorylated by the PKA kinase near its bZIP domain [115, 118]. PKA phosphorylation is important for the nuclear localization of Sko1, for enhancing the repression activity of Sko1 during normal growth, and for slightly enhancing the affinity between Sko1 and the CRE element [118].

Previous studies have shown that the amount of Sko1 occupied on the promoter region varies depending on the target promoter and growth conditions [119, 121]. To date, there are four different Sko1 DNA binding patterns that have been reported during osmotic stress: (i) constant binding at all time points during osmotic stress and during normal growth conditions; (ii) rapid binding during osmotic stress, when Sko1 binding reached its maximum after 15 min; (iii) slow and gradual binding of Sko1, observed after 5 min of osmotic stress, when the maximum occupancy level was reached after 30 min; and (iv) transient binding with only a minor increase in Sko1 occupancy after osmotic stress compared to normal growth. Along with the osmotic stress condition-dependent Sko1 occupancy, the binding of other proteins, such as other TFs, on Sko1 target promoters also determines the binding pattern of Sko1 [119, 121]. For example, TFs Yap4 and Yap6 are bound on promoters where Sko1 is constantly bound. In addition, some of the promoters where Sko1 occupancy reaches maximum after 30 min of osmotic stress were also bound by the TF Smp1. Importantly, Sko1 is at the top of the transcription network and it associates with many other targets including Msn2, Msn4, Yap4, and Yap6 during normal growth and

osmotic stress conditions to regulate gene expression, which emphasizes its importance in yeast cells [121].



Figure 1.10: Sko1 is a bifunctional transcription factor. (A) During non-stress conditions, it functions as a transcriptional repressor by recruiting Tup1 and Cyc8 co-repressor complexes to the target promoters. (B) However, during hyperosmotic stress, Sko1 functions as a transcriptional activator by interacting with the Hog1-MAP kinase. Hog1 phosphorylates Sko1 and recruits co-activator SAGA, the SWI/SNF nucleosome remodeling complexes and RNAPII to induce transcription of target genes. CRE: cAMP response element, P: Phosphate group.

1.7.2 Chromosome stability 6 (Cst6)

Cst6, also known as ATF/CREB activator 2 (Aca2), functions as a transcriptional activator and is composed of 587 amino acids. Similar to Sko1, it recognises and binds to the CRE-like promoter sequence [112]. Cst6 binds to DNA as a homodimer or a heterodimer with the structurally similar bZIP transcription factor Aca1 [112]. Interestingly, a recent study showed that the Cst6 binding site has an additional conserved guanine nucleotide (5'-<u>G</u>TGACGT-3') at the 5' end of the consensus CRE motif, indicating possible different preferences of DNA binding between Cst6 and other bZIP transcription factors [122].

Genome-wide and phenotypic studies have revealed multiple functions for Cst6 including transcription, cellular respiration, gluconeogenesis, stress response, and pseudohyphal growth [122]. Cst6 is essential for survival during ethanol stress and has roles in the utilization of carbon sources such as glycerol, ethanol, and raffinose [112, 122]. *CST6* deleted yeast cells show poor growth or no growth when faced with ethanol stress or when ethanol was used a sole carbon source. This is because, in the presence of ethanol, yeast fermentation is affected and the production of CO₂ is slow. During this growth condition, Cst6 activates *NCE103*, a gene that encodes a carbonic anhydrase, to convert CO₂ to HCO₃⁻, a reaction necessary for yeast cell survival. Under elevated CO₂ levels, Cst6 is phosphorylated by Sch9 kinase at serine 266 to repress *NCE103* activation [123].

In addition, Cst6 regulates the expression of oxidative and heat shock stress induced genes [112, 124, 125]. In fact, a previous study has suggested that the derepression of *GRE2*, an osmotic and oxidative stress-induced gene, in the absence of Sko1 depends on the function of Cst6 and Aca1 [115]. Phosphorylation of Cst6 at Ser-399 and Thr-401 is induced by oleate and mutation at these

sites increased the expression of β -oxidation genes [126]. In addition, a *CST6* deletion mutant showed poor ability to maintain 2 μ m plasmids, while its overexpression resulted in chromosome instability [127]. Although Cst6 occupancy was identified on promoters of genes with multiple functional outcomes, Cst6 related studies in budding yeast are very limited.

1.8 Rationale and objectives of this study

Sumoylation is a key regulatory protein modification and deregulation of sumoylation is implicated in various pathological disorders such as, cancer, neurodegenerative diseases and heart diseases [12]. There are many sumoylated targets identified to date that suggest that sumoylation plays a vital role in many cellular processes. Specifically, proteins involved in transcription are one of the largest classes of SUMO substrates [1-3, 11-15]. In fact, proteomic studies have identified multiple sumoylated proteins from the transcription machinery including transcription factors, RNAPII, transcriptional co-regulators and a variety of chromatin regulatory factors [1-3, 11-15]. Among these, sequence specific DNA-binding TFs represent the largest group of SUMO conjugates [69]. Previous work showed that SUMO accumulates on transcriptionally active genes, including constitutive genes and activated inducible genes [70]. In addition, the recruitment of Ubc9, the SUMO E2 conjugating enzyme, was observed on promoters of inducible genes. However, the promoters of repressed or un-induced genes did not show an accumulation of either SUMO or Ubc9 [70]. These findings indicates that sumoylation functions in regulating active transcription: to either repress or to activate the target gene expression.

Numerous studies have been carried out to determine the role sumoylation plays in regulating different TFs. The majority of previous studies suggested that transcription factor sumoylation was involved in transcriptional repression or deactivation [13, 69]. This is mostly achieved by

recruiting various repressor complexes to chromatin, by interfering with protein modifications that promote transcription, or by facilitating promoter clearance of transcription factors. However, some recent discoveries also suggest that transcription factor sumoylation is involved in transcriptional activation by enhancing transcription factor binding to target promoters [13, 69, 85].

Based on the previous findings, we know that the effects of sumoylation vary with different target TFs. Regardless of these findings, it is still not clear whether sumoylation has a general role in regulating TFs. In fact, there have been more TFs that were identified to be potential SUMO substrates, which still need to be investigated in order to shed more light on sumoylation functions. In addition, majority of earlier studies were conducted in normal growth conditions. However, a drastic accumulation of sumoylated proteins were observed during stress conditions, as explained by the SUMO stress response [46]. Therefore, it is important to study whether the function of sumoylated TFs changes from a normal growth condition to a stress condition.

A prior work in our lab showed that the bZIP TF Gcn4 is sumoylated during amino acid starvation, and this modification aids in its removal from the promoters of target genes through Srb10 phosphorylation-mediated degradation of sumoylated Gcn4 [83]. To extend the investigation on whether sumoylation play a general role in regulating TF association with chromatin, my PhD dissertation focused on determining roles for sumoylation in regulating the function of two other yeast (*S. cerevisiae*) gene-specific bZIP TFs, Sko1 and Cst6. The experiments were conducted during normal growth conditions and stress conditions, to elucidate more functions for SUMO. Large scale proteomic studies discovered Sko1 and Cst6 as potential SUMO targets and the first step of these projects was to validate sumoylation of both these proteins [128-130]. Once sumoylation was confirmed, changes in sumoylation under different stress conditions were tested to determine which stress condition to use for additional studies. Then, we identified the SUMOsite(s) on these two TFs to generate mutants to block sumoylation. Then, the normal and nonsumoylateable forms of these two TFs were used in a variety of experiments, such as growth analysis/cell fitness, protein stability, expression of target genes, and ChIP, to explicitly determine whether sumoylation affects the association of Sko1 and Cst6 with chromatin.

CHAPTER 2

SUMOYLATION OF DNA-BOUND TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR SKO1 PREVENTS ITS ASSOCIATION WITH NONTARGET PROMOTERS

Veroni S. Sri Theivakadadcham¹, Benjamin G. Bergey¹, Emanuel Rosonina¹

Published in: PLOS Genetics. 2019 Feb 14;15(2):e1007991. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1007991

¹Department of Biology, York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Author Contributions

Project planning and experimental design: V.S.S and E.R.

Experiments and data acquisition: V.S.S. performed all experiments shown; B.G.B. assisted with the ChIP-seq experiments.

Data analysis: Data was analyzed by V.S.S. with assistance from E.R. Bioinformatics analyses were performed by E.R. and B.G.B.

Writing – original draft: V.S.S. and E.R.

Writing – review and editing: V.S.S., B.G.B., E.R.

2.1 ABSTRACT

Sequence-specific transcription factors (TFs) represent one of the largest groups of proteins that is targeted for SUMO post-translational modification, in both yeast and humans. SUMO modification can have diverse effects, but recent studies showed that sumoylation reduces the interaction of multiple TFs with DNA in living cells. Whether this relates to a general role for sumoylation in TF binding site selection, however, has not been fully explored because few genome-wide studies aimed at studying such a role have been reported. To address this, we used genome-wide analysis to examine how sumoylation regulates Sko1, a yeast bZIP TF with hundreds of known binding sites. We find that Sko1 is sumoylated at Lys 567 and, although many of its targets are osmoresponse genes, the level of Sko1 sumoylation is not stress-regulated and the modification does not depend or impinge on its phosphorylation by the osmostress kinase Hog1. We show that Sko1 mutants that cannot bind DNA are not sumoylated, but attaching a heterologous DNA binding domain restores the modification, implicating DNA binding as a major determinant for Sko1 sumoylation. Genome-wide chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP-seq) analysis shows that a sumoylation-deficient Sko1 mutant displays increased occupancy levels at its numerous binding sites, which inhibits the recruitment of the Hog1 kinase to some induced osmostress genes. This strongly supports a general role for sumoylation in reducing the association of TFs with chromatin. Extending this result, remarkably, sumoylation-deficient Sko1 binds numerous additional promoters that are not normally regulated by Sko1 but contain sequences that resemble the Sko1 binding motif. Our study points to an important role for sumoylation in modulating the interaction of a DNA-bound TF with chromatin to increase the specificity of TF-DNA interactions.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Sumovation is an essential eukaryotic post-translational modification that functions in many, predominantly nuclear, cellular processes, such as DNA repair and transcription, by regulating target protein localization, stability, or interactions with other proteins or with chromatin [1-5]. The modification involves the covalent attachment of a ~12-kDa SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier) peptide to specific lysine residues on substrate proteins through a three-enzyme cascade that is analogous to ubiquitination [1]. In contrast to ubiquitination, however, the sole SUMO E2 conjugating enzyme Ubc9 can recognize its substrates via the consensus sequence Ψ KxD/E, where Ψ is a hydrophobic residue, K is the modified lysine and x is any amino acid [6]. Although thousands of proteins have been identified as potential SUMO targets, modification levels of individual proteins are typically low and can be controlled by the desumoylating action of SUMOspecific isopeptidases (SUMO proteases), including the SENP family in mammals, and Ulp1 and Ulp2 in budding yeast [3,7,8]. On a global level, cellular sumoylation can be coordinately regulated, which is exemplified by the SUMO stress response, a rapid increase in overall SUMO conjugation that is observed in both yeast and mammalian cells in response to various stress conditions, including temperature, oxidative, and osmotic stress [4, 9-12].

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analyses, both genome-wide and on individual genes, have demonstrated that sumoylated proteins are detected specifically at promoter regions of constitutively active and induced genes, suggesting that the modification is important for regulating early steps of transcription [13-17]. Supporting this, proteomics studies have identified subunits of the general transcription factors (GTFs), RNA Polymerase II (RNAP II), and Mediator as SUMO conjugates in yeast, Drosophila, and human cells [18]. Moreover, one of the largest groups of SUMO substrates, with over 300 substrates identified in human SUMOylome analyses,

is sequence/gene-specific transcription factors (TFs) [3, 19]. Numerous studies have characterized the role of sumoylation on individual TFs, and in most cases the modification is associated with a repressive effect on transcription of target genes [5, 19-21]. For example, upon sumoylation, NFAT, Elk-1 and MafG interact with histone deacetylases (HDACs) to condense DNA and restrict access of the transcription machinery, whereas sumoylation of the Forkhead Box TF FoxM1b promotes its cytoplasmic retention and ubiquitin-mediated degradation, thereby limiting its access to target genes [22-25]. Why a transcriptionally repressive mark like SUMO is enriched at promoter regions of transcriptionally active genes remains unknown.

Providing a possible explanation, studies on two basic leucine zipper (bZIP) motif-containing TFs, yeast Gcn4 and human FOS (c-Fos), showed that promoter-associated sumoylation is important for regulating their occupancy levels [26-28]. DNA-bound Gcn4 and FOS are sumoylated during active transcription, and the modification promotes their clearance from DNA. This limits the association of these TFs with their target genes once they are activated, which likely serves to prevent excessive gene expression. Consistent with this, ChIP studies have shown that sumoylation modulates the chromatin occupancy of multiple other TFs, including human TFs FOXA1, MITF, c-Maf, and the androgen and glucocorticoid nuclear receptors [29-33]. How sumovlation affects TF occupancy is not always known, but in some cases SUMO modifications directly affect DNA binding. For example, modification of SP1, specifically by the SUMO2 isoform, reduces its DNA binding activity in an in vitro assay [34]. These studies have led to speculation that sumoylation has a general role in controlling the interaction of TFs with their target sites on chromatin [19]. This can serve to regulate the expression levels of target genes, but another possible function for SUMO-mediated modulation of TF-chromatin interactions is in binding site selection. Multiple factors, in addition to DNA sequence, play a role in determining what genomic sites are recognized

and bound by TFs, including genomic context, DNA modifications, the nature of flanking DNA sequences, and interaction with cofactors [35, 36]. However, it is not known whether sumoylation plays a role in regulating binding site selection for TFs across eukaryotes.

To address this, we examined how sumovlation regulates the bZIP TF Sko1 (Suppressor of Kinase Overexpression-1) from the budding yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Sko1 was identified as a putative SUMO target in multiple proteomics screens, suggesting that its activity or association with chromatin is regulated by sumoylation [37-39]. It was first characterized as a repressor of cAMP response element (CRE)-containing genes, such as HIS3 and ENA1, that are induced after exposure to osmotic stress [40-43]. Repression by Sko1 involves recruitment of the Tup1/Cyc8 corepressor complex, and relief of repression occurs during osmotic stress as a result of phosphorylation by the activated MAP kinase Hog1 [40, 41, 44-47]. In addition to functioning as a repressor, Sko1 was subsequently shown to be involved in the induction of some stress response genes, through the Hog1-dependent recruitment of the SAGA and SWI/SNF nucleosome remodelers to promoter regions bound by Sko1/Tup1/Cyc8 complexes [45, 47, 48]. Genome-wide analyses showed that Sko1 is constitutively associated with >250 gene promoters and that osmotic stress results in a general redistribution of Sko1, with some genomic sites showing stressdependent gain or loss of Sko1, while occupancy at other sites remains unchanged [49-51]. Nonetheless, many Sko1 binding sites are not associated with genes specifically involved in the osmotic stress response, and *skol* Δ cells show no growth defect in high osmolarity medium, suggesting that the TF plays a wider role in gene regulation [45, 49].

Here, we demonstrate that Sko1 is indeed a SUMO target and that the modification functions primarily in preventing Sko1 from associating with nonspecific sites on the genome. We identify

Lys 567 as the major SUMO modification site on the TF and show that Sko1 sumoylation is a constitutive modification whose levels do not significantly change under different growth conditions, including osmotic stress. DNA binding activity is necessary for Sko1 sumoylation in vivo, implying that the modification takes place after Sko1 associates with chromatin. Significantly, our genome-wide analysis shows that a sumoylation-deficient form of Sko1 shows increased occupancy levels at its binding sites and is found at numerous additional promoter regions across the genome, when compared with sumoylatable Sko1. Intriguingly, although the consensus Sko1 binding motif is largely absent from these additional sites, most contain sequences that resemble the motif. Taken together, our results imply that a key function for sumoylation is in controlling the association of a DNA-bound TF with chromatin to increase its binding site specificity.

2.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Yeast strains and plasmid

Yeast strains used in this study are listed in S1 Table. Sko1- and Hog1-tagged strains were epitope tagged using homologous recombination as previously described [69]. Strains with a *SKO1* deletion were generated using a KanMX deletion cassette by homologous recombination. Plasmid Gal4DB-K450E was generated by PCR-based sub-cloning of the *sko1-K450E* coding sequence into vector pGBT9 at the SmaI restriction site. It was then transformed into the HF7c yeast strain, which contains two genomic reporter genes with Gal4 binding sites.

Yeast growth assay ("spot assay")

Yeast cultures were grown overnight in appropriate liquid medium and diluted to an optical density (OD at 595 nm) of 0.2. Then, cells of each strain were spotted side-by-side in five-fold serial dilutions on solid-media plates with or without indicated osmotic stress conditions. Plates were incubated at 30°C and images were taken after the indicated durations.

Preparation of yeast lysates and immunoprecipitation (IP)

Yeast cultures (40–50 mL) were grown in appropriate liquid medium to mid-log phase (OD595 nm of 0.5 to 0.7). Osmotic stress was induced by adding NaCl to a final concentration of 0.4M for the indicated time points. Cells were then harvested by centrifugation at 3000 g for 5 min, followed by a wash with IP buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Nonidet P-40 (NP40), 1X yeast protease inhibitor cocktail (BioShop), 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), and 2.5 mg/mL N-ethylmaleimide (NEM)). Cells were lysed with glass beads in IP buffer containing 0.1 mM dithiothreitol for 30 min at 4°C. The lysed material was isolated from the beads and

centrifuged twice to remove insoluble materials. Samples were either analyzed by immunoblot or used for IP. For IP experiments, an aliquot of yeast lysate was retained as input sample, and the remainder was incubated overnight with anti-HA agarose beads or Protein G agarose with HA antibody at 4°C. IPs were washed three times with ice-cold IP buffer plus 0.1% NP40, and twice with IP buffer alone. Beads were then resuspended and boiled with SDS loading buffer for 3 min, prior to analysis by the indicated immunoblots.

Denatured immunoprecipitation (IP)

Yeast cultures (50 mL) were grown in YPD medium to an OD595 nm of ~0.65. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 3000 g for 5 min and washed with 20% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). Washed cells were then lysed with glass beads in 20% TCA. Lysates were precipitated and washed with 5% TCA and resuspended with modified SDS buffer (60 mM Tris pH 6.7, 5% 2-mercaptoethanol, 1% SDS, few drops of a bromophenol blue solution) prior to boiling for 5 min. Boiled samples were centrifuged at room temperature for 10 min. An aliquot (40 μ L) of the supernatant was retained as input sample and the remainder was diluted with denaturing IP buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% NP40) containing 0.5 mg/mL of bovine serum albumin. Diluted samples were then incubated overnight with anti-HA agarose beads at 4°C. IPs were washed three times with ice-cold denaturing IP buffer. Beads were then resuspended and boiled with SDS loading buffer for 3 min prior to analysis by the indicated immunoblots.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

Yeast cultures (50 mL) were grown in YPD medium and induced by osmotic stress as indicated for IP procedure. Cells were then cross-linked with 1% formaldehyde for 20 min, followed by 5 min of quenching with 282 mM of glycine. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation and washed twice with ice-cold TBS (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 150 mM NaCl), then in ChIP buffer (50 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate and 0.1% SDS). Washed samples were resuspended in ChIP buffer and lysed with glass beads using a mini bead beater. The lysed materials were isolated from glass beads and sonicated to yield an average DNA fragment size of 300 to 500 bp in length. Samples were then centrifuged at 14,000 g for 5 min. To the isolated supernatants, additional NaCl was added to a final concentration of 225 mM. For IP, salt-adjusted supernatants were incubated with 15 µL magnetic Protein G beads (Dynabeads, Thermo Fisher Scientific) prebound with 2 µg rabbit anti-HA (Novus) or mouse anti-MYC (NEB) antibodies. IPs were washed with four different buffers for 4 min in the following order: (1) ChIP buffer with 275 mM NaCl; (2) ChIP buffer with 400 mM NaCl; (3) A buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 0.25MLiCl, 1mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40 and 0.5% sodium deoxycholate; (4) Tris-EDTA buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8 and 1 mM EDTA). Washed beads were then incubated in ChIP elution buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 10 mM EDTA and 1% SDS) for 10 min at 65°C. Bound material was isolated on a magnet, treated with RNase for 30 min at 37°C, then with proteinase K at 42°C for 1 h. To reverse crosslinking, samples were incubated overnight at 65°C. DNA was purified and recovered using GeneJet Gel Extraction Kit (Thermo Fisher) followed by a quantitative PCR using primers listed in S2 Table. Results from qPCR were normalized to an untranscribed region of Chromosome V for Figure 2.2C, then an internal control gene, PMA1, for other ChIP analyses. ChIP experiments were repeated at least three times and the

averages were plotted with the standard deviations shown as error bars. Pair-wise statistical analyses were performed by Student's *t*-test (Figures 2.2C, 2.6A, 2.6D, 2.6E, 2.6F and 2S6), whereas statistical comparison of sets of data in 2S4B and 2S5 Figures were performed by ANOVA. Asterisks indicate a significant difference with *P*-values less than 0.05 for ChIP and RT qPCR analyses, whereas pairs and sets with *P*-values greater than 0.05 are unmarked or marked as "n/s."

Isolation of RNA and reverse transcription (RT)

RNA was isolated as previously reported from 10 mL yeast culture and subjected to DNase treatment [70]. Reverse transcription was performed on 1 μ g of DNA-free-RNA using iScript cDNA synthesis (Bio-Rad) followed by qPCR. mRNA levels were normalized to an internal loading control, 25S rRNA. Primer sequences used for these experiments are listed in S2 Table. Error bar represents the standard deviation of three replicates.

ChIP-seq and analysis

For ChIP-seq analysis, ChIP was performed as described above, but scaled up as appropriate. Namely, culture volumes were 200 mL in rich (YPD) medium, and 6 µg of HA antibody was prebound to 40 µL of Dynabeads. Two replicates of the ChIP-seq experiment described above were performed, with sequencing libraries generated for both IP and input samples for Replicate 1, but only IP samples were sequenced for Replicate 2. Libraries were prepared using the NEBNext Ultra II DNA library prep kit (New England Biolabs), and paired-end sequencing (two times 126 bases) was performed using an Illumina HiSeq 2500 instrument at The Centre for Applied Genomics (TCAG) at the Hospital for Sick Children (Toronto). Raw and processed sequencing data files have been uploaded to the NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) with accession number GSE118655.

For differential binding analysis, which was performed at TCAG, sequencing reads were aligned, and peaks assigned as follows. Sequencing adaptors were trimmed using Trim Galore! (version 0.0.4) running Cutadapt (version 1.10) with the following parameters: quality score cut-off of 25, six nucleotides were removed from 50 ends, Illumina universal adapter sequences were removed, stringency setting of 5, sequences shorter than 40 nt after trimming were discarded, and only pairs of reads were retained. Trimmed forward and reverse reads were then aligned to the sacCer3 reference genome using Bowtie2 (version 2.3.2) [71]. Peak calling was performed using the MACS2 peak assignment tool (version 2.1.1) [72] in paired-end mode, with a genome size of 1.2e7, and using corresponding input samples derived from Replicate 1 as controls for peak calling for both Replicates 1 and 2. The default statistical significance cutoff was applied: 0.05 for the qvalue, which is the false-discovery rate (FDR)-adjusted *p*-value, calculated using the Benjamini-Hochberg correction. Fold enrichment (FE) is calculated as the fold enrichment for each peak summit against a random Poisson distribution with local lambda. A set of consensus peaks was assembled using DiffBind (version 2.2.12), such that each peak was identified in at least two independent samples from both replicates, or as otherwise noted. Binding affinities were determined and compared using DiffBind based on the number of ChIP read counts (log2 of normalized ChIP read counts with input read counts subtracted) (S5 Table). Because input samples were derived only for Replicate 1, and Replicate 2 had consistently lower read counts, the replicate number was used as a blocking factor for batch correction in the statistical model used by DiffBind when calculating the affinity scores. Peaks were annotated with all genomic features within 5 kb of consensus peaks using ChIPpeakAnno (version 3.12.7; Bioconductor Package) [73], with the

reference genome annotation package TxDb.Scerevisiae.UCSC.sacCer3.sgdGene. Differential binding data provided by TACG was then used to generate heatmaps to display pair-wise fold changes in binding occupancy levels (Figure 2.6B) using the Heatmapper web tool [74].

For peak number analysis (Figures 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 and 2S2), sequence read alignments and peak calling were performed as described above, with the following notes and exceptions. Peak assignment normalization for Replicate 2 was performed using either the input controls from Replicate 1, or using local genomic bias from the ChIP samples, themselves (i.e. without a control) [72]. Both methods produced similar results, with the latter used to produce the data shown in Figures 2.4, 2.5 and 2S2. Some computations were performed using the Niagara supercomputer at the Sci- Net HPC Consortium. Lists of identified peaks, excluding peaks found with the mitochondrial genome, are presented in 2S3 Table. Peak analysis, including identifying overlapping peaks among data sets (findOverlapsOfPeaks function; 2S4 Table) and the distribution of peaks across gene features (assignChromosomeRegion function) were performed using ChIPpeakAnno. Frequency of motif occurrences within peak sets (Figures 2.4D and 2.5C) was determined using the summarizePatternInPeaks function within the ChIPpeakAnno toolset. De novo motif discovery was performed using the MEME analysis tool for indicated peak sets using 41 nt surrounding peak summits and restricted to motifs of 6 to 12 nt in length [75]. An analysis with 81 nt surrounding peak summits was also performed, which resulted in similar results. Visualization of peak alignments (Figure 2.6C) was performed using the Integrative Genomics Viewer (Broad Institute) [76].

2.4 RESULTS

Sko1 is sumoylated at Lys 567 in yeast grown in normal conditions

Previous studies demonstrated that for two different bZIP TFs, Gcn4 in budding yeast and human FOS, sumoylation acts to restrict their association with DNA thereby preventing excessive expression of target genes [26-28]. We examined published lists of sumoylated proteins that were generated through proteomics analyses and identified 28 additional bZIP motif-containing TFs that are probable SUMO targets, four in *S. cerevisiae* and 24 human proteins (Figure 2.1A) [4,8]. This represents almost half of known bZIP TFs in these species and suggests that sumoylation is a common mechanism of regulating their functions. To explore this, we selected for further study the yeast bZIP TF Sko1 which was identified as a SUMO target in large-scale studies, but the effects of its sumoylation have not yet been reported [37-39].

A yeast strain was generated that expresses a C-terminal 6xHA-tagged form of Sko1 (Sko1.HA) from its natural locus and we confirmed that the presence of the tag does not affect cell growth under normal and osmotic stress conditions (2S1A Figure). Cell lysates were analyzed using the same procedures that were previously used for examining sumoylated proteins in yeast, i.e. HA immunoprecipitation (IP) followed by HA and SUMO immunoblotting (see *Materials and Methods*) [27, 28, 52]. Protein bands of the molecular weights expected for sumoylated Sko1 were detected in the SUMO immunoblot, including a "ladder" of bands that is typical for proteins that are multi- or poly-sumoylated, confirming that Sko1 is sumoylated (Figure 2.1B). Supporting that the sumoylated species detected in the immunoblots correspond to modified Sko1 specifically, we repeated the analysis using protein samples that were prepared under denaturing conditions (i.e.

the SUMO immunoblot (2S1B Figure). These results confirm the observation made in multiple proteomics studies that Sko1 is sumoylated in yeast grown in normal conditions [37-39].

We analyzed the polypeptide sequence of Sko1 using a SUMO-site prediction tool, GPS-SUMO [53], and identified Lys 567, which is within a SUMO consensus motif, as the most likely site of SUMO modification. To test this, we generated a yeast strain expressing only a K567R-mutant form of Sko1.HA from the SKO1 locus (hereafter referred to as Sko1-MT), and examined its sumoylation by IP-immunoblot. As shown in Figure 2.1C, Sko1-MT is expressed at normal levels, but the mutation virtually abolishes its sumoylation, indicating that Lys 567 is the major site of sumovaltion on the protein. This residue lies in the C-terminal part of the protein, significantly downstream of the bZIP DNA binding motif, the Hog1 and PKA phosphorylation sites, and the region of the protein required for nuclear entry, and therefore defines a novel regulatory region on Sko1 (Figure 2.1D) [54]. A higher molecular weight form of Sko1 that is detectable in HA immunoblots of Sko1-WT (asterisks in Figures 2.1B, 2.1C, 2.1E and 2S1B), but is not present in the Sko1-MT IP lane in Figure 2.1C, corresponds in size to monosumovlated Sko1, implying that both unmodified Sko1 and its major sumoylated form can be detected on the same HA immunoblot. Taking advantage of this, we used densitometry to measure the intensity of bands corresponding to unmodified and monosumoylated Sko1 and determined that at least 13% of Sko1 is sumoylated in normally growing yeast. Nonetheless, sumoylation of Sko1 is not required for cell viability as the *skol-MT* strain grew as well as strains expressing Skol-WT on rich (YPD) or synthetic complete (SC) media (2S1C Figure). This result is not surprising since SKO1 itself is not required for normal yeast growth (e.g. sko1/2 in 2S1C Figure and [44]), but our data indicates that, at any given time, a significant fraction of Sko1 polypeptides are modified by sumoylation.



Figure 2.1: Sko1 is constitutively sumoylated at Lys 567. (A) List of yeast and human bZIP motif-containing proteins that have been identified as putative SUMO targets in published proteomics studies. (B) Lysates from yeast strains expressing 6xHA-tagged Sko1 from its chromosomal locus, or a strain with no HA-tagged proteins (*No tag*), were examined by HA IP and immunoblot analysis with HA and SUMO antibodies. Inputs represent approximately 5-10% of the IPed material. (C) A yeast strain was generated with a chromosomal skol K567R mutation (Sko1-MT.HA) and used for IP-immunoblot analysis, as in (B), alongside No tag and Sko1-WT.HA controls. (D) Schematic of the Sko1 protein indicating bZIP DNA binding domain, regions targeted by Hog1 and PKA kinases, region required for nuclear entry [54], and the primary site of sumoylation, Lys 567, which is found within a SUMO consensus motif, VKSE. (E) IPimmunoblot analysis of lysates from the SKO1-WT.HA strain grown in SC medium ("Untreated"), or SC medium treated for 20 min with 0.5 µg/mL sulfometuron methyl (SM, amino acid starvation), 0.4M NaCl (osmotic stress), 1 mM H2O2 (oxidative stress), or incubated at 37°C (temperature stress), as in (B). (F) Spot assay comparing growth of indicated strains in various types of osmotic stress. Approximately 10,000 cells were spotted on the left-most position and serial five-fold dilutions were spotted on adjacent spots to the right in each panel. Media plates were imaged after two days. Asterisks (*) indicate position of the major (mono-) sumoylated form of Sko1 in each immunoblot.

Sko1 sumoylation is not affected by osmotic stress

To examine whether sumovlation might regulate Sko1 in response to high osmolarity or other types of stress, the SKO1-WT strain was grown in different conditions, and the level of Sko1 sumoylation was determined in each condition by IP-immunoblot analysis. As shown in Figures 2.1E and 2S1D, compared to growth in normal medium ("untreated"), Sko1 sumovlation levels were essentially unchanged after exposure to osmotic, oxidative, or temperature stress, or during amino acid starvation (through addition of sulfometuron methyl, SM, to growth medium) [55]. This indicates that sumoylation of Sko1 does not occur as part of a stress response but that the modification regulates Sko1 constitutively. Cellular levels of Sko1 in SKO1-WT and sko1-MT strains were approximately the same under normal growth conditions, and remained constant during osmotic stress, implying that sumovlation does not act to regulate Sko1 stability or abundance (2S1E Figure). Moreover, the *skol-MT* strain grew as well as the strain expressing Sko1-WT on a variety of osmotic stress media, indicating that Sko1 sumoylation is not required for cell survival during osmotic stress (Figure 2.1F). However, Sko1 itself is not required for survival during osmotic stress (*sko1* Δ in Figure 2.1F and [45]), reflecting that its role in regulating the transcription of target stress response genes has more subtle consequences, and that the effects of sumoylation on Sko1 function are likely intricate (see below) [48].

Sko1 sumoylation does not depend on or influence its phosphorylation

Many SUMO modifications show codependence or interference with other types of posttranslational modifications, including phosphorylation, on the same protein [19, 56]. To determine whether prior phosphorylation by Hog1 or PKA is required for Sko1 sumoylation, we generated yeast strains expressing mutant forms of Sko1.HA, including Sko1 (pMT.Hog1), which

contains Ala substitutions at the three Hog1 target residues (Ser 108, Ser 126, and Thr 113), and Sko1 (pMT.PKA), which has Ala substitutions at the three PKA target Ser residues (380, 393, and 399) [44]. The strains were then grown untreated or treated with NaCl for 10 min prior to the preparation of lysates and subsequent examination by IP-immunoblot. As shown in Figure 2.2A, normal levels and patterns of Sko1 sumoylation were observed in the SUMO immunoblot analysis of both the Sko1 (pMT.Hog1) and Sko1 (pMT.PKA) forms of Sko1.HA. This indicates that sumoylation of Sko1 occurs independently of its prior phosphorylation by Hog1 or PKA.

Next we examined whether sumoylation can influence subsequent phosphorylation of Sko1 by Hog1, which occurs in response to osmotic stress [44]. HA immunoblot analysis of Sko1-WT from cells grown in osmotic stress showed a mobility shift that is consistent with its phosphorylation and similar to a mobility shift that was previously reported (Figure 2.2B) [44]. The NaCldependent shift occurred for both the prominent band in the immunoblot, which corresponds to unsumoylated Sko1, as well as for the monosumoylated form of Sko1-WT (compare lanes 1 and 2 in upper and lower panels of Figure 2.2B). Sko1-MT also showed a NaCl-dependent shift in migration during osmotic stress (compare lanes 3 and 4). To examine this further, we repeated the HA immunoblot analysis using a phosphate-binding compound present in the acrylamide mix that enhances detection of phosphorylated protein isoforms during SDS-PAGE ("Phos-tag") [57]. As shown in 2S1F Figure, prominent higher-molecular weight bands appeared after treatment of either SKO1-WT or sko1-MT strains with NaCl ("Sko1-P"), which we attribute to Hog1-mediated phosphorylation since this shift was not observed in a $hog 1\Delta$ strain. Together, these analyses indicate that sumoylation is not a pre-requisite for Sko1 phosphorylation during osmotic stress but suggests that both unsumovalted and sumovalted Sko1 can be phosphorylated by Hog1.


1

No Tag

K450E

WT





Figure 2.2: Sko1 sumovlation shows no interdependence with phosphorylation but requires DNA binding. (A) Yeast strains expressing WT, MT, Hog1 kinase site-mutant ("Sko1(pMT.Hog1)"; S108,126A, T113A), or PKA kinase site-mutant ("Sko1(pMT.PKA)"; S380,393,399A) forms of Sko1.HA were grown in untreated medium or with 0.4MNaCl for 10 min. Lysates were then prepared and subjected to IP-immunoblot analysis as in Figure 2.1B. (B) HA immunoblot analysis of lysates from SKO1-WT.HA and sko1-MT.HA strains that were grown in untreated medium, or with 0.4M NaCl for 10 min. A longer exposure is shown to highlight the differential migration of the sumoylated (higher molecular weight) form of Sko1.HA in the first two lanes. (C) Yeast strains expressing no HA-tagged proteins or WT, K450E or Δ (445–456) forms of Sko1.HA, were grown in normal conditions or treated with 0.4M NaCl for 5 min, then cross-linked for HA ChIP analysis. qPCR was performed on promoter regions of two Sko1 target genes, RTC3 and ENA1, and a non-Sko1 target gene, PMA1. Error bars represent standard deviation of three independent experiments. Asterisks (*) indicate that the compared data pairs are statistically different (P < 0.05; see *Materials and Methods*). (**D**) IP-immunoblot analysis of lysates from yeast strains expressing indicated forms of Sko1.HA, performed as in Figure 2.1B. (E) IPimmunoblot analysis of lysates from strains expressing WT, K450E, or Gal4-DNA binding domain-fused Sko1-K450E (GalDB-K450E) forms of Sko1.HA.

DNA binding is necessary and sufficient for Sko1 sumoylation

To investigate whether Sko1 becomes sumoylated prior to, or after binding target DNA sequences, we tested if its DNA binding activity is necessary for the modification to take place. Lys 450 of Sko1 is at a conserved position in the bZIP motif, and a Lys-to-Glu mutation of the corresponding Lys in the human bZIP TF CREB1 abolished its ability to bind DNA [43, 58]. We constructed yeast strains that expresses an analogous K450E mutant form of Sko1.HA, or Sko1.HA with a 12amino acid residue deletion surrounding Lys 450, Δ (445–456). To confirm that these mutant forms of Sko1 are indeed defective in DNA binding, we performed ChIP analysis at the promoter regions of the *RTC3* and *ENA1* genes, both of which are bound by Sko1 during osmotic stress [49, 50], and *PMA1*, which is not targeted by Sko1 [48]. As expected, treatment of the *SKO1-WT* strain with NaCl led to rapid recruitment of Sko1 to the RTC3 and ENA1 promoters, but not to the promoter of *PMA1* (Figure 2.2C). For both Sko1-K450E and Sko1 Δ (445–456), however, no recruitment was detected, indicating that both forms of Sko1 are indeed defective in DNA binding. WT, MT, and the DNA-binding-deficient forms of Sko1.HA were then examined by IP-immunoblot, and, as shown in Figure 2.2D, even though the K450E and Δ (445–456) forms were expressed and IPed at levels comparable to Sko1-WT, neither showed a signal on the SUMO immunoblot. This indicates that Sko1 that is not able to bind DNA is not sumoylated and suggests that the modification takes place only after the TF binds to its target DNA sites.

To determine whether DNA binding itself can trigger Sko1 sumoylation, we constructed an expression plasmid that generates the DNA binding-deficient form of Sko1.HA (K450E) fused to the DNA binding domain of the transcription activator Gal4 (construct Gal4DB-K450E). Strikingly, when introduced into a yeast strain that contains multiple Gal4 binding sites, the fusion

protein showed high levels of sumoylation (Figure 2.2E). This indicates that DNA binding itself can restore SUMO modification to the Sko1-K450E mutant, and strongly implies that DNA binding is a major determinant for Sko1 sumoylation.

Genome-wide identification of Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT binding sites

To explore whether sumoylation regulates the association of Sko1 with chromatin at its binding sites genome-wide, we performed HA ChIP followed by next-generation sequencing (ChIP-seq) for both SKO1-WT and sko1-MT strains, under normal growth and after exposure to osmotic stress (0.4M NaCl for 5 min). Sko1 binding sites (peaks) were identified, using the MACS2 software tool, through detection of genomic regions with statistically significant Sko1 occupancy in IPed samples relative to background levels from input samples (statistical significance cut-off of q < q0.05). Numerous peaks were identified for both Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT in both untreated and osmotic stress-treated (+NaCl) samples (Figure 2.3A and 2.3B and 2S3 Table), including peaks near many known Sko1-regulated genes (Figure 2.3C and see 2S5 Table). NaCl treated samples had somewhat fewer identified peaks than untreated samples for both Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT, which likely reflects the osmotic stress-associated binding dynamics of Sko1 in which its levels are reduced on some targets [49-51]. Consistent with previous genome-scale binding studies, occupancy levels of Sko1-WT range widely among its binding sites, with about half showing relatively high occupancy levels (at least a two-fold enrichment in read density compared to input, FE > 2; Figure 2.3A and 2.3C), including binding sites for some known Sko1 target genes, as indicated in Figure 2.3C [48-51]. Supporting the effectiveness of this ChIP-seq experiment, we compared it with a previous Sko1 ChIP-seq study using the ChIPPeakAnno analysis toolkit and found that 80% of the peaks in our Sko1-WT set were also identified in that study [50].

Furthermore, a search for recurring sequences in the Sko1-WT peak set from our analysis produced the previously reported Sko1 binding motif, ATGACGT, with very high confidence (Figure 2.3D) [50,59].

Sko1-MT binds more promoter regions than Sko1-WT

Intriguingly, the ChIP-seq analysis showed that Sko1-MT binds dramatically more sites than Sko1-WT, in both untreated and +NaCl samples (66% and 47% more peaks, respectively; Figure 2.3A and 2.3B, and 2S3 Table). To confirm this observation, we performed an independent ChIPseq replicate experiment (Replicate 2), which again showed more binding sites for Sko1-MT than Sko1-WT in untreated and +NaCl conditions (2S2A and 2S2B Figures). Overall, Replicate 2 showed consistently lower normalized read counts (i.e. occupancy levels) than Replicate 1 and it consisted of many peaks of low fold enrichment that were largely absent from Replicate 1 (2S2A and 2S2C Figures). As we did not produce an input control set for Replicate 2, this might reflect that peak assignment normalization was performed by other methods for this replicate (see *Materials and Methods*). Nonetheless, a large number of overlapping peaks were identified in each analysis between the two replicates (2S2C Figure, left and S3 Table), and, when only peaks from Replicate 2 that have high fold enrichment (FE > 2) were considered, 75% to 91% were found to overlap with peaks from Replicate 1 (2S2C Figure, right). Importantly, each replicate identified more peaks bound by Sko1-MT compared with Sko1-WT, regardless of whether yeast were grown in normal or osmotic conditions (compare Figure 2.3A with 2S2A Figure). To increase confidence in our results, the peak analyses described below were performed using only binding sites that were identified in both replicates for each sample ("overlapping peak sets"). Notably, the overlapping peak sets also showed dramatically higher numbers of peaks for Sko1-MT than for Sko1-WT in untreated and +NaCl conditions (2S2D and 2S2E Figures). Lists of peaks identified in each replicate and in the overlapping peak sets are presented in 2S3 and 2S4 Tables, respectively.

We next performed a detailed analysis of the Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT peaks derived from normally growing yeast (untreated) from the overlapping peak sets. Nearly all the 207 Sko1-WT binding sites were also bound by Sko1-MT, but Sko1-MT was found at an additional 277 sites (Figure 2.4A). This is not the result of random binding of Sko1-MT at positions across the genome because ~90% of the peaks that are unique to Sko1-MT ("MT only") are found near promoter regions, which is only slightly higher than the ratio of promoter-associated peaks in the Sko1-WT set (Figure 2.4B). Promoter regions include 2000 nt upstream, and 200 nt downstream, of transcriptional start sites (TSSs), which encompasses the upstream activation sequences (UASs) to which TFs typically bind [60]. Peaks that are unique to Sko1-WT ("WT only") showed a somewhat different distribution, with about one third appearing in regions immediately downstream of gene ends, but this might be skewed by the small number of peaks (20), and its significance is not known (Figure 2.4B). For a more detailed analysis of the position of peaks, we plotted their distribution around TSSs (Figures 2.4C and 2S3A). MT-only peaks show a slightly more focused distribution than peaks that are common to both the Sko1-WT and MT sets ("WT & MT"), but they are predominantly situated around 400 to 500 bp upstream of TSSs, which is similar to the distribution of WT & MT peaks. These results indicate that Sko1 that cannot be sumoylated binds to numerous additional promoter regions in normally growing yeast, thereby implicating sumoylation in binding site specificity.



Figure 2.3: Binding site analysis from Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT ChIP-seq experiment. (A) Number of binding sites (peaks) identified from Replicate 1 of ChIP-seq analysis of *SKO1-WT.HA* and *sko1-MT.HA* strains, either untreated or treated with 0.4 M NaCl for 5 min, with a *q*-value less than 0.05 (blue bars). Subset of identified peaks having a *q*-value less than 0.05 and a fold enrichment (FE) value greater than 2 are also indicated, in red. (B) Venn diagram showing number of peaks (q < 0.05) shared among the four samples tested. When generating Venn diagrams throughout this study, if two peaks in one sample both overlap with the same peak in another sample they are counted as a single overlapping peak. This results in slightly fewer total peaks for each sample in the Venn diagram compared with the number of identified peaks listed in 2S3 and 2S4 Tables and in panel (*A*). (C) Distribution of fold enrichment values for the peaks identified in the untreated Sko1-WT sample, with peaks of select known Sko1 target genes indicated with FE values shown in brackets. (D) Motif discovery analysis, using MEME tool, of the sequences surrounding the summit of the peaks from the untreated Sko1-WT sample, identified the indicated consensus sequence.

We then examined the nature of the Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT peaks to determine whether binding sites unique to Sko1-MT have common or distinguishing features. Genes situated nearest the Sko1-WT peaks are involved in diverse pathways, but Gene Ontology (GO) term analysis indicates that glucose, hexose, and ethanol metabolic processes are significantly enriched among these ($P < 1.0 \times 10-4$), which matches the results of a previous examination of the Sko1 regulon [49]. GO term analysis for peaks unique to Sko1-MT, however, showed no GO term enrichment, indicating that there is no apparent bias in the distribution of MT-only binding sites with respect to target gene function.

To explore whether the SUMO-site mutation might alter the Sko1 binding sequence specificity, we determined the frequency at which the consensus Sko1 binding motif appears in Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT peak sets. About 60% of Sko1-WT peaks contain the sequence ATGACGT, whereas it is found in only ~12% of MT-only peaks (Figure 2.4D), strongly suggesting that blocking sumoylation alters Sko1 binding specificity. When we repeated this analysis with a less-specific version of the Sko1 binding site, TKACG (where K is G or T; based on the logo in Figure 2.3D), we found that this sequence is present in >80% of both Sko1-WT and MT-only peaks (Figure 2.4D). This implies that Sko1-MT recognizes Sko1 binding motif-like sequences, but with less stringency than Sko1-WT. In support of this, in a de novo motif discovery analysis, the only significant recurring motif identified in the MT-only peak set is a slightly weaker match to the consensus Sko1 motif, and it is found in a smaller fraction of peaks, when compared to the most recurring motif in the WT & MT set (2S3B Figure). Taken together, our analysis suggests that sumoylation functions in preventing the association of Sko1 with non-specific binding sites that show some sequence similarity to its consensus binding motif.



Figure 2.4: Sko1-MT binds dramatically more promoter regions than Sko1-WT. (**A**) Venn diagram showing number of common and unique peaks from the untreated Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT ChIP-seq analyses. Peaks identified in both ChIP-seq replicates (i.e. overlapping peak sets) were examined. (**B**) Distribution of ChIP-seq peaks from untreated Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT samples across indicated gene features. "Imm. Dnstrm." refers to the 1000 bases immediately downstream of the 3' UTR-encoding sequence. "WT & MT" refers to peaks shared between the Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT sets, whereas "WT only" and "MT only" refer to peaks that are unique to the respective peak sets. (**C**) Distribution of aggregate peak numbers around the nearest transcriptional start site (TSS) for "WT & MT" and "MT only" peak sets. (**D**) Percentage of peaks, within indicated peak sets, that contain the major Sko1 consensus motif, ATGACGT, or a less-specific motif, TKACG, where K is G or T.

Sko1-MT binds more promoter regions than Sko1-WT during osmotic stress

In both SKO1-WT and sko1-MT strains, osmotic stress resulted in a partial redistribution of Sko1 with many binding sites gained and several lost, which demonstrates that high osmolarity influences Sko1 binding site selection (Figures 2.3B, 2S2B and 2S2E). We analyzed the overlapping peak sets obtained by ChIP-seq after treatment with NaCl, which again indicated that Sko1-MT binds significantly more sites than Sko1-WT (240 peaks for MT versus 122 for WT; Figure 2.5A). Approximately 80% of all +NaCl Sko1-bound sites, including the 129 bound only by Sko1-MT and the 111 bound by both WT and MT, are near promoters (Figure 2.5B). De novo motif discovery indicates that the consensus Sko1 binding site is the most significantly recurring motif for both the WT & MT and MT-only +NaCl peak sets (2S3B Fig), with the consensus motif appearing in ~45% of MT-only peaks and in ~60% of WT & MT peaks (Figure 2.5C). This is a greater fraction of MT-only peaks that contain the Sko1 binding site than in the untreated set $(\sim 45\% \text{ ys} \sim 12\%)$; compare Figures 2.4D with 2.5C), which suggests that the effect of osmotic stress on Sko1 binding site selection outweighs the tendency for Sko1-MT to interact with degenerate binding sites. Consistent with this, high osmolarity likely influences Sko1 redistribution through phosphorylation of Sko1 by Hog1 [50], which we have shown occurs independently of its sumoylation (see above). Our results indicate that Sko1-MT binds many more sites than Sko1-WT in both untreated and +NaCl conditions, but binding appears to be more stringent for Sko1-MT under osmotic conditions, as more of the additional sites match the Sko1 consensus motif than under normal conditions.



Figure 2.5: Sko1-MT binds more promoter regions than Sko1-WT after treatment with NaCl. (A) Venn diagram showing number of common and unique peaks from the NaCl-treated Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT ChIP-seq analysis. Peaks identified in both ChIP-seq replicates (overlapping peak sets) were examined. (B) Distribution of ChIP-seq peaks from NaCl-treated Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT samples across indicated gene features, as in Figure 2.4B. (C) Percentage of peaks, within indicated peak sets, that contain the major Sko1 consensus motif, ATGACGT, or a less-specific motif, TKACG, where K is G or T. (D) Status of "WT & MT" and "MT only" Sko1 binding sites from ChIP-seq analysis of untreated samples in the NaCl-treated set.

To explore the effects of osmotic stress on Sko1 binding site redistribution, we examined the status of peaks from the untreated WT & MT and MT-only samples in the +NaCl peak sets (Figure 2.5D). About 75% of sites that were common to both Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT sets during normal growth remained bound during osmotic stress (Figure 2.5D). Strikingly, however, 83% of sites bound only by Sko1-MT during normal growth were unbound after treatment with NaCl. This indicates that Sko1-MT is dissociated from most of its nonspecific binding sites after exposure to NaCl, which suggests that binding to these sites can be less stable than to actual Sko1 binding sites. Altogether, our analysis supports the notion that sumoylation acts to restrict Sko1 to appropriate stable binding sites, even during osmotic stress.

Sumoylation-deficient Sko1 shows higher occupancy levels at its binding sites

To investigate whether sumoylation can influence the occupancy level of Sko1, we next compared Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT occupancy levels at common binding sites across the genome. For this analysis, the DiffBind analysis tool was applied, which used a normalized number of sequence reads as a measure of occupancy across a consensus set of 630 peaks. The consensus peak set consists of peaks that were found in at least two of the four independent ChIP-seq analyses from both replicates, as listed in 2S5 Table. Significantly, as shown in the boxplots in Figure 2.6A and in 2S5 Table, Sko1-MT had overall higher occupancy levels than Sko1-WT in both untreated and +NaCl sets. To be sure that the effect is not only a result of the high number of MT-only peaks in the consensus peak set, two additional peak sets were also examined: (i) the set of 52 peaks that are present in both replicates of all four ChIP-seq analyses and, (ii) the 212 peaks that are present in both replicates of the Sko1-WT analyses in either the untreated or +NaCl sets, which can be

considered normal Sko1 binding sites. In all cases, Sko1-MT showed significantly higher occupancy levels than Sko1-WT (2S4A Figure).

To visualize the differences in occupancy levels at each of the 630 consensus peaks, heatmaps were generated (Figure 2.6B). For both Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT, osmotic stress resulted in an overall similar redistribution, with some sites showing increased binding (shown in yellow), but slightly more sites showing reduced binding (blue; Figure 2.6B; left pair of heatmaps). When comparing occupancy levels of Sko1 in SKO1-WT versus sko1-MT strains, however, most sites showed higher levels of Sko1-MT, and the effect was similar but more pronounced after treatment with NaCl (yellow; Figure 2.6B; right pair of heatmaps). Increased occupancy levels can also be seen in the unnormalized peak alignments shown in Figure 2.6C near eight selected representative Sko1 target genes, including those that show Sko1 recruitment (GPD1, STL1, MPC3, and ALD3), release of Sko1 (GRE2, FSH1), or no observable change in Sko1 occupancy in response to NaCl treatment (*PRR2*, *SED1*). To validate these results, we performed independent ChIP experiments followed by qPCR analysis of the promoter regions of the eight representative Sko1 target genes. Indeed, most genes showed statistically significantly higher levels of Sko1-MT compared with Sko1-WT in untreated and NaCl-treated samples (2S4B Fig). When averaged across all eight genes, Sko1-MT occupancy was ~1.4 times greater than Sko1-WT for untreated samples, and ~2.6 times greater in the +NaCl samples (Figure 2.6D). Taken together, both our ChIP-seq and ChIPqPCR experiments strongly indicate that sumoylation-deficient Sko1 shows increased occupancy at the majority of its binding sites and suggest that sumoylation decreases the binding affinity of Sko1.



Figure 2.6: Differential binding analysis indicates that Sko1-MT has higher occupancy levels than Sko1-WT. (A) Boxplots comparing mean read concentrations (log2 normalized ChIP read counts) for the 630 consensus peaks in each of the four indicated ChIP-seq analyses. (B) At left, heatmap of differential binding analysis showing changes in occupancy levels (fold change; log2) in Sko1-WT or Sko1-MT after treatment with NaCl, for the 630 consensus peaks. Yellow indicates increased binding after NaCl, whereas blue indicates reduced binding. At right, heatmap of differential binding analysis comparing occupancy levels in Sko1-WT with Sko1-MT in untreated or NaCl-treated samples, at the 630 consensus peaks. Yellow indicates higher occupancy levels for Sko1-MT, whereas blue indicates higher occupancy for Sko1-WT. In all cases, black indicates no significant difference in occupancy level. Each heatmap is independently sorted by magnitude of occupancy level difference. (C) Sko1 occupancy peaks were aligned to the yeast genome and eight representative peak alignments are shown for the four samples analyzed from Replicate 1, as plotted using the Integrative Genomics Viewer (IGV). Numbers in square brackets refer to maximum data range (of sequence reads) for the tracks in each column. (D) Validation of ChIPseq was performed at eight genes by qPCR analysis of five independent ChIP experiments (as summarized in 2S4B Fig). The average occupancy of Sko1-MT, relative to Sko1-WT occupancy, across all tested genes and replicates, is shown, in untreated samples (top), and in samples treated with 0.4M NaCl for 5 min (bottom). Error bars represent standard deviation. (E) Recruitment level of Hog1.Myc, as determined by ChIP analysis (see 2S6 Figure), at indicated promoter regions in SKO1-WT and sko1-MT strains. Recruitment level was calculated as the ratio of occupancy at 5 min to occupancy at 0 min after treatment with NaCl. Error bars represent standard deviation of three independent replicates. (F) Average Hog1.Myc recruitment level in *sko1-MT* relative to its level in SKO1-WT. The level of Hog1.Myc recruitment in sko1-MT, calculated relative to recruitment in SKO1-WT, was averaged across all seven Hog1 target genes tested by ChIP-qPCR (panel (E) and 2S6 Fig). Error bars represent standard deviation for three replicates across all seven genes. P-values from Student's t-test analysis are indicated. Asterisks (*) indicate that the compared data pairs are statistically different (P < 0.05; see Materials and Methods).

Blocking Sko1 sumoylation reduces Hog1 recruitment to target promoters

To explore the consequences of increased occupancy of Sko1-MT compared to Sko1-WT, we examined expression levels of some Sko1 target genes in *SKO1-WT* and *sko1-MT* cells, in both normal growth conditions and at various time points after treatment with NaCl. Blocking Sko1 sumoylation (*sko1-MT*) resulted in reduced RNA levels of one gene, *FSH1*, both prior to and after NaCl treatment, but had no significant effect on expression of the inducible genes *STL1*, *PRR2*, or *MPC3* (2S5A Figure), suggesting that the consequences of Sko1 sumoylation on target gene expression are gene-specific. We also determined the mRNA levels of a selection of genes that were not bound by Sko1-WT but were bound by Sko1-MT in our ChIP-seq analyses. For all eight of these genes, there was no significant difference in expression level in the *SKO1-WT* and *sko1-MT* strains, both under normal conditions and 10 min after treatment with NaCl (2S5B Figure). This indicates that binding of Sko1-MT alone is not sufficient to significantly alter the expression of genes that it does not normally regulate.

We then examined whether Sko1 sumoylation can influence the recruitment of Hog1, which associates with many Sko1 target genes during osmotic stress [47, 50]. Strains expressing a 3xMyc-tagged version of Hog1 were generated in the *SKO1-WT* or *sko1-MT* backgrounds, and we performed Myc ChIP analysis over a NaCl-treatment time-course. The analysis showed robust but transient recruitment of Hog1 to seven of its known target genes in *SKO1-WT* cells after addition of NaCl, but not to *FSH1*, which is not regulated by Hog1 (2S6 Figure). Two genes, *STL1* and *PRR2*, showed significantly reduced levels of Hog1 occupancy in the *sko1-MT* strain at 5 min after addition of NaCl. More significantly, however, in the *sko1-MT* strain, recruitment of Hog1, which we calculated as the ratio of occupancy at 5 min to 0 min post NaCl treatment, showed a

statistically significant reduction at four of the seven genes (Figures 2.6E and 2S6). Indeed, when the average recruitment level was calculated across all seven genes, *sko1-MT* cells showed only 50% as much Hog1 recruitment as in *SKO1-WT* cells (Figure 2.6F). These observations suggest that sumoylation prevents excessive binding of Sko1 at target sites, and that elevated Sko1 binding affects expression of some genes and can significantly impair the recruitment of Hog1.

2.5 DISCUSSION

SUMO is a predominantly nuclear modifier that targets a large number of chromatin-associated proteins, including chromatin remodelers, general and sequence-specific transcription factors, and proteins involved in mRNA transport and processing [3, 4, 19, 61]. Potentially then, the expression of numerous genes can be controlled by the cumulative effects of sumoylation of multiple substrates. Unlike ubiquitination, sumovalition in yeast and mammals involves a single E2 conjugating enzyme and a small number of E3 ligases and proteases [1]. This suggests that regulating the activity of only one enzyme in the SUMO pathway, such as Ubc9, can have widespread consequences for the cell since so many substrates may be coordinately affected. This scale of vast protein regulation, particularly on chromatin, might be necessary for achieving a specific goal, such as the dramatic refocusing of the transcription machinery to specific genes after exposure to heat stress [62]. However, unstressed cells show substantial levels of sumovlation and SUMO modification of numerous chromatin-associated proteins is constitutive, implying that this modification functions primarily in the mechanisms of gene expression under normal growth conditions [3, 8]. Our analysis of Sko1 sumoylation supports this. Although osmotic stress resulted in the redistribution of Sko1 across the genome, its sumovalition level did not change, and blocking its sumovaltion increased the number of its binding sites both in the presence or absence of NaCl stress.

Altogether, our data point to a role for SUMO modification in preventing Sko1 from binding to nontarget sites, genome-wide, which supports a novel function for the modification. Intriguingly, nonspecific sites bound by sumovlation-deficient Sko1 are not randomly distributed across the genome but are mostly situated near gene promoters that contain Sko1 binding site-like sequences. This might reflect the intrinsic accessibility of chromatin around promoters and the frequent occurrence of such sequences in many promoter regions [63]. Indeed, binding motifs for Sko1 and the related TFs Aca1 and Cst6 are highly similar, and it has been proposed that these TFs compete with each other for binding to promoter elements [40, 45, 64]. Based on the results of our study, we propose a model in which unbound Sko1 has high affinity for sequences that generally resemble the Sko1 motif. This might be necessary to ensure that all functional Sko1 target sites become occupied by the TF, even though nonspecific sites are initially bound, as well. Our model then posits that subsequent sumovlation of Sko1 relaxes its interaction with bound DNA, resulting in release from inoptimally bound nonspecific sites but allows sustained association with actual Sko1-regulated genes. Key to this model is that sumoylation takes place only after Sko1 has bound DNA, which is supported by our finding that DNA binding mutations eliminate Sko1 sumoylation. Similarly, DNA binding mutations have been shown to prevent sumoylation of other TFs such as Gcn4 and Ikaros, as well as non-TF DNA-binding proteins, including yeast Yku70, human TDG and viral ULFF, which are involved in DNA damage repair [28, 65, 66]. This suggests that the sumoylation apparatus can distinguish between DNA-bound and unbound forms of many chromatin-associated proteins, possibly as a result of conformational changes that may occur after binding DNA, or due to the proximity of the sumoylation machinery with chromatin. Supporting this, ChIP analyses have shown that Ubc9 is associated with chromatin, including promoter regions

of transcriptionally activated genes [14, 15]. Further studies are necessary to test our model and explore the consequences of Sko1 sumoylation on its structure and DNA binding affinity.

Consistent with the idea that sumoylation reduces Sko1 DNA binding affinity, blocking Sko1 sumovaltion also resulted in increased occupancy levels at most of its target genes. However, not all target genes showed altered expression in the *skol-MT* strain. The increase in Skol levels at these sites might not have been sufficiently dramatic to noticeably alter their gene expression levels, but this supports the previous finding that Sko1 occupancy levels on target genes generally do not correlate with their expression levels [49]. Instead, its context dependent roles involve regulating the recruitment or release of repressors, such as Tup1/Ssn6, chromatin remodelers SAGA and SWI/SNF, and the kinase Hog1 [44, 47, 50]. Hog1 is activated in response to osmotic stress which triggers its nuclear localization and association with promoters of osmo-regulated genes where it phosphorylates a number of transcription-related substrates, including Sko1 and RNAP II, resulting in efficient induction of the genes [67, 68]. Whereas Sko1 itself is required for the recruitment of Hog1 to at least some target genes during osmotic stress [47, 50], our results suggest that increased binding of Sko1 in *sko1-MT* cells generally hinders the recruitment of Hog1 to its targets. Increased Sko1 binding in these cells might inhibit promoter-associated rearrangements that are necessary for induction of osmoregulated genes [47], or Sko1 sumoylation itself might stimulate the recruitment of Hog1 through unknown mechanisms. In any case, our results point to a role for Sko1 sumoylation in controlling its association with chromatin not only to ensure binding site specificity, but also to prevent excessive binding at its authentic target sites.

Few studies to date have examined the role of sumoylation on the genome-wide occupancy TFs, and, when considered with our results, the conclusions of these studies strongly point to a conserved role for sumovlation in regulating TF binding specificity. In the first such study, it was reported that a germline mutation in the human TF MITF that is associated with increased coincidence of melanoma and renal cancer also significantly reduces sumoylation of the protein [30]. ChIP-seq analysis was performed in human melanoma cell lines expressing either WT MITF or the sumoylation-deficient form, MITF-E318K. As in our analysis with Sko1, dramatically more sites across the genome were bound by the sumoylation-deficient form of MITF, and occupancy levels were higher compared with WT MITF at sites that were bound by both the mutant and WT proteins. Recent ChIP-seq studies of the glucocorticoid and androgen nuclear receptors again showed that SUMO-site mutation led to altered genome occupancy patterns for both TFs, with the mutant proteins binding to significantly more sites than the wild-type counterparts [32,33]. The parallel observations of these analyses of different TFs in evolutionarily distant organisms strongly suggests a common function for sumoylation across eukaryotes. Considering the vast number of eukaryotic TFs that have been reported as SUMO targets and the close association of the modification with chromatin, we anticipate that future additional genome-wide studies will reveal that, indeed, a major role for sumoylation is in regulating the association of DNA-bound TFs with chromatin in order to restrict their activity to appropriate target genes.

2.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Jennifer Haynes and J. Bryan McNeil for their insightful comments and critical review of the manuscript and to Jeffrey Fillingham for technical advice.

2.7 SUPPLEMENTARY DATA





Е



F

D

В



Figure 2 S 1: (A) C-terminal 6xHA tag on Sko1 does not affect cell growth in normal or osmotic conditions. Spot assays (as in Figure 2.1F) in which indicated yeast strains were grown in triplicate on rich (YPD) or synthetic complete (SC) medium, or supplemented with indicated levels of NaCl or sorbitol. Plates were photographed after two or three days, as indicated. (B) Detection of Sko1 sumoylation in lysates prepared under denaturing conditions. IPimmunoblot analysis was performed with protein samples prepared under denaturing conditions (TCA precipitation). Asterisks (*) indicate position of the major (mono-) sumoylated form of Sko1 in each immunoblot. Open circles (•) indicate position of putative Sko1 degradation products, detectable in both HA and SUMO immunoblots. (C) A yeast strain expressing sumoylation deficient Sko1 shows no growth defect. Spot assays in which growth of indicated yeast strains were compared on rich (YPD) or synthetic complete (SC) medium, as in Figure 2.1F. Growth was for two days (2d). (D) Sko1 sumoylation levels are unaffected by stress. Relative Sko1 sumoylation levels were quantified after IP-immunoblot analyses as in Figure 2.1E by dividing Sko1 SUMO signals by the Sko1-HA signals in the respective blots. Data is presented relative to the untreated sample, with error bars indicating standard deviation of three experiments. By Student's *t*-test, there is no significant statistical difference among the samples. (E) Blocking Sko1 sumoylation does not affect its abundance. HA and GAPDH immunoblot analysis of lysates from SKO1-WT.HA or sko1-MT.HA strains grown in SC medium treated with 0.4M NaCl for indicated times. Sumoylated forms of Sko1.WT cannot be seen in this short exposure. (F) Blocking Sko1 sumoylation does not prevent its Hog1-mediated phosphorylation. HA immunoblot analysis, as in Figure 2.2B, using Phos-Tag acrylamide to enhance detection of phosphorylated forms of Sko1.HA, indicated as "Sko1-P." A strain lacking HOG1 and expressing Sko1.HA was included as a control. Analysis using standard SDS-PAGE analysis is shown at bottom.









D

С





Figure 2 S 2: Binding site analysis of Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT ChIP-seq experiment for Replicate 2 and for peaks overlapping in both replicates. (A) Number of binding sites (peaks) identified from Replicate 2 ChIP-seq analysis of *SKO1-WT.HA* and *sko1-MT.HA* strains, either untreated or treated with 0.4M NaCl for 5 min, with a q-value less than 0.05 (blue bars). Subset of peaks having a *q*-value less than 0.05 and a fold enrichment (FE) value greater than 2 are also indicated (red bars). (B) Venn diagram, as in Figure 2.3B, showing number of peaks (q < 0.05) shared among the four samples in Replicate 2. (C) Venn diagrams indicating numbers of peaks identified in both Replicate 1 and 2, for each of the four samples. Peaks found in both replicates (i.e. intersects) for each sample constitute the "Overlapping Peak Sets." At right, similar analysis comparing peaks from Replicate 1 and the subset of peaks from Replicate 2 that have an FE greater than 2. All analyzed peaks have *q*-values less than 0.05. (D) Number of binding sites for each of four samples in the overlapping peak sets, which includes only peaks identified in both replicates (as indicated in (*C*) left). (E) Venn diagram showing number of common and unique peaks in the overlapping peak sets from the four samples.



В

+NaCl



Figure 2 S 3: Distribution and motif analysis of ChIP-seq peak sets. (**A**) Distribution of aggregate ChIP-seq peak numbers (for overlapping peak sets) around the nearest transcriptional start site (TSS) for indicated peak sets in untreated and NaCl-treated samples. (**B**) De novo motif discovery was performed, using the MEME analysis tool, for "WT & MT" and "MT only" peak sets, in untreated and NaCl-treated samples. Only one significant motif was identified for each of the untreated and +NaCl MT-only peak sets (with an *E*-value less than 1e-005), and the most significant motifs for the WT & MT peak sets are shown (additional motifs discovered for the WT & MT set have *E*-values greater than 1e-32 and are present in fewer than 40 peaks). Number of peaks contributing to the motif ("Sites") is indicated in each case.









А

Figure 2 S 4: (A) Differential binding analysis of different groups of peaks. Boxplots comparing mean read concentrations (log2 normalized ChIP read counts) in each of the four indicated ChIP-seq analyses for the 52 peaks that are found in both replicates of all four ChIP-seq sets (left) or the 212 peaks that are found in both replicates of the Sko1-WT sets in both untreated and +NaCl conditions (right). (B) Validation of ChIP-seq analysis. Five independent standard ChIP experiments were performed with *SKO1-WT* and *sko1-MT* strains. Sko1.HA occupancy levels at promoter regions of eight representative genes were determined by qPCR, at 0 or 5 min after the addition of 0.4MNaCl. For each gene, occupancy is shown relative to Sko1-WT in untreated samples. Error bars represent standard deviations. *P*-values from twofactor ANOVA analysis of WT vs MT sets for each gene are shown. Asterisks (*) indicate that the two data sets (WT and MT) are statistically different (P < 0.05; see *Materials and Methods*).





Relative mRNA level

1.0

0.5

0

0







Т

10



1.0



1.0

0.5

0

0

BSC1

10

Figure 2 S 5: Effects of elevated Sko1 binding on steady-state expression levels of target genes in the sko1-MT strain. (A) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of mRNA levels of indicated representative Sko1-target genes at 0, 10, 20 and 30 min after treatment of *SKO1-WT* or *sko1-MT* cultures with 0.4M NaCl. Error bars represent standard deviations of three independent replicates. *P*-values from two-factor ANOVA analysis of WT vs MT sets for each gene are shown. Asterisks (*) indicate that the two data sets (WT and MT) are statistically different (P < 0.05; see *Materials and Methods*). (B) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of mRNA levels of a selection of genes that are bound by Sko1-MT, but not Sko1-WT, at 0 and 10 min after treatment of *SKO1-WT* or *sko1-MT* strains with 0.4MNaCl. Statistical analysis indicates no significant difference between WT and MT sets. Error bars represent standard deviations of four independent replicates.



Hog1.Myc ChIP

Figure 2 S 6: Effects of blocking Sko1 sumoylation on recruitment of Hog1 to target genes during osmotic stress. ChIP-qPCR analysis of Hog1.Myc occupancy at indicated genes in *SKO1-WT* and *sko1-MT* strains at 0, 5, or 15 min after treatment with NaCl. Data are represented as fold occupancy (relative to occupancy at the *PMA1* locus which is not targeted by Hog1 or Sko1). Error bars represent standard deviations of three independent replicates. Asterisks (*) indicate that the compared data pairs are statistically different (P < 0.05; see *Materials and Methods*). Statistical comparison of Hog1.Myc recruitment is shown in Figure 2.6E.

Strain	Parental	Genotype	
Background Strain			
W303a		<i>MAT a ura3-52 trp1∆2 leu2-3_112 his3-11 ade2-1</i> <i>can1-100</i>	
HF7c		MAT a ura3-52, his3-200, lys2-801, ade2-101, trp1- 901, leu2-3, 112, gal4-542, LYS2::GAL1UAS-GAL1TATA-HIS3, URA3::(GAL 17mers) 3-Cyc1TATA-lacZ	
Derived Strains			
YVS003C	W303a	SKO1-6HA::kl TRP1	
YVS007K	W303a	sko1-K567R-6HA::KlTRP1	
YVS008A	W303a	sko14::kanMX	
YVS035B	W303a	sko1-K450E-6HA:: KlTRP	
YVS036B	W303a	sko1-Δ(445-456)-6HA:: KlTRP	
YVS052A	HF7c	[pGAL4DBD-Sko1-K450E-6HA]	
YVS047B	W303a	sko1-S108,126A,T113A-6HA:: KlTRP	
YVS051E	W303a	sko1-S380,393,399A-6HA:: KlTRP	
YVS041A	YVS003C	SKO1-6HA::KlTRP hog1 Δ:: KanMX	
YVS011A	YVS003C	SKO1-6HA:KITRP1 HOG1-3MYC::KanMX6	
YVS021A	YVS007K	sko1-K567R-6HA::KlTRP1 TUP1-3MYC::KanMX6	

Table 2 S 1: Yeast strains used in this study

Gene	Oligonucleotide sequence(s)
Primers for quantitative	e PCR analysis of ChIP samples
DTC2 music star	Forward: 5'- AAGATTTCCCGTTGCGCTAT -3'
KICS promoter	Reverse: 5'- GGAGAAGAGACACGGAGTAGGA -3'
	Forward: 5'- GGTCTTAAACATCGCCGTGC -3'
ENAT promoter	Reverse: 5'- CCCTGCCCTAACAACGTCA-3'
DMA1 momentum	Forward: 5'- CAATTATGACCGGTGACGAAAC -3'
PMAT promoter	Reverse: 5'- AATCGAAACTAATGGAGGGGAG -3'
CDD1	Forward: 5'-CCCACCCACACCACCAATAC -3'
GPD1 promoter	Reverse: 5'-CCCATTCTGATACTTGTTGTGC -3'
CTI 1	Forward: 5'-TTGTCCCACTATTCCACCGC -3'
SILI promoter	Reverse: 5'-GGACAAAGTCGGACCCTTCA -3'
DDD) music star	Forward: 5'-ATCGGAGCTACTTTTCCGCA -3'
PRR2 promoter	Reverse: 5'-CCCCAATATGCTAACAGCCG -3'
CDE2	Forward: 5'-AACAATTGGCCCTCACCTCT -3'
GRE2 promoter	Reverse: 5'-ACTTCCGCGAGAAAATTCCGTA -3'
MDC2 managed and	Forward: 5'-CCCGCTTTTATTTCTCCCGC -3'
MPC3 promoter	Reverse: 5'-GAGCCTTTCGGTTTTGCGTG -3'
CED1 anometer	Forward: 5'-ACCACTGATTGCTCCACGTC -3'
SED1 promoter	Reverse: 5'-AATGACCGTGTGTGTGCTCTGG -3'
	Forward: 5'-CTGCATATGACGTCTGTTCTTC -3'
ALD3 promoter	Reverse: 5'-AAATGCACTAAAGGGCGTGG -3'
	Forward: 5'-CGCCGTATGCATGGGATGAT -3'
FSH1 promoter	Reverse: 5'-TCTTTGGCCTATGCGTGTTG -3'
Primers for quantitative	e RT-PCR analysis
	Forward: 5'-TGAAACCGCCGGAAGAAGTT -3'
SILI	Reverse: 5'-CCATGGTTGAGTGCCATCCT -3'
<u>מ</u> תת	Forward: 5'-CACCAGGAAAGCACAGTTGC -3'
PKR2	Reverse: 5'-TGATCCAGTTGAGACTGGCG -3'
MDC2	Forward: 5'-CCAACTTTGAAGTGGGGGGCT -3'
MPC3	Reverse: 5'-TGATGACAAACGACCAACGC -3'
DOUL	Forward: 5'-GGTGCCGCATTGTCCTCTAT -3'
FSHI	Reverse: 5'-CCAGGATGTTCTGGGTCTGG -3'
1001	Forward: 5'-TGGTGTTGACACCTTCTCCG -3'
ACOI	Reverse: 5'-TACCACGACCAGTTGCTTCC -3'
117 T A 1	Forward: 5'-TGAAGCTGCCACCACTGATT -3'
WIMI	Reverse: 5'-GTCGACAACAGAATCACCGC -3'
C A T I I	Forward: 5'-CGGTGATGTCGGTAAGGGTT -3'
SAHI	Reverse: 5'-TCGGTAACCAAGACACGAGC -3'

 Table 2 S 2: Oligonucleotide primers used in this study.

DEV2	Forward: 5'-CCGCTTCTTCAACCAGAGGT -3'
μημη μημηρική μημηριατική μημηριστική μημηριστική μημηριστική μημηριστική μημηρι	Reverse: 5'-TGAGCACCAACAGCCAAAGA -3'
TDA6	Forward: 5'-CGGAAACGCATATCCCCAGT -3'
IDAO	Reverse: 5'-GCGCCTTAGAGTTGTAGCCT -3'
CITI	Forward: 5'-AGCAACCGCTGTTAGAGGTG -3'
0111	Reverse: 5'-GGGTTGGAAACATTCGACGC -3'
PSC1	Forward: 5'-CTGACGGTTGCACAGTTTGG -3'
BSC1	Reverse: 5'-AATCGAAGGTGGTTGTCCCC -3'
CDC6	Forward: 5'-ATGGCCATCAAATTCGCAGC -3'
CDC0	Reverse: 5'-AGGTCACCCGTATTTCCAGC -3'
255	Forward: 5'- TCTAGCATTCAAGGTCCCATTC -3'
233	Reverse: 5'- CCCTTAGGACATCTGCGTTATC -3'

Table 2 S 3: List of peaks identified in ChIP-seq peak analysis for each of the four samplesover two replicates (Replicates 1 and 2). (XLSX file)https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007991.s009

Table 2 S 4: Annotated list of peaks that are present in both replicates for eachsample/analysis ("Overlapping Peak Sets"). (XLSX file)https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007991.s010

Table 2 S 5: Differential binding analysis (performed with DiffBind) at consensus peaks for pair-wise comparisons of ChIP-seq data sets. Data relates to Figure 2.6. (XLSX file) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007991.s011

Table 2 S 6: Numerical values for graphical data presented throughout, listed by figurenumber as separate sheets/tabs. (XLSX file)https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007991.s012

CHAPTER 3

ETHANOL STRESS STIMULATES SUMOYLATION OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR CST6 WHICH RESTRICTS EXPRESSION OF ITS TARGET GENES

Veroni S. Sri Theivakadadcham¹, and Emanuel Rosonina¹

Preprint in: bioRxiv 758607; doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/758607

¹Department of Biology, York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Author Contributions

Project planning and experimental design: V.S.S and E.R. Experiments and data acquisition: V.S.S. performed all experiments shown. Data analysis: Data was analyzed by V.S.S. with assistance from E.R. Writing – original draft: V.S.S. and E.R. Writing – review and editing: V.S.S. and E.R.

3.1 ABSTRACT

Sumovlation is an essential post-translational modification that functions in multiple cellular processes, including transcriptional regulation. Indeed, transcription factors represent one of the largest groups of proteins that are modified by the SUMO peptide. Multiple roles have been identified for sumoylation of transcription factors, including regulation of their activity, interaction with chromatin, and binding site selection. Here, we examine how Cst6, a bZIP-containing sequence-specific transcription factor in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, is regulated by sumoylation. Cst6 is required for survival during ethanol stress and has roles in the utilization of carbon sources other than glucose. We find that Cst6 is sumoylated to appreciable levels in normally growing yeast at Lys residues 139, 461 and 547, and that its sumoylation level increases in ethanol and oxidative stress conditions, but decreases if ethanol is used as the sole carbon source. To understand the role of Cst6 sumoylation during ethanol stress, we generated a yeast strain that expresses a non-sumoylatable mutant form of Cst6. Cellular levels of the mutant protein are moderately reduced compared to the wild-type form, implying that sumoylation promotes Cst6 stability. Although the mutant can bind DNA, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis shows that its occupancy level is significantly reduced on promoters of some ethanol stressregulated genes, suggesting that Cst6 recruitment is attenuated or delayed if it can not be sumoylated. Furthermore, impaired Cst6 sumoylation in the mutant strain correlates with elevated expression of some target genes, either constitutively or during induction by ethanol stress. This is most striking for *RPS3*, which shows dramatically increased expression in the mutant strain. Together, our results suggest that sumoylation controls multiple properties of Cst6 to limit the expression of its target genes.
3.2 INTRODUCTION

Transcription factors (TFs) maintain cellular functions by integrating external signal information into gene expression programs that are transmitted through signalling pathways. Often, these signalling pathways orchestrate the function of TFs through post-translational modifications (PTMs) including acetylation, phosphorylation, and ubiquitination [1]. In recent years, regulation of TFs by sumoylation has gained increased attention. Sumoylation, a reversible post-translational modification that plays an essential role in many cellular processes, involves the covalent attachment of a ~12 kDa SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier) peptide to specific lysine residues of substrate proteins [2, 3]. Similar to ubiquitination, sumovation is a dynamic process that requires catalysis by three classes of enzymes: activation of SUMO by an E1 enzyme, conjugation to target proteins by an E2 enzyme (Ubc9), and facilitation of transfer by E3 ligases [4]. In contrast to ubiquitination, in which E3 ubiquitin ligases are the primary determinants of substrate specificity, Ubc9 can directly specify its targets via the SUMO site consensus sequence $\Psi KxD/E$, where Ψ is a hydrophobic residue, K is the lysine to be modified, x is any amino acid, and D/E represents an acidic residue [5]. Sumovalation is a reversible modification, in which SUMO can be removed from substrate proteins by SUMO-specific isopeptidases (SUMO proteases), including a family of sentrin/SUMO-specific proteases (SENPs) in mammals and the Ubl- specific proteases (Ulp1 and Ulp2) in budding yeast [4, 6].

Proteomics studies, in which SUMO-conjugated proteins were isolated and identified through mass spectrometry, have determined that within the sumoylome of yeast and mammalian cells, proteins involved in transcription are among the largest classes of SUMO targets [7-10]. This includes TFs, RNA polymerase II, transcriptional co-regulators and a variety of chromatin regulatory factors. Among these, sequence specific DNA-binding TFs represent the largest group

of SUMO conjugates [11]. In most cases, sumoylation of these TFs has been found to associate with transcriptional repression or deactivation. This can be achieved by recruiting various repressor complexes to chromatin, as for TFs NFAT, Elk-1 and MafG [12-14], or by facilitating their clearance from promoters of induced genes, which is the case for TFs Gcn4 and c-Fos [15,16]. Genome-wide chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analyses showed that sumoylation-deficient forms of three human TFs, MITF, glucocorticoid receptor, and androgen receptor, occupied far more genomic sites than their wild-type counterparts [17-19]. Similarly, we recently demonstrated that the sumoylation of the budding yeast bZIP TF Sko1 is required to prevent it from binding to numerous non-target promoters [20]. Together, these observation have led to a model in which controlling binding-site specificity has been proposed as a conserved and general role for sumoylation in regulating TFs [21].

Whereas the studies mentioned above demonstrate that sumoylation can promote the dissociation of TFs from DNA at inappropriate genomic sites or during deactivation, for some TFs, sumoylation has been shown to facilitate their association with DNA. For example, sumoylation enhances the DNA-binding ability of Pax-6 and CREB1, thereby positively regulating transcription of their target genes [22, 23]. Furthermore, sumoylated proteins are detected at promoters of transcriptionally active genes, including constitutive and activated inducible genes, indicating that TF sumoylation can function during active transcription [24]. The individual effects of TF sumoylation, therefore, can vary with substrate and context, as sumoylation can function during the initial stages of transcription activation, during active transcription, during the deactivation process, or to promote transcriptional silencing.

To extend our understanding of TF sumoylation, we focused on the budding yeast bZIP TF, Cst6 (*Chromosome Stability-6*), which was identified as a potential SUMO target in large-scale proteomics studies [10, 25]. Cst6, also known as Aca2, is essential during ethanol stress and in the presence of non-optimal carbon sources [26, 27]. It contains a bZIP DNA binding domain, binds to DNA as a homodimer or a heterodimer with Aca1, another yeast bZIP TF, and it recognises cAMP response element (CRE)-like promoter sequences [27]. A recent study showed that the Cst6 binding site (5'-GTGACGT-3') has an additional guanine nucleotide at the 5' end of the consensus CRE motif (5'-TGACGT-3'), implying that it has a somewhat different binding site preference than other bZIP TFs [28]. Through genome-wide binding site analysis, the study also identified 59 protein-coding genes as putative targets for Cst6 regulation. Gene ontology (GO) analysis of these genes revealed that Cst6 controls different cellular processes including transcription, cellular respiration, gluconeogenesis, stress response, and pseudohyphal growth, signifying the importance of its function in budding yeast [28].

In the present study, we demonstrated that Cst6 is multi-sumoylated on three lysine residues (K139, K461, and K547), and that the level of its SUMO modification increases during ethanol and oxidative stress. Whereas the Cst6 sumoylation increases with increased duration and dose of ethanol stress, it is significantly reduced if ethanol is used as the sole carbon source in the medium. We further demonstrate that a mutant, non-sumoylatable form of Cst6 shows reduced or delayed association with its target promoters during ethanol stress. This might be partly explained by a moderate decrease in the abundance of Cst6 in the absence of its sumoylation. Finally, we find that the Cst6 mutant strain shows elevated expression of Cst6 target genes either constitutively, or during exposure to ethanol stress. Collectively, these results suggest that sumoylation enhances Cst6 binding to ethanol-induced target promoters to limit the transcription of its target genes.

3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Yeast strains

All *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains used in this study are listed in Table S1. Cst6 was epitopetagged with a 6xHA tag (along with a *K. lactis TRP1* marker gene) using homologous recombination, as previously described by Knop *et al.*, [29]. PCR-based point mutagenesis was used to generate strains expressing mutant forms of Cst6-HA. The Cst6-deleted strain was constructed using a *KanMX* deletion cassette, and all strains are derived from the W303a background strain.

Media and cultivation

Yeast cultures were grown overnight in either rich (1% yeast extract, 2% peptone and 2% glucose) or Synthetic Complete (SC; 0.17% YNB, and 0.5% ammonium sulfate) medium (containing either 2% glucose or 1% ethanol as carbon source, or as otherwise noted) at 30°C and diluted to an optical density (OD_{595nm}) of 0.2. Strains were then cultivated on a rotary shaker at 200 rpm until the OD reached 0.5-0.7 at which point, where appropriate, stressors were added directly to the culture as indicated in the figure captions or legends. Cells were then harvested by centrifugation at 3000 *g* for 5 min, followed by a wash with an experiment-specific buffer. For growth assays on agar plates ("spot assays"), approximately 10,000 cells of each strain were spotted side-by-side in the first position, and five-fold serial dilutions were spotted on adjacent positions, on plates with or without indicated stress conditions. Plates were incubated at 30°C and images were recorded daily for up to three days.

Preparation of yeast lysate and Immunoprecipitation (IP)

Yeast cultures (30-40 mL) were grown in appropriate liquid medium to an OD_{595nm} of 0.5-0.7. Cultures were then treated with stress conditions, if appropriate, and harvested by centrifugation, followed by a wash with IP buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 2.5 mg/mL N-ethylmaleimide, 0.1% Nonidet P-40 (NP40), 1X yeast protease inhibitor cocktail (BioShop), and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)). Cells were then broken up with glass beads in IP buffer containing 0.1 mM dithiothreitol for 30 min at 4°C with a 5 min ice incubation halfway through. The lysed materials were isolated from the beads and separated from cell debris by centrifugation three times at 14,000 g for 5 min. The soluble samples were either analyzed by immunoblot or used for IP. If proceeding with immunoblot experiments, the samples were diluted with an equal volume of 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffer (4% sodium dodecyl sulfate, SDS; 20% glycerol; Bromophenol Blue; 10% 2-Mercaptoethanol; and 140 mM Tris-HCl pH 8) and boiled for 4 min prior to analysis by the indicated immunoblots. For IP experiments, 50 µL yeast lysate was retained as input sample, and the remainder was incubated for 2 h with anti-HA agarose beads at 4°C. IPs were then washed three times with ice-cold IP buffer containing 0.1% NP40, and twice with IP buffer alone. Beads were then resuspended with 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffer and boiled for 4 min prior to analysis by the indicated immunoblots. Quantification of Cst6 sumoylation levels were obtained using ImageJ program. First, on the SUMO immunoblot, intensity of signals below the non-specific band were quantified, then these were normalized to the intensity of corresponding HA IP signals. Finally the normalized values plotted relative to the control (first) sample. Statistically significant differences, calculated using Student's t-test (P <0.05), are denoted with an asterisk on graphs.

Denatured immunoprecipitation (IP)

Denatured IP samples were prepared using a method previously described by Sri Theivakadadcham *et al.*,[20]. Briefly, 50 mL of yeast cultures were grown in rich medium, harvested by centrifugation, and washed with 20% Trichloroacetic acid (TCA). Lysed, precipitated and washed materials were resuspended with modified SDS buffer (60 mM Tris pH6.7, 5% 2-mercaptoethanol, 1% SDS, and few drops of bromophenol blue) prior to boiling for 5 min. These samples were then centrifuged to remove insoluble material. The supernatant was separated into a new tube and an aliquot (40 μ L) of this supernatant was retained as input sample and the remainder was diluted with denaturing IP buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, and 0.5% NP40) containing 0.5 mg/mL of bovine serum albumin. Diluted samples were then incubated overnight with anti-HA agarose beads at 4°C. The next day, IP samples were washed with ice-cold denaturing IP buffer. Beads were then resuspended with 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffer and boiled for 3 min prior to analysis by the indicated immunoblots.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

ChIP samples were prepared using a method previously described by Sri Theivakadadcham *et al.*, [20]. 50 mL yeast cultures were grown in rich medium and ethanol stress was induced by adding absolute ethanol to a final concentration of 5% for the indicated time points. Cells were then cross-linked with 1.1% of formaldehyde for 20 min, followed by 5 min of quenching with 282 mM of glycine and occasional mixing. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 3000 g for 5 min and washed twice with ice-cold TBS (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 and 150 mM NaCl). Washed samples were resuspended in cold ChIP buffer (50 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, and 0.1% sodium deoxycholate and 0.1% SDS) containing 1 mM PMSF

and 1X yeast protease inhibitor cocktail. Cells were disrupted and lysed with glass beads using a mini bead beater. The homogenized sample was isolated from glass beads and sonicated to obtain an average DNA fragment size of ~500 bp in length. Samples were then centrifuged for 5 min at 14, 000 g, and the supernatant was transferred to a new tube. Then, NaCl was added to the supernatant to a final concentration of 225 mM prior to overnight incubation with 15 µL of magnetic Protein G beads (Dynabeads, Thermo Fisher Scientific) pre-bound with 2 µg rabbit anti-HA (Novus). On the next day, IPs were washed with four different buffers for 4 min each in the following order: (1) ChIP buffer with 275 mM NaCl; (2) ChIP buffer with 500 mM NaCl; (3) 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 0.25 M LiCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40 and 0.5% sodium deoxycholate; Tris-EDTA buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8 and 1 mM EDTA). Washed beads (4) were then incubated in ChIP elution buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 10 mM EDTA and 1% SDS) for 20 min at 65°C. HA bound materials were isolated on a magnet stand and were then treated first with RNase for 30 min at 37°C and then again with proteinase K for 1 hour at 42°C. To reverse crosslinking, samples were incubated overnight at 65°C. Next day, DNA was purified and recovered using the GeneJet Gel Extraction Kit (Thermo Fisher). Purified DNA was used for quantitative PCR using primers listed in Table 3S2. Results from qPCR were normalized to an internal control gene, an untranscribed region of Chromosome V. Error bars represent the standard deviation of three replicates and the asterisks indicate a significant difference with P-values less than 0.05 obtained from a Student's *t*-test.

Isolation of RNA and reverse transcription (RT)

Yeast cultures (10 mL) were grown in rich medium and ethanol stress was induced by adding absolute ethanol to a final concentration of 5% for the indicated time points. RNA was isolated as previously reported [30]. Briefly, samples were harvested by centrifugation at 3000 g for 3 min and washed twice with chilled AE buffer (50 mM sodium acetate, pH 5.2 & 10 mM EDT A, pH 8.0) made with DEPC-treated RNase-free water. The pellet was resuspended with ice cold AE buffer and mixed with SDS, and phenol, pH 4.5. Samples were lysed using a freeze/thaw/vortex cycle twice. First the samples were chilled in a dry ice/ethanol bath slurry mixture (freezing step) for 5 min and then transferred to a 65° C water bath (thawing step) for 5 min, followed by vortex for 30 s. Samples were kept in the dry ice/ethanol bath for a final 5 min before centrifuging at 14, 000 g for 7 min at room temperature. RNA was precipitated using the aqueous layer. The isolated RNA was subjected to DNAse treatment followed by cDNA synthesis using the iScript reverse transcriptase (Bio-Rad). Quantitative PCR was performed using primers listed in Table 3S2. mRNA levels were normalized to an internal loading control, 25S rRNA. Error bar represents the standard deviation of three replicates and the asterisks indicate a significant difference with Pvalues less than 0.05 obtained from a Student's *t*-test.

3.4 RESULTS

Cst6 is sumoylated during normal growth

In large-scale proteomics studies, Cst6 was identified as a putative SUMO target [10, 25]. In order to confirm Cst6 sumoylation, we epitope tagged CST6 with a 6xHA tag using homologous recombination in the common lab yeast strain W303a. The presence of the HA tags had no effect on cell growth as confirmed by a spot assay performed under several growth conditions (Figure 3S1A and B). Cst6-6HA was then immunoprecipitated (IPed) using an HA antibody from cell lysate, prepared in the presence of *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM), an inhibitor of SUMO proteases, which was then analyzed by SUMO and HA immunoblotting. Supporting that Cst6 is sumoylated, bands were detected on the SUMO immunoblot for the Cst6-6HA IP (Figure 3.1A). As a positive control, Cst6-6HA sumoylation levels were compared alongside another bZIP TF, Sko1, which is known to be polysumoylated during non-stress conditions [20]. In addition to Sko1-6HA or Cst6-6HA-specific bands, a band of variable intensity was detected at ~250 kDa in the SUMO immunoblots of HA IPs (arrow in Figure 3.1A and throughout). Because it is also detected in control HA IPs from lysates lacking HA-fused proteins (Figure 3.1A and see Figure 3.4B), we believe that this band corresponds to a sumoylated protein that non-specifically co-purifies during native IPs. Like for Sko1, multiple SUMO-specific bands were detected for Cst6, including a major band and multiple fainter higher molecular weight bands, which is likely the result of multi- or polysumoylation (Figure 3.1A). To further validate that these bands are due to conjugation of SUMO with Cst6, lysates were prepared in the absence of NEM, in which the level of sumovlation is expected to be reduced significantly due to the uninhibited activity of SUMO proteases. Indeed, in the absence of NEM, Cst6 sumoylation is undetectable (Figure 3S1C, compare lanes 1 and 2). In Cst6-6HA IPs, two bands are observed on long-exposed HA immunoblots: an intense band slightly below 100 kDa, which corresponds to unmodified Cst6-6HA, and a fainter higher band that co-migrates with the major sumoylated form of Cst6 (~125 kDa) seen on the SUMO immunoblot (indicated by an asterisk on Figures 3.1A and 3S1C). Supporting that this band corresponds to sumoylated Cst6, it is not detected when the IP experiment is performed in the absence of NEM (Figure 3S1C).

Additional experiments were performed to confirm Cst6 sumoylation. To eliminate the possibility that bands observed in the SUMO blot are derived from sumoylated proteins that co-IPed with Cst6, lysates were prepared under denaturing conditions prior to IP. Cellular proteins were extracted with trichloroacetic acid (TCA), treated with sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), and boiled before IPing with HA-conjugated beads. Under these conditions, Cst6 sumovlation was still detected, as observed in the SUMO and HA blots in Figure 3.1B, which indicates that the signal observed in the SUMO immunoblot is due to SUMO-conjugated Cst6. As a final method to confirm Cst6 sumovlation, we used a strain in which Ubc9, the sole SUMO conjugating enzyme, is fused to an "anchor away" tag that causes its translocation from the nucleus to the cytoplasm when cells are exposed to rapamycin [31], thereby conditionally blocking nuclear sumovlation events. In the presence of rapamycin, the level of global sumoylation is dramatically reduced, as seen in the SUMO blot of denatured lysate inputs (Figure 3.1C). Cst6-6HA was IPed using an HA antibody from lysates of cultures treated with or without rapamycin and analyzed by HA and SUMO immunoblots. Sumoylation of Cst6 was abolished after rapamycin treatment, further confirming that the TF Cst6 is a target for sumoylation in normally growing yeast (Figure 3.1C).





Figure 3.1: bZIP transcription factor Cst6 is sumoylated. (A) Detection of Cst6 sumoylation using immunoprecipitation (IP) with lysates prepared in non-denaturing conditions. 6HA-tagged Sko1 and Cst6 were IPed using HA-conjugated beads from cell lysates prepared in the presence of N-ethylmaleimide (NEM) and analyzed by immunoblot with HA or SUMO antibodies, as indicated. 'No tag' refers to a sample from the parental strain (*W303a*) expressing no HA-tagged proteins, used as a negative control. Sko1 is a known SUMO target [20] and was used as a positive control. (B) Sumoylation of Cst6 detected by IP from protein extracts prepared under denaturing conditions. Extracts were generated by TCA precipitation, treated with SDS, and boiled before IPing with HA conjugated beads. Extracts were analyzed by immunoblot with the antibodies indicated. (C) Cst6 sumoylation is abolished when Ubc9 is conditionally removed from the nucleus. Cst6-6HA was IPed from a Ubc9 anchor away strain using an HA antibody from lysates prepared from cells treated with or without rapamycin for 30 min. Sumoylation levels were determined by IP-immunoblot analysis, as in *A*. Red asterisk (*) indicates the position of SUMO-modified Cst6-6HA on HA blots. Arrow indicates the position a non-specific, co-purifying protein detected on SUMO blots.

Cst6 sumoylation increases during oxidative and ethanol stress conditions

Numerous studies have reported the importance of sumoylation in maintaining cell homeostasis during environmental stress (e.g. [32, 33]). Cst6 is part of the stress-responsive transcriptional regulatory network and it was previously shown to be involved in regulating transcription during ethanol, oxidative and heat shock stress [27, 28, 34, 35]. To explore the effect of stress on Cst6 sumoylation, we examined its sumoylation levels by IP-immunoblot in lysates derived from cells grown under different stress conditions (Figures 3.2A and B). Cst6 sumoylation is significantly increased during ethanol and oxidative stress conditions and reduced during osmotic stress, while no change was observed during amino acid starvation or heat shock. Cst6 sumoylation during ethanol stress was further confirmed with additional IP experiments in which NEM was included or excluded. As shown in Figure 3S1C, Cst6 sumoylation increases with ethanol stress in samples prepared in the presence of NEM and it is abolished in its absence (compare lanes 1, 3 and 4). Our data demonstrates that sumoylation of Cst6 increases during ethanol and oxidative stress, and further experiments were performed to investigate the role that sumoylation plays in regulating Cst6 function in these conditions.

Previous studies on Cst6 highlighted its importance for cell growth in the presence of alternative carbon sources [27, 28]. Typically, lab yeast strains are grown in media containing glucose, but other carbon sources, such as glycerol, ethanol, and raffinose, can be used as alternatives. Ethanol, therefore, can serve as a carbon source, or as a stress condition when used at high concentrations in the presence of glucose as a carbon source. In the absence of Cst6, cells grow poorly in alternative carbon sources, including ethanol [27, 28]. We wished to investigate whether the level of Cst6 sumoylation changes with different types of media and carbon sources used for growth.

To test this, we grew the Cst6-6HA strain in SC (Synthetic Complete) or rich medium that was supplemented with either 2% glucose or 1% ethanol as a carbon source, and cells were then treated with or without a stress condition, as indicated on Figure 3.2C. Cells were lysed and Cst6-6HA was then IPed and analyzed by HA and SUMO immunoblots. Strikingly, the level of Cst6 sumoylation was significantly lower when grown in ethanol versus glucose (Figures 3.2C and D), which might reflect the lower levels of global sumoylation observed when ethanol is the sole carbon source (3S2A). As expected, Cst6 sumoylation levels were significantly increased when cells grown in rich, glucose-containing medium were exposed to ethanol stress, but oxidative stress did not show a statistically significant effect on yeast grown in ethanol-containing medium (Figures 3.2C and D). In summary, normally growing yeast display a basal level of Cst6 sumoylation that can be increased by ethanol or oxidative stress, or decreased if ethanol is used as the sole carbon source. Based on these results, we proceeded to investigate what role sumoylation plays in regulating Cst6 function during non-stress and ethanol stress conditions using rich, glucose-containing medium.





Figure 3.2: Sumovlation level of Cst6 is elevated during oxidative and ethanol stress. (A) Cells expressing Cst6-6HA were treated with the indicated stressors for 20 min and Cst6 sumoylation levels were determined by IP-immunoblot, as in Figure 3.1A. The following stress conditions were used: 0.5 µg/mL of sulfometuron methyl (SM), which induces amino acid starvation; 0.4 M NaCl for osmotic stress; 100 mM H₂O₂ for oxidative stress; 37°C for heat shock; and 5% ethanol (EtOH) for ethanol stress. (B) Quantification of Cst6 sumoylation levels for analysis shown in A. On the SUMO immunoblot, the intensity of signals below the non-specific bands were quantified using ImageJ, normalized to the HA IP signal intensities, then plotted relative to the first sample. (C) Cells were grown in SC or rich media containing either 2% glucose (Glu) or 1% ethanol as a carbon source, then treated with or without stress (100 mM H2O2 for cells grown in ethanol-containing medium or 5% ethanol for cells grown in glucose-containing medium) for 20 min. Sumovlation levels were determined by IP-immunoblot as in Figure 3.1A. (D) Quantification of Cst6 sumovlation levels for analysis shown in C. Red asterisk (*) indicates the position of SUMO-modified Cst6 on HA immunoblot. Arrows refer to a non-specific band on the SUMO blots. Error bars represent standard deviation of three independent experiments. Significant differences between the non-stress and the stress samples under each media conditions were calculated using Student's t-test (*, P < 0.05; n/s, not significant).

To determine whether the effect of ethanol stress on Cst6 sumoylation levels is dose-dependent, we treated the Cst6-6HA strain with different concentrations of ethanol for 20 mins. Cells were then lysed, IPed and analyzed by HA and SUMO immunoblots. Indeed, Cst6 sumoylation was elevated with increased concentrations of ethanol (Figures 3.3A and B). This might at least partly be due to an increase in global sumoylation that occurs with exposure to up to 7.5% ethanol (Figures 3S2B and C). Next, we examined whether Cst6 sumoylation is dependent on the exposure time for treatment with ethanol. Sumoylation levels were determined from Cst6-6HA-expressing cells treated with 5% ethanol for a range of times. As shown in Figures 3.3C and D, Cst6 sumoylation levels increased with prolonged exposure to ethanol stress. Based on these results, and conditions commonly used by others, further ethanol stress treatments were performed at 5% for 20 min.





С





Figure 3.3: Cst6 sumoylation level during ethanol stress is dependent on the dose and duration of stress exposure. (A) Cst6 sumoylation is elevated with increasing concentrations of ethanol exposure. Cells expressing Cst6-6HA were treated with the indicated concentrations of ethanol for 20 mins and then sumoylation levels were determined as in Figure 3.1A. (B) Quantification analysis of Cst6 sumoylation levels for *A* as in Figure 3.2B. (C) Cst6 sumoylation is increased with prolonged ethanol stress. 6HA-tagged cells were treated with 5% ethanol for indicated time points and then the sumoylation levels were characterized as in Figure 3.1A. (D) Quantification analysis of Cst6 sumoylation levels for *C* as in Figure 3.2B. Red asterisk (*) indicates SUMO modified Cst6 on HA immunoblot. Arrows indicate non-specific bands on SUMO blots. Error bars represent standard deviation of three independent experiments. Significant differences between the non-stress sample and with each stress conditions were calculated using Student's *t*-test (*, P < 0.05; n/s, not significant).

Cst6 is sumoylated on lysine residues 139, 461 and 547

Using SUMO site prediction software (GPS-SUMO, SUMOplot, and JASSA), we identified three putative SUMO sites for Cst6: K139, K461, and K547, all of which fall within SUMO site consensus motifs (Figure 3.4A) [36, 37]). K139 is situated just upstream of the Aca-specific region (a region identical in Aca1 and Aca2/Cst6 [27]), K461 is found within the bZIP domain, and K547 is at the C-terminus of Cst6. To determine whether these are actual sumoylation sites, we generated yeast strains expressing Lys-to-Arg substitution mutants of all three putative SUMO sites, since Arg cannot be sumoylated (strains Cst6-K139R-6HA, Cst6-K461R-6HA and Cst6-K547R-6HA). We used IP-immunoblot to determine sumovlation levels and found that the individual K139R or K547R mutations decreased Cst6 sumoylation more than the K461R mutation, but they did not completely abolish Cst6 sumoylation (Figures 3.4B and C). Therefore, we generated double-("D.MT"; Cst6-K461,547R-6HA) and triple-mutant ("T.MT"; Cst6-K139,461,547R-6HA) strains to assess their effects on Cst6 sumoylation. The D.MT mutations partially reduced Cst6 sumoylation, whereas the T.MT mutations abolished sumoylation of Cst6 under normal and ethanol-stress conditions (Figures 3.4B, C, and 3S1C, lanes 5-8). These results strongly suggest that Cst6 is sumoylated at all three lysines and, therefore, Cst6 is multi-sumoylated. The T.MT strain (hereafter referred to as Cst6 MT), alongside the CST6-6HA strain (hereafter referred to as Cst6 WT), were then used to explore roles for Cst6 sumoylation.



Α



117

Figure 3.4: Cst6 is multi-sumoylated at K139, K461 and K547 during non-stress and ethanol stress conditions. (A) Schematic diagram of Cst6 indicating the Aca-specific region and basic leucine Zipper (bZIP) domain. Putative SUMO sites on Cst6 were identified as lysine residues 139, 461 and 547 using SUMO site prediction software and are indicated with the encompassing SUMO consensus motifs. (B) Cst6 is sumoylated on all three putative SUMO sites during non-stress and ethanol stress conditions. Using site-directed Lys-to-Arg mutagenesis, SUMO-site mutant strains of Cst6 [*Cst6-K139R, Cst6-K461R, Cst6-K547R, Cst6-K461,547R (D.MT), and Cst6-K139,461,547R (T.MT)*] were generated. Sumoylation levels of "No tag", Cst6-6HA (WT), and the mutants were characterized as in Figure 3.1A. (C) Quantification of Cst6 sumoylation levels for *B* as in Figure 3.2B. Red asterisk (*) indicates the SUMO modified Cst6 on HA blot. Arrows indicate non-specific bands on SUMO blots. Error bars represent standard deviation of two independent experiments.

Sumoylation of Cst6 is not essential for cell viability but plays a minor role in its stability

To study whether sumoylation of Cst6 has a role in cell fitness, a spot assay was conducted. Supporting previous studies, cells lacking Cst6 showed a growth defect during ethanol stress, when glucose was the carbon source (Figure 3.5A; [27, 28]). However, under either non-stress conditions or when exposed to different concentrations of ethanol, no growth defect was observed for Cst6 MT, implying that sumoylation of Cst6 is not essential for cell viability or survival during ethanol stress (Figure 3.5A). In addition, we compared growth levels on medium in which ethanol (either 1% or 3%) was the carbon source. Deletion of *CST6* led to severe growth defects, but the Cst6 *MT* strain once again grew as well as the Cst6 *WT* strain, and addition of hydrogen peroxide, to induce oxidative stress, had no effect (Figure 3.5B). These results together indicate that sumoylation of Cst6 is not essential for cell viability or fitness under any of the tested growth conditions.

Next, we examined whether ethanol stress or sumoylation affect Cst6 protein abundance. Cell lysates were prepared from cells treated with different concentrations of ethanol for both *WT* and *MT* strains and we analyzed Cst6 levels by HA immunoblot. Increasing ethanol concentration correlated with decreased abundance of Cst6, suggesting that Cst6 is degraded during ethanol stress (Figures 3.5C and D). Interestingly, there appears to be an inverse correlation between the level of Cst6 sumoylation and its abundance (see also Figures 3.3A and B). In conditions where sumoylation of Cst6 increases, protein levels of Cst6 are reduced, suggesting that sumoylation is involved in Cst6 protein stability. To explore this, we compared Cst6 protein levels in the *WT* and *MT* strain after exposure to increasing levels of ethanol. As shown in Figures 3.5C and D, Cst6 MT also becomes less abundant with increased ethanol stress, but the level of Cst6 MT is consistently less than the level of Cst6 WT, ranging from ~25% less in the absence of ethanol to

~49% less in the presence of 10% ethanol. Whereas sumoylation is not needed for the ethanoldependent reduction in Cst6 protein levels, our data suggests that Cst6 sumoylation plays a role in enhancing its stability in normal and ethanol stress conditions.





Figure 3.5: Sumoylation of Cst6 is not essential for cell viability but influences its abundance. (A) Cst6 sumoylation is not essential for cell viability during ethanol stress on medium containing 2% glucose. Cell growth fitness was assessed on glucose-containing rich-medium plates, under non-stress and indicated ethanol stress conditions, using the spot assay technique with a five-fold serial dilution series. Plates were then incubated for two days at 30°C. (B) Cst6 sumoylation is not essential for cell viability when ethanol is the carbon source. Cell growth was assessed on ethanol-containing rich-medium plates under non-stress and oxidative stress conditions, by spot assay. Plates were incubated for two days at 30°C. (C) Cst6 abundance is reduced when its sumoylation sites are mutated. Lysates (from cells expressing Cst6-6HA) treated with the indicated percentages of ethanol for 20 min were analyzed by HA and GAPDH immunoblots. (D) Quantification analysis of Cst6 levels for *C*. Intensity of HA signals were normalized to corresponding GAPDH signals, then plotted relative to the first sample. Red asterisk (*) indicates the SUMO modified form of Cst6 on the HA blot. Error bars represent standard deviation of three independent experiments.

Sumoylation enhances Cst6 promoter binding and restricts expression of its target genes

Sumoylation of bZIP TFs can function in both promoter clearance (e.g. c-Fos, Gcn4 and Sko1; [15, 16, 20]) and enhancing DNA binding (e.g. CREB1; [23]). Therefore, it is possible that sumoylation of Cst6 plays a role in regulating its association or dissociation with promoters of its target genes. To investigate this, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) was used to compare the occupancy levels of Cst6 WT and Cst6 MT on ethanol-induced target promoters. The occupancy levels of Cst6-WT significantly increased during ethanol stress on all the target genes tested, except on the control gene PMA1, which is not a target of Cst6 (Figure 3.6A). Cst6 MT was also recruited to Cst6 target genes during ethanol stress but showed significantly reduced occupancy compared to WT after 15 min of ethanol stress at three of the tested genes (PYC1, YAP6, and RPS3). Although efforts were made to match conditions and timing between replicate experiments, there were significant deviations in Cst6 occupancy levels among the replicates, which hampered determination of statistical significance between Cst6 WT and MT occupancy for other genes and time points. Nonetheless, comparing the occupancy patterns of WT and MT suggests that recruitment of non-sumoylatable Cst6 is generally delayed and/or attenuated on target genes, which implies that sumovlation is important for the timely association of Cst6 with target promoters during ethanol stress.

To further study the effect of Cst6 sumoylation on gene expression, we investigated how sumoylation might regulate transcription of Cst6 target genes. The majority of initial studies on roles for sumoylation in regulating TFs pointed to roles for the modification in transcription silencing [12-16], whereas other studies then demonstrated roles for SUMO modification in transcriptional activation (e.g. CREB1 and Pax6 [22, 23]). To determine whether sumoylation of Cst6 is important for repression or activation of target genes, quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)

analysis was performed on RNA isolated from the *Cst6 WT* and *Cst6 MT* strains. As seen in Figure 3.6B, the expression of various Cst6 target genes differs during ethanol stress. For example, although transcription of *NCE103*, *YAP6*, and *HAP4* was induced, the transcription of *ACC1* and *RPS3* was reduced, and no changes were observed for *ROX1*. In the *Cst6 MT* strain, expression patterns for most genes paralleled the patterns seen for *Cst6 WT*, with notable exceptions. Some genes showed elevated mRNA levels during later time points after exposure to ethanol stress (*NCE103, ROX1* and *ACC1*), some showed elevated levels during non-stress conditions (*ACC1* and *RPS3*), and some did not show significant differences (*YAP6*, and *HAP4*) (Figure 3.6B). Strikingly, *RPS3* showed dramatically elevated mRNA levels at all the indicated time points, suggesting that Cst6 sumoylation plays a major role in repressing expression of this gene. Overall, these results indicate that blocking Cst6 sumoylation affects expression of target genes and suggests that Cst6 sumoylation has a general repressive effect that is observed differentially at different targets.



(0.036)

RPS3

(0.013)

2.5

1.5 *

0.5

(0.001)

Time post induction (min; 5% EtOH)

YAP6

 1.5

0.5

HAP4

Figure 3.6: Sumoylation enhances Cst6 promoter binding and restricts expression of some target genes. (A) Quantitative HA ChIP analysis of Cst6 WT and Cst6 MT occupancy levels on its ethanol stress-regulated target gene promoters after induction with 5% ethanol for indicated times. Gene occupancy signals were normalized to an internal control, an untranscribed region of Chromosome V. (B) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis was performed on RNA isolated from *CST6 WT* and *Cst6 MT* strains. Cells were treated with 5% ethanol and harvested after the indicated time points. mRNA levels were normalized to levels of the 25S rRNA. Error bars represent standard deviation of three replicates. Significant differences between Cst6 WT and Cst6 MT under each tested condition were determined by Student's *t*-test (*, P < 0.05).

3.5 DISCUSSION

Extending our previous work on Gcn4 and Sko1, we have now shown that another bZIP TF, Cst6, is also regulated by sumoylation in budding yeast [16, 20]. Gcn4 expression (and consequently, its sumoylation) is dependent on amino acid starvation, but like Sko1, a fraction of Cst6 molecules is sumoylated during normal growth conditions, suggesting that the modification regulates properties of the TF not related to stress. However, Cst6 sumoylation increases with exposure to stress, specifically ethanol and oxidative stress, which we did not observe for Sko1. Environmental stressors such as osmotic stress, oxidative stress, heat shock and ethanol stress lead to a dramatic increase in the level of protein sumoylation in mammalian, yeast and plant cells, but it is not fully understood how elevated sumoylation of specific target proteins affects their stress-related functions [38-41]. As the level of Cst6 sumoylation during ethanol stress was dependent on the dose and the duration of the stress, this provided us with an opportunity to examine how increased sumoylation might regulate properties of Cst6 during stress. Indeed, our analysis indicates that elevated sumoylation after ethanol stress likely promotes Cst6 recruitment or accumulation at target gene promoters and ensures that expression of its targets is not excessive.

Controlling the association of TFs with chromatin is a frequently reported function for sumoylation [11]. For some TFs, sumoylation was shown to occur specifically after they bind to target promoters and the modification facilitates their subsequent removal from DNA, thereby enabling gene deactivation or restricting expression levels (e.g. Gcn4, Ikaros, and Sko1; [16, 20, 42]). As mentioned above, however, in other cases, sumoylation promotes the interaction of TFs with DNA (e.g. CREB1 and Pax6 [22, 23]). As our ChIP analyses demonstrate that a sumoylation-deficient form of Cst6 can be recruited to DNA, sumoylation is not required for Cst6 to bind to its target promoters. However, our results support a role for sumoylation in enhancing the association of

Cst6 with its binding sites. For one, as Cst6 sumoylation increases during exposure to ethanol stress, the levels of DNA-bound Cst6 also increase. Secondly, sumoylation-blocking mutations in Cst6 result in reduced chromatin occupancy at some target promoters.

As one possible mechanism for promoting the association of Cst6 with chromatin, sumoylation might increase its affinity for DNA through conformational changes or by promoting homodimerization or interactions with other proximal DNA binding transcriptional factors. In support of this, one of the Cst6 sumoylation sites that we identified, K461, is predicted to lie adjacent to the hydrophobic face of the leucine zipper region of its bZIP domain, which enables dimerization [43]. Phosphorylation of an analogous position of the leucine zipper of C/EBP β is believed to enhance homodimerization, but more analysis is needed to explore how addition of a SUMO moiety at this residue affects pairing of Cst6 units, or heterodimerization with its paralog, Aca1 [27, 44]. In an alternative mechanism for promoting increased Cst6 occupancy on DNA, sumoylation might enhance Cst6 stability, as has been shown for TFs Delta-Lactoferrin and NPHP7 [45, 46]. Indeed, our finding that Cst6 protein levels are reduced when its sumoylation sites are mutated supports this idea. In any case, whether through an active role in promoting its interaction with DNA, or through a less direct role in inhibiting its degradation, our study points to an important function for sumovalition in ensuring that high levels of Cst6 occupy its target gene promoters rapidly after exposure to ethanol stress.

Although Cst6 binds dozens of gene promoters in the presence of ethanol, the effect of Cst6 binding on their expression is gene dependent. For example, during ethanol stress, compared to wild-type cells, *NCE103* expression is dramatically reduced while *RPS3* expression is elevated in cells lacking Cst6 [28]. Our analysis demonstrates, however, that impairing Cst6 sumoylation has

a consistent effect on elevating transcription levels, wherever an effect was observed. This might reflect reduced occupancy levels for the sumoylation-deficient Cst6 mutant, suggesting that appropriate levels of Cst6 are normally needed to prevent excessive expression of targets. However, in normal conditions (i.e. time zero for the ethanol stress time course), we detected approximately equal levels of Cst6 WT and MT on the *RPS3* promoter, but expression of the gene was dramatically derepressed in a strain in which Cst6 cannot be sumoylated (Figure 3.6A and B). This points to a more direct role for sumoylation of Cst6 in inhibiting transcription. As with multiple metazoan TFs that are sumoylated, SUMO can directly impair transcription by promoting interactions with transcriptional corepressors, particularly histone deacetylase complexes [11, 47]. Future studies will be key for understanding how sumoylation affects the molecular properties of Cst6, including its dimerization and interactions with other proteins and DNA, that lead to its transcriptionally repressive effects. Taken together, our study on Cst6 sumoylation provides further evidence that the modification controls the association of TFs with chromatin and fine-tunes transcription levels of target genes.

3.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR; grant number MOP-142282) to E.R.

3.7 SUPPLMENTARY DATA



С



Figure 3 S 1: (A) Presence of HA tag does not affect growth in rich media containing glucose as the carbon source. Cell growth of Cst6-6HA and parent strains was assessed on glucosecontaining, rich medium plates under non-stress and indicated ethanol stress conditions by spot assay. Plates were incubated two days at 30°C. **(B) Presence of HA tag does not affect growth in rich media containing ethanol as the carbon source.** Growth fitness was assessed by spot assay on media containing either 1% or 3% ethanol as the sole carbon source, in the absence or presence of oxidative stress (1 mM H₂O₂). Plates were incubated for two days at 30°C. **(C) Cst6 sumoylation is detected in samples prepared with NEM and with intact lysine residues 139, 461 and 547.** Cst6-6HA WT and Cst6-6HA MT were IPed using HA-conjugated beads from cell lysates prepared with or without NEM and analyzed by HA and SUMO immunoblots. The experiment was also performed in the presence and absence of 5% ethanol stress, where indicated. Red asterisk (*) indicates the SUMO modified form of Cst6 on the HA blot.




Strain	Parental	Genotype
Background Strain		
W303a (YER023)		MAT a ura3-52 trp1∆2 leu2-3_112 his3-11 ade2-1 can1-100
Derived Strains		
YVS003C	W303a	SKO1-6HA::kl TRP1
YVS004A1	W303a	CST6-6HA::kl TRP1
YVS064G	W303a	cst6-K139R-6HA:: kl TRP1
YVS060C	W303a	cst6-K461R-6HA:: kl TRP1
YVS061D	W303a	cst6-K547R-6HA:: kl TRP1
YVS063C	W303a	cst6-K461,547R-6HA:: kl TRP1
YVS065C	W303a	cst6-K139,461,547R-6HA:: kl TRP1
YVS062A	W303a	cst6∆∷kanMX

Table 3 S 1: Yeast strains used in this study

 Table 3 S 2: Oligonucleotide primers used in this study.

Gene	Oligonucleotide sequence(s)		
Primers for quantitative PCR analysis of ChIP samples			
NCE102 menuter	Forward: 5'-CGTTCGTTCCCGTTTCGATG-3'		
NCE103 promoter	Reverse: 5'-CGGCTTGATAAGCGTCATGG-3'		
DVC1 momenter	Forward: 5'-CTTAGACAAGCGCCAGTTGC-3'		
PICI promoter	Reverse: 5'-CACTGCGGAAAAGGCCAAAA-3'		
VADC managements a	Forward: 5'-CTCCCACAGTCACGATGAGC-3'		
TAPO promoter	Reverse: 5'-TAGTCTCAACGGCTGTGCAT-3'		
DDC2 magazites	Forward: 5'-GCAGGCATAAGATGCATAGCG-3'		
KPSS promoter	Reverse: 5'-TCAAAAGCATCATGCGGCG-3'		
ACC1 promotor	Forward: 5'-GCATGCATCGACGTCACAGT-3'		
ACC1 promoter	Reverse: 5'-CTAGTCGCAGTCGTGGTGAC-3'		
DMA1 momenter	Forward: 5'-CAATTATGACCGGTGACGAAAC-3'		
PMA1 promoter	Reverse: 5'-AATCGAAACTAATGGAGGGGAG-3'		
CUDV waters a series of an arise	Forward: 5'-CATTATCCGTAACGCCACTTT-3'		
CHRV untranscribed region	Reverse: 5'-CGATCTTAGTTCCAATGGTGAAA-3'		
Primers for quantitative RT-PCR analysis			
NCE102	Forward: 5'-ACCCTACTGTGCAAACTGCT-3'		
NCE103	Reverse: 5'-GCAGTAGACCGTCCTCTACG-3'		
DOVI	Forward: 5'-GTCCACAACTACCCCTACGC-3'		
ROXI	Reverse: 5'-TAGCGGTGACCTCAGTGTTG-3'		
1001	Forward: 5'-TCCAGAAGATGTCGAAGCCG-3'		
ACCI	Reverse: 5'-TCAAGGCACGCAATGGTACT-3'		
ממ	Forward: 5'-TCTGGTCAACCAGTCAACGAC-3'		
KP 55	Reverse: 5'-AGCCTTTGGACCAGTTCTGC-3'		
VADA	Forward: 5'-GGACTTCCGAACCAGAGCAT-3'		
IAPO	Reverse: 5'-GGTATTGCGAGATGGGAGGG-3'		
	Forward: 5'-GTATTGACGGTAGTGCCGGT-3'		
ΠΑΓ4	Reverse: 5'-TGGTGGCAGTTGCATCATTG-3'		
255	Forward: 5'- TCTAGCATTCAAGGTCCCATTC-3'		
230	Reverse: 5'- CCCTTAGGACATCTGCGTTATC-3'		

CHAPTER 4

SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

4.1 SUMMARY

Since the discovery of sumoylation as a post-translational modification, multiple studies have observed abnormal levels of sumoylation in cells from patients with cancer, Huntington's, and Alzheimer's diseases [1]. In an attempt to study the functions of sumoylation, researchers have found that TFs are one the largest classes of SUMO substrates [2]. Recently, multiple studies have focused on identifying the role sumoylation plays in regulating TFs in mammals and yeast cells. My investigation focused on finding the function of sumoylation in regulating two gene-specific bZIP TFs Sko1 and Cst6, in *S. cerevisiae*.

4.1.1 Yeast transcription factor Sko1 is regulated by sumoylation

Recent studies on TF sumoylation suggested that sumoylation is involved in transcriptional repression, partly by reducing the association of TFs with chromatin [2, 3]. To investigate whether this was a general role of sumoylation in regulating TFs, part of my dissertation focused on identifying roles for sumoylation in regulating Sko1 function.

Sko1 is a bZIP TF that binds to promoters containing CRE-like sequences as a homodimer [4-6]. It plays a unique bi-functional role in transcription: during normal growth, it represses the transcription of some osmotic and oxidative stress-inducible genes and upon stress, it activates the transcription of stress defense genes. Its transcriptional repressor function is dependent on the recruitment of Tup1 and Cyc8 co-repressor complex to its target promoters [4-6]. The switch from being a repressor to an activator during osmotic stress relies specifically on Hog1 MAP kinases-

dependent recruitment of the co-activator SAGA, SWI/SNF nucleosome remodeling complexes and RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) to induce transcription of target genes [4-6]. Sko1 was identified as a SUMO substrate in large scale proteomic studies, but the relevance of this modification on Sko1 has not been reported [7-9]. Considering the function of Sko1 during nonstress and osmotic stress conditions, we studied the functional importance of Sko1 sumoylation under these growth conditions.

In this study, we discovered that Sko1 is poly-sumoylated at Lys 567 and the sumoylation levels were unchanged when cells were exposed to different stress conditions, including osmotic stress. This indicates that sumoylation of Sko1 was involved in functions that are unrelated to stress response. To investigate whether Sko1 sumoylation plays a role in cell viability, we performed growth test under non-stress and with different osmotic stressors. Under tested conditions, the SUMO mutant form of Sko1 (*sko1-MT: sko1-K567R*) strain grew similar to the wildtype (*SKO1-WT*) strain indicating that sumoylation of Sko1 is not essential for yeast cell viability. Moreover, Sko1 sumoylation is not important for the protein stability as the protein levels of both Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT were approximately the same, even in the presence of 0.4M NaCl.

Apart from being sumoylated, Sko1 was previously known to be phosphorylated by PKA and Hog1 kinases [4-6]. Numerous studies have shown the codependence or interference between post-translation modifications [2]. Therefore, we next attempted to study the possible cross-talk between Sko1 phosphorylation and its sumoylation. Sko1, with phospho-site mutant forms of either PKA or Hog1, was modified by SUMO under the tested growth conditions, indicating that sumoylation of Sko1 occurs independent of its prior phosphorylation. Next, we tested whether Sko1 phosphorylation is dependent on its prior sumoylation and to test this, a mobility shift

experiment was conducted. The Sko1 migration pattern on SDS-PAGE gel was slightly higher in samples collected after the addition of 0.4 M NaCl, due to its phosphorylation by Hog1 [5]. This shift in migration was compared between Sko1-WT and Sko1-MT during non-stress and osmotic stress conditions. It was noted that the migration patterns of Sko1-MT were similar to Sko1-WT, even during osmotic stress, suggesting that prior sumoylation of Sko1 is not important for its phosphorylation by Hog1. Together, these results indicates that post-translational modifications on Sko1 are independent of each other.

To investigate whether sumoylation plays a role in regulating Sko1 association with DNA, we first tested whether DNA binding is a requirement for Sko1 sumoylation. To do this, we generated DNA-binding mutant forms of Sko1 and checked their ability to get sumoylated. The DNA-binding mutant forms of Sko1 were unable to get sumoylated, implying that DNA binding is necessary, and that Sko1 sumoylation takes place after binding to its target promoters. Next, we constructed a plasmid that generates Sko1 DNA-binding mutant for Sko1 were unable to get sumoylated to DNA binding domain of the transcription activator Gal4 to investigate whether DNA binding is sufficient for Sko1 sumoylation. When this plasmid was introduced into a yeast strain that contains multiple Gal4 binding sites on reporter genes, the fusion protein showed high levels of sumoylation, implying that DNA binding is sufficient for Sko1 modification by SUMO.

To further study the role sumoylation plays in regulating Sko1 DNA binding, we performed ChIP experiments followed by next-generation sequencing (ChIP-seq) for both *SKO1-WT* and *sko1-MT* strains, during non-stress and osmotic stress conditions. There were four main results acquired from the ChIP-seq experiment: (i) Sko1-MT bound more promoter regions than Sko1-WT during non-stress and osmotic stress conditions; (ii) During non-stress growth conditions, Sko1-MT

recognized Sko1 binding motif-like sequences, but with less stringency than Sko1-WT; (iii) During osmotic stress, Sko1-MT was still able to bind to non-target promoters but binding sites appeared to be more stringent compared to non-stress; and (iv) the occupancy levels of Sko1-MT was greater than Sko1-WT on Sko1 target gene promoters, during tested growth conditions. Taken together, our analysis suggests that sumoylation functions in preventing the association of Sko1 with non-specific binding sites that show some sequence similarity to its consensus binding motif. In addition, sumoylation also appears to function in preventing excessive occupancy of Sko1 on its target genes.

However, the higher occupancy by Sko1-MT on target genes did not have a general effect on the expression levels of most of the target genes tested. Although bound by Sko1-MT at non-specific sites, it was not able to induce the expression of these genes. These results suggests that Sko1 binding alone is not sufficient to alter the expression of these genes. Finally, we investigated the relationship between Sko1 sumoylation and Hog1 recruitment on Sko1 target promoters, using ChIP experiments. In the absence of sumoylation, the recruitment of Hog1 was significantly impaired on target genes, implying that sumoylation facilitates the binding of Hog1 on target promoters. Collectively, our results suggest important roles for Sko1 sumoylation in regulating target specific binding and in enhancing the recruitment of Hog1 kinase.

4.1.2. Yeast transcription factor Cst6 is regulated by sumoylation

To continue the investigation on TF sumoylation, I next focused on finding roles for Cst6 sumoylation. Cst6 is a gene-specific bZIP TF that is essential for yeast cell viability during ethanol stress and in non-optimal growth conditions [10]. Similar to Sko1, Cst6 recognises and binds to CRE-like promoter sequences. A recent study showed that the Cst6 binding site has an additional

guanine nucleotide at the 5' end of its binding motif, when compared with the consensus CRE motif, implying that it has a somewhat different binding site preference than other bZIP TFs [11]. Cst6 binds to DNA as a homodimer or a heterodimer together with Aca1, another yeast bZIP TF [10, 12]. Cst6 was also identified as a SUMO substrate in large scale proteomic studies, but the functional importance of this modification was not studied [8, 9]. In this study we focused on finding roles for Cst6 sumoylation during non-stress and ethanol stress conditions.

We demonstrated that Cst6 is multi-sumoylated on three lysine residues (K139, K461, and K547), and that the level of its SUMO modification increases during ethanol and oxidative stress. Because Cst6 is essential during ethanol stress and in the presence of ethanol as a carbon source, we next looked at the level of Cst6 sumoylation under these growth conditions. Its sumoylation was elevated with an increased duration and dose of ethanol stress, but it was significantly reduced when ethanol was used as the sole carbon source in the medium.

Next, we investigated the importance of Cst6 sumoylation in cell viability. A yeast strain with SUMO-deficient Cst6 (*Cst6-MT*: *Cst6-K139,461,547R*) was able to grow as well as the wild type strain (*CST-WT*) under the following growth conditions: (i) normal growth condition with glucose as a sole carbon source; (ii) when exposed to different concentrations of ethanol stress; (iii) growth condition with different concentrations of ethanol as a sole carbon source; and (iv) when exposed to oxidative stress along with condition iii. These results suggests that sumoylation of Cst6 is not important for cell viability under the tested conditions. Following the cell viability test, we then examined whether sumoylation plays a role in Cst6 stability. Although Cst6 sumoylation increased with ethanol stress, the abundance of Cst6 was reduced compared to non-stress conditions, suggesting a possible correlation between sumoylation and Cst6 stability. Interestingly,

the Cst6-MT was less abundant compared to Cst6-WT even during ethanol stress. This implies that Cst6 sumoylation plays a role in enhancing its stability in normal and ethanol stress conditions.

Sumoylation of TFs has been shown to be involved in the regulation of promoter association [2, 3]. To investigate any possible correlation between Cst6 sumoylation and its DNA binding level, the occupancy levels of both Cst6-WT and Cst6 MT, on ethanol-induced promoters, were compared during non-stress and ethanol stress conditions using ChIP experiments. The occupancy level of Cst6-WT significantly increased with ethanol stress. Although Cst6-MT was also recruited to the target promoters, there was a reduced or delayed association with these promoters during ethanol stress. These results suggest that sumoylation of Cst6 is important for the timely recruitment of Cst6 to its target genes during ethanol stress.

To further study the effect of Cst6 sumoylation on gene expression, we investigated how sumoylation might regulate transcription of Cst6 target genes. For this, we measured the transcription level of ethanol-induced genes from *CST-WT* and *cst6-MT* strains, using RT-qPCR. In most of the genes tested, the mutant strain showed elevated levels of mRNA, at least at one point during transcription. The acquired results in the absence of sumoylation was gene specific because some genes showed elevated mRNA levels during later time points after exposure to ethanol stress (*NCE103*, *ROX1* and *ACC1*), some showed elevated levels during non-stress conditions (*ACC1* and *RPS3*), and some did not show significant differences (*YAP6*, and *HAP4*). *RPS3* showed elevated mRNA levels at all the indicated time points. Overall, these results suggest that Cst6 sumoylation has a general repressive effect that is observed differentially at different targets. Taken together, the data implies that Cst6 sumoylation enhances Cst6 association with ethanol-induced target promoters, partly by increasing Cst6 stability, to limit the transcription of its target genes.

4.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

4.2.1 Further examining the regulation of Sko1 by sumoylation

One of our main findings was that sumoylation of Sko1 prevents its association with non-target promoters. Based on the results, we propose that sumoylation of promoter bound Sko1 might loosen its interaction with chromatin, to ensure binding specificity. To confirm this model, future experiments, using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, should focus on finding how sumoylation changes Sko1 conformation that will prevent non-specific binding. In fact, a previous study has already shown that SUMO1 interaction with thymidine DNA glycosylase (TDG), which is involved in base excision repair, changed the structure of TDG that led to its removal from the damaged DNA [13].

Although our ChIP-seq analysis showed that sumoylation prevents non-specific binding of Sko1 to DNA, it does not provide us the quantitative analysis of DNA binding affinity. It is still not clear whether Sko1-MT binds to DNA with similar affinity to Sko-1 WT or not. Therefore, future studies using protein binding microarrays (PBM) should focus on finding DNA binding affinity of Sko1 in the presence and absence of sumoylation will be an asset in finding the mechanism to explain how SUMO prevents or limits Sko1 interaction with promoters.

We also discovered that a SUMO-deficient form of Sko1 has reduced interaction with Hog1 on target promoters. However, important insights can also be gained by examining the interaction between the co-repressor complex (Tup1-Cyc8) and Sko1. In fact, for some target genes, Sko1 acts as a repressor during normal growth due to its association with Tup1-Cyc8 complex and this association is continued even during osmotic stress [4-6]. Therefore, Tup1 ChIP experiments can be conducted to investigate the occupancy levels of Tup1 on Sko1 target genes in the presence and

absence of sumoylation. This might also assist in finding additional roles for Sko1 sumoylation during normal growth.

4.2.2 Further examining the regulation of Cst6 by sumoylation

In our Cst6 study, we found that sumoylation is important for enhancing the association between Cst6 and its target promoters. To date, there have only been four genome-wide studies, including Sko1, conducted to find the function of sumoylation in regulating TF association with DNA [14-16]. Contrasting to Cst6, these genome-wide studies have suggested that sumoylation prevents non-specific binding of TFs with promoters. Therefore, it will be interesting to do a ChIP-seq experiment for Cst6 sumoylation to find out what other roles SUMO might play in regulating Cst6 DNA binding. We could also use the genome-wide studies to learn whether SUMO differentially regulates other Cst6 target genes. In addition, future studies focusing on Cst6 conformation and DNA binding affinity will also shed light on finding the mechanism of how SUMO might regulate the association of Cst6 with promoters.

In an attempt to find the function of Cst6 sumoylation in regulating gene expression, we discovered that in the *Cst6-MT* strain, transcriptional levels of its target genes were elevated later during ethanol stress compared to the wildtype strain. Although it suggests a repressive role for sumoylation, it is important to note that this repression was observed mostly around the time the target gene gets shutdown. Therefore, future studies must focus on elucidating the mechanism of how Cst6 sumoylation functions in deactivating the transcription of Cst6 target genes. It is possible that sumoylation of Cst6 might be important for the recruitment of co-repressor complexes to the promoters. Supporting this prediction, sumoylation of Tup1, a co-repressor protein, is required to deactivate the transcription of the amino acid starvation gene *ARG1* [17]. Sumoylated Tup1

interacts with sumoylated Gcn4, another yeast bZIP TF, to assist in Gcn4 removal from promoters thereby deactivating transcription [17]. It is possible that the sumoylation of Cst6 maintains its interaction with promoters so that co-repressor proteins, similar to Tup1, can gain access to these promoters through Cst6, to fine-tune transcriptional deactivation. Interestingly, both the SUMO mutants of Tup1 and Cst6 show similar transcription level profiles, with significantly higher levels of transcription specifically during later time points, suggesting a possible correlation. To test this, ChIP experiments can be conducted to check the occupancy levels of Cst6 and Tup1 on Cst6 target promoters in the presence and absence of sumoylation.

In addition, it is also possible that sumoylation might influence the homodimerization between Cst6 proteins, or heterodimerization with Aca1 TF. Supporting this, one of the SUMO sites on Cst6, K461, lies within its leucine zipper region, a basic region in bZIP TFs used for protein dimerization. Future investigations, using electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA), should focus on Cst6 homo- or herterodimerization in the presence and absence of sumoylation will be informative.

4.3 Conclusions

A number of TFs interact with each other to regulate gene expression for the proper functioning of the cell. These TFs are also regulated by post translational modifications such as phosphorylation, ubiquitination and sumoylation. Due to the fact that TFs are one of the largest classes of SUMO targets, and altered sumoylation levels were observed in diseases, there are a number of studies being performed to understand the mechanisms of how sumoylation can regulate them. In this study, I found that two yeast gene-specific bZIP TFs, Sko1 and Cst6, are sumoylated to appreciable levels during non-stress and stress conditions. Sumoylation is important for preventing Sko1 from binding to non-target promoters, and to limit the occupancy level of Sko1 on its target promoters. In addition, sumoylation is also important to enhance the interaction between Sko1 and Hog1 kinase during osmotic stress. Alternatively, Cst6 sumoylation enhances the association of Cst6 with its targets promoters to facilitate the timely deactivation of gene transcription during ethanol stress. Collectively, both our studies suggests a general role for sumoylation; regulating the interaction between TFs and DNA in order to maintain proper gene expression.

REFERENCES

- 1. Duan, G., & Walther, D. (2015). The roles of post-translational modifications in the context of protein interaction networks. *PLoS computational biology*, *11*(2), e1004049.
- 2. Lothrop, A. P., Torres, M. P., & Fuchs, S. M. (2013). Deciphering post-translational modification codes. *FEBS letters*, 587(8), 1247-1257.
- Han, Z. J., Feng, Y. H., Gu, B. H., Li, Y. M., & Chen, H. (2018). The post-translational modification, SUMOylation, and cancer. *International journal of oncology*, 52(4), 1081-1094.
- Fang, L., Choudhary, S., Zhao, Y., Edeh, C. B., Yang, C., Boldogh, I., & Brasier, A. R. (2014). ATM regulates NF-κB-dependent immediate-early genes via RelA Ser 276 phosphorylation coupled to CDK9 promoter recruitment. Nucleic acids research, gku529.
- Ando, R., Shima, H., Tamahara, T., Sato, Y., Watanabe-Matsui, M., Kato, H., ... & Nio, M. (2016). The Transcription Factor Bach2 Is Phosphorylated at Multiple Sites in Murine B Cells but a Single Site Prevents Its Nuclear Localization. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 291(4), 1826-1840
- Llorens, M. C., Lorenzatti, G., Cavallo, N. L., Vaglienti, M. V., Perrone, A. P., Carenbauer, A. L., ... & Cabanillas, A. M. (2016). Phosphorylation Regulates Functions of ZEB1 Transcription Factor. Journal of cellular physiology.
- 7. Wang, G. Z., & Goff, S. P. (2015). Regulation of Yin Yang 1 by Tyrosine Phosphorylation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 290(36), 21890-21900.
- Pasquel, D., Doricakova, A., Li, H., Kortagere, S., Krasowski, M. D., Biswas, A., ... & Mani, S. (2016). Acetylation of lysine 109 modulates pregnane X receptor DNA binding and transcriptional activity. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms
- Cui, W., Sun, M., Zhang, S., Shen, X., Galeva, N., Williams, T. D., & Staudinger, J. L. (2016). A SUMO-acetyl switch in PXR biology. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms
- 10. Praefcke, G. J., Hofmann, K., & Dohmen, R. J. (2012). SUMO playing tag with ubiquitin. Trends in biochemical sciences, 37(1), 23-31.
- Matunis, M. J., Coutavas, E., & Blobel, G. (1996). A novel ubiquitin-like modification modulates the partitioning of the Ran-GTPase-activating protein RanGAP1 between the cytosol and the nuclear pore complex. *The Journal of cell biology*, *135*(6), 1457-1470.Flotho, A., & Melchior, F. (2013). Sumoylation: a regulatory protein modification in health and disease. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 82.
- 12. Flotho, A., & Melchior, F. (2013). Sumoylation: a regulatory protein modification in health and disease. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 82.
- 13. Chymkowitch, P., Nguéa P, A., & Enserink, J. M. (2015). SUMO-regulated transcription: Challenging the dogma. *BioEssays*, *37*(10), 1095-1105.
- 14. Johnson, E. S. (2004). Protein modification by SUMO. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 73(1), 355-382.
- 15. Dohmen, R. J. (2004). SUMO protein modification. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*Molecular Cell Research*, *1695*(1-3), 113-131.

- 16. Bohren, K. M., Nadkarni, V., Song, J. H., Gabbay, K. H., & Owerbach, D. (2004). A M55V polymorphism in a novel SUMO gene (SUMO-4) differentially activates heat shock transcription factors and is associated with susceptibility to type I diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(26), 27233-27238.
- 17. Wilkinson, K. A., & Henley, J. M. (2010). Mechanisms, regulation and consequences of protein SUMOylation. *Biochemical Journal*, 428(2), 133-145.
- Liang, Y. C., Lee, C. C., Yao, Y. L., Lai, C. C., Schmitz, M. L., & Yang, W. M. (2016). SUMO5, a novel poly-SUMO isoform, regulates PML nuclear bodies. *Scientific reports*, *6*, 26509.
- 19. Wang, Y., & Dasso, M. (2009). SUMOylation and deSUMOylation at a glance. *Journal* of cell science, 122(23), 4249-4252.
- 20. Geiss-Friedlander, R., & Melchior, F. (2007). Concepts in sumoylation: a decade on. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 8(12), 947.
- Hietakangas, V., Anckar, J., Blomster, H. A., Fujimoto, M., Palvimo, J. J., Nakai, A., & Sistonen, L. (2006). PDSM, a motif for phosphorylation-dependent SUMO modification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(1), 45-50.
- 22. Yang, S. H., Galanis, A., Witty, J., & Sharrocks, A. D. (2006). An extended consensus motif enhances the specificity of substrate modification by SUMO. *The EMBO journal*, 25(21), 5083-5093.
- Ulrich, H. D. (2008). The fast-growing business of SUMO chains. *Molecular cell*, 32(3), 301-305
- 24. Bylebyl, G. R., Belichenko, I., & Johnson, E. S. (2003). The SUMO isopeptidase Ulp2 prevents accumulation of SUMO chains in yeast. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(45), 44113-44120.
- 25. Matic, I., van Hagen, M., Schimmel, J., Macek, B., Ogg, S. C., Tatham, M. H., ... & Vertegaal, A. C. (2008). In vivo identification of human small ubiquitin-like modifier polymerization sites by high accuracy mass spectrometry and an in vitro to in vivo strategy. *Molecular & cellular proteomics*, 7(1), 132-144.
- 26. Rabellino, A., Andreani, C., & Scaglioni, P. P. (2017). The role of PIAS SUMO E3ligases in cancer. *Cancer research*, 77(7), 1542-1547.
- 27. Xu, Y., Plechanovová, A., Simpson, P., Marchant, J., Leidecker, O., Kraatz, S., ... & Matthews, S. J. (2014). Structural insight into SUMO chain recognition and manipulation by the ubiquitin ligase RNF4. *Nature communications*, *5*, 4217.
- 28. Praefcke, G. J., Hofmann, K., & Dohmen, R. J. (2012). SUMO playing tag with ubiquitin. *Trends in biochemical sciences*, *37*(1), 23-31.
- 29. Cheng, C. H., Lo, Y. H., Liang, S. S., Ti, S. C., Lin, F. M., Yeh, C. H., ... & Wang, T. F. (2006). SUMO modifications control assembly of synaptonemal complex and polycomplex in meiosis of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genes & development*, 20(15), 2067-2081.
- 30. Zhang, X. D., Goeres, J., Zhang, H., Yen, T. J., Porter, A. C., & Matunis, M. J. (2008). SUMO-2/3 modification and binding regulate the association of CENP-E with kinetochores and progression through mitosis. *Molecular cell*, 29(6), 729-741.
- 31. Cubeñas-Potts, C., & Matunis, M. J. (2013). SUMO: a multifaceted modifier of chromatin structure and function. *Developmental cell*, 24(1), 1-12.
- 32. Pichler, A., Gast, A., Seeler, J.S., Dejean, A., and Melchior, F. 2002. The nucleoporin RanBP2 has SUMO1 E3 ligase activity. *Cell* 108: 109–120.

- 33. Santiago A, Li D, Zhao LY, Godsey A, et al. 2013. P53 SUMOylation promotes its nuclear export by facilitating its release from the nuclear export receptor CRM1. Mol Biol Cell 24: 2739–52.
- 34. Hu, M. M., Yang, Q., Xie, X. Q., Liao, C. Y., Lin, H., Liu, T. T., ... & Shu, H. B. (2016). Sumoylation promotes the stability of the DNA sensor cGAS and the adaptor STING to regulate the kinetics of response to DNA virus. *Immunity*, *45*(3), 555-569.
- 35. Tatham, M. H., Geoffroy, M. C., Shen, L., Plechanovova, A., Hattersley, N., Jaffray, E. G., ... & Hay, R. T. (2008). RNF4 is a poly-SUMO-specific E3 ubiquitin ligase required for arsenic-induced PML degradation. *Nature cell biology*, 10(5), 538.
- 36. Smet-Nocca, C., Wieruszeski, J. M., Léger, H., Eilebrecht, S., & Benecke, A. (2011). SUMO-1 regulates the conformational dynamics of thymine-DNA Glycosylase regulatory domain and competes with its DNA binding activity. *BMC biochemistry*, 12(1), 4.
- 37. Gong L, Ji WK, Hu XH, Hu WF, et al. 2014. Sumoylation differentially regulates Sp1 to control cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111: 5574–9.
- Pichler, A., Knipscheer, P., Oberhofer, E., van Dijk, W. J., Korner, R., Olsen, J. V., Jentsch, S., Melchior, F. and Sixma, T. K. (2005) SUMO modification of the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2–25K. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12, 264–269
- 39. Shen, T. H., Lin, H. K., Scaglioni, P. P., Yung, T. M., & Pandolfi, P. P. (2006). The mechanisms of PML-nuclear body formation. *Molecular cell*, 24(3), 331-339.
- Aillet, F., Lopitz-Otsoa, F., Egaña, I., Hjerpe, R., Fraser, P., Hay, R. T., Rodriues, M.S., & Lang, V. (2012). Heterologous SUMO-2/3-ubiquitin chains optimize IκBα degradation and NF-κB activity. *PloS one*, 7 (12); e51672.
- 41. Geoffroy, M. C., & Hay, R. T. (2009). An additional role for SUMO in ubiquitinmediated proteolysis. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, *10*(8), 564.
- 42. Hay, R. T. (2005). SUMO: a history of modification. *Molecular cell*, 18(1), 1-12.
- 43. Guo, C., & Henley, J. M. (2014). Wrestling with stress: roles of protein SUMOylation and deSUMOylation in cell stress response. *IUBMB life*, 66(2), 71-77.
- 44. Lewicki, M. C., Srikumar, T., Johnson, E., & Raught, B. (2015). The S. cerevisiae SUMO stress response is a conjugation–deconjugation cycle that targets the transcription machinery. *Journal of proteomics*, 118, 39-48.
- 45. Golebiowski, F., Matic, I., Tatham, M. H., Cole, C., Yin, Y., Nakamura, A., ... & Hay, R. T. (2009). System-wide changes to SUMO modifications in response to heat shock. *Sci. Signal.*, 2(72), ra24-ra24.
- 46. Zhou, W., Ryan, J. J., & Zhou, H. (2004). Global analyses of sumoylated proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae induction of protein sumoylation by cellular stresses. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 279(31), 32262-32268.
- 47. Saitoh, H., & Hinchey, J. (2000). Functional heterogeneity of small ubiquitin-related protein modifiers SUMO-1 versus SUMO-2/3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(9), 6252-6258.
- 48. Yang, W., Thompson, J. W., Wang, Z., Wang, L., Sheng, H., Foster, M. W., ... & Paschen, W. (2011). Analysis of oxygen/glucose-deprivation-induced changes in SUMO3 conjugation using SILAC-based quantitative proteomics. *Journal of proteome research*, 11(2), 1108-1117.
- 49. Pinto, M. P., Carvalho, A. F., Grou, C. P., Rodríguez-Borges, J. E., Sá-Miranda, C., & Azevedo, J. E. (2012). Heat shock induces a massive but differential inactivation of

SUMO-specific proteases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1823(10), 1958-1966.

- 50. Castro, P. H., Tavares, R. M., Bejarano, E. R., & Azevedo, H. (2012). SUMO, a heavyweight player in plant abiotic stress responses. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 69(19), 3269-3283.
- Wasik, U., & Filipek, A. (2014). Non-nuclear function of sumoylated proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1843(12), 2878-2885.
- 52. Martin, S., Nishimune, A., Mellor, J. R. & Henley, J. M. SUMOylation regulates kainate-receptor-mediated synaptic transmission. *Nature* **447**, 321–325 (2007).
- 53. M. Kruse, E. Schulze-Bahr, V. Corfield, A. Beckmann, B. Stallmeyer, G. Kurtbay, I. Ohmert, E. Schulze-Bahr, P. Brink, O. Pongs, Impaired endocytosis of the ion channel TRPM4 is associated with human progressive familial heart block type I, J. Clin. Invest. 119 (2009) 2737–2744.
- 54. F. Girach, T.J. Craig, D.L. Rocca, J.M. Henley, RIM1α SUMOylation is required for fast synaptic vesicle exocytosis, Cell Rep. 5 (2013) 1294–1301.
- S. Castillo-Lluva, M.H. Tatham, R.C. Jones, E.G. Jaffray, R.D. Edmondson, R.T. Hay, A. Malliri, SUMOylation of the GTPase Rac1 is required for optimal cell migration, Nat. Cell. Biol. 12 (2010) 1078–1085.
- 56. S. Dadke, S. Cotteret, S.C. Yip, Z.M. Jaffer, F. Haj, A. Ivanov, F. Rauscher III, K. Shuai, T. Ng, B.G. Neel, J. Chernoff, Regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B by sumoylation, Nat. Cell Biol. 9 (2007) 80–85.
- 57. Harder, Z., Zunino, R. & McBride, H. Sumo1 conjugates mitochondrial substrates and participates in mitochondrial fission. *Curr. Biol.* **14**, 340–345 (2004).
- Zunino, R., Schauss, A., Rippstein, P., Andrade-Navarro, M. & McBride, H. M. The SUMO protease SENP5 is required to maintain mitochondrial morphology and function. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 1178–1188 (2007).
- Bassi, C., Ho, J., Srikumar, T., Dowling, R. J. O., Gorrini, C., Miller, S. J., Mak, T. W., Neel, B. G., Raught, B., and Stambolic, V. (2013). Nuclear PTEN controls DNA repair and sensitivity to genotoxic stress. *Science*. 341(6144): 395-399.
- Altmannova, V., Eckert-Boulet, N., Arneric, M., Kolesar, P., Chaloupkova, R., Damborsky, J., Sung, P., Zhao, X., Lisby, M., and Krejci, L. (2010). Rad52 SUMOylation affects the efficiency of the DNA repair. *Nucleic acids research*. 38(14): 4708-4721.
- Altmannova, V., Eckert-Boulet, N., Arneric, M., Kolesar, P., Chaloupkova, R., Damborsky, J., Sung, P., Zhao, X., Lisby, M., and Krejci, L. (2010). Rad52 SUMOylation affects the efficiency of the DNA repair. Nucleic Acids Res. 38, 4708– 4721.
- 62. Bergink, S., & Jentsch, S. (2009). Principles of ubiquitin and SUMO modifications in DNA repair. *Nature*. 458(7237): 461-467.
- 63. Jackson, S. P., & Durocher, D. (2013). Regulation of DNA damage responses by ubiquitin and SUMO. *Molecular cell*. 49(5): 795-807.
- 64. Morris, J. R., Boutell, C., Keppler, M., Densham, R., Weekes, D., Alamshah, A., Butler, J., Galanty, Y., Pangon, L., Kiuchi, T., Ng, T., and Solomon, E. (2009). The SUMO modification pathway is involved in the BRCA1 response to genotoxic stress. *Nature*. 462(7275): 886-890.

- 65. Zhao, X., and Blobel, G. (2005). A SUMO ligase is part of a nuclear multiprotein complex that affects DNA repair and chromosomal organization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 4777–4782.
- 66. Hang, L.E., Liu, X., Cheung, I., Yang, Y., and Zhao, X. (2011). SUMOylation regulates telomere length homeostasis by targeting Cdc13. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 18, 920–926.
- Maison, C., Bailly, D., Roche, D., Montes de Oca, R., Probst, A.V., Vassias, I., Dingli, F., Lombard, B., Loew, D., Quivy, J.-P., and Almouzni, G. (2011). SUMOylation promotes de novo targeting of HP1a to pericentric heterochromatin. Nat. Genet. 43, 220– 227.
- 68. Maison, C., Romeo, K., Bailly, D., Dubarry, M., Quivy, J.P., and Almouzni, G. (2012). The SUMO protease SENP7 is a critical component to ensure HP1 enrichment at pericentric heterochromatin. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 19, 458–460.
- 69. Rosonina, E., Akhter, A., Dou, Y., Babu, J., & Sri Theivakadadcham, V. S. (2017). Regulation of transcription factors by sumoylation. *Transcription*, 8(4), 220-231.
- Rosonina, E., Duncan, S. M., & Manley, J. L. (2010). SUMO functions in constitutive transcription and during activation of inducible genes in yeast. *Genes & development*, 24(12), 1242-1252.Ng, C. H.,
- 71. Wang, Z., Wu, C., Aslanian, A., Yates III, J. R., & Hunter, T. (2018). Defective RNA polymerase III is negatively regulated by the SUMO-Ubiquitin-Cdc48 pathway. *elife*, *7*, e35447.
- 72. Guo B, Sharrocks AD. 2009. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling initiates a dynamic interplay between sumoylation and ubiquitination to regulate the activity of the transcriptional activator PEA3. Mol Cell Biol; 29:3204-3218.
- 73. Wang M, Sang J, Ren Y, Liu K, Liu X, Zhang J, Wang H, Wang J, Orian A, Yang J et al. SENP3 regulates the global protein turnover and the Sp1 level via antagonizing SUMO2/3-targeted ubiquitination and degradation. Protein Cell 2016; 7:63-77
- 74. Gonzalez-Prieto R, Cuijpers SA, Kumar R, Hendriks IA, Vertegaal AC. c-Myc is targeted to the proteasome for degradation in a SUMOylation-dependent manner, regulated by PIAS1, SENP7 and RNF4. Cell Cycle 2015; 14:1859-1872
- 75. Ng, C. H., Akhter, A., Yurko, N., Burgener, J. M., Rosonina, E., & Manley, J. L. (2015). Sumoylation controls the timing of Tup1-mediated transcriptional deactivation. Nature communications, 6, 6610.
- 76. Pourcet B, Pineda-Torra I, Derudas B, Staels B, et al. 2010.SUMOylation of human peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha inhibits its trans-activity through the recruitment of the nuclear corepressor NCoR. J Biol Chem 285: 5983–92.
- 77. Nayak, A., Glöckner-Pagel, J., Vaeth, M., Schumann, J.E., Buttmann, M., Bopp, T., Schmitt, E., Serfling, E., and Berberich-Siebelt, F. 2009 Sumoylation of the Transcription Factor NFATc1 Leads to Its Subnuclear Relocalization and Interleukin-2 Repression by Histone Deacetylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284: 10935–10946.
- 78. Yang, S.H., and Sharrocks, A.D. (2004). SUMO promotes HDAC-mediated transcriptional repression. *Mol. Cell*. 13: 611-617.
- 79. Motohashi, H., Katsuoka, F., Miyoshi, C., Uchimura, Y., Saitoh, H., Francastel, C., Engel, J.D., and Yamamoto, M. (2006). MafG sumoylation is required for active transcriptional repression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26: 4652-63.

- Shiio, Y., & Eisenman, R. N. (2003). Histone sumoylation is associated with transcriptional repression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(23), 13225-13230.
- Nathan, D., Ingvarsdottir, K., Sterner, D. E., Bylebyl, G. R., Dokmanovic, M., Dorsey, J. A., ... Berger, S. L. (2006). Histone sumoylation is a negative regulator in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and shows dynamic interplay with positive-acting histone modifications. *Genes & development*, 20(8), 966–976. doi:10.1101/gad.1404206
- David, G., Neptune, M. A., & DePinho, R. A. (2002). SUMO-1 modification of histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) modulates its biological activities. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(26), 23658-23663.
- Rosonina, E., Duncan, S.M., and Manley, J.L. (2012). Sumoylation of transcription factor Gcn4 facilitates its Srb10-mediated clearance from promoters in yeast. *Genes. Dev.* 26: 350-355.
- Tempé, D., Vives, E., Brockly, F., Brooks, H., De-Rossi, S., Piechaczyk, M., and Bossis, G. (2014). SUMOylation of the inducible (c-Fos:c-Jun)/AP-1 transcription complex occurs on target promoters to limit transcriptional activation. *Oncogene*. 33: 921-927.
- 85. Chymkowitch, P., Aanes, H., Koehler, C. J., Thiede, B., Lorenz, S., Meza-Zepeda, L. A., ... & Enserink, J. M. (2015). Sumoylation of Rap1 mediates the recruitment of TFIID to promote transcription of ribosomal protein genes. *Genome research*, *25*(6), 897-906.
- Nadel, C. M., Mackie, T. D., & Gardner, R. G. (2019). Osmolyte accumulation regulates the SUMOylation and inclusion dynamics of the prionogenic Cyc8-Tup1 transcription corepressor. *PLoS genetics*, 15(4), e1008115.
- 87. Brix, D. M., Tvingsholm, S. A., Hansen, M. B., Clemmensen, K. B., Ohman, T., Siino, V., ... & James, P. (2019). Release of transcriptional repression via ErbB2-induced, SUMO-directed phosphorylation of myeloid zinc finger-1 serine 27 activates lysosome redistribution and invasion. *Oncogene*, *38*(17), 3170.
- Chen, Y. C., Hsu, W. L., Ma, Y. L., Tai, D. J., & Lee, E. H. (2014). CREB SUMOylation by the E3 ligase PIAS1 enhances spatial memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(29), 9574-9589
- Yan, Q., Gong, L., Deng, M., Zhang, L., Sun, S., Liu, J., and *et al.* (2010). Sumoylation activates the transcriptional activity of Pax-6, an important transcription factor for eye and brain development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(49), 21034-21039.
- 90. Escobar-Ramirez A, Vercoutter-Edouart AS, Mortuaire M, Huvent I, Hardivill_e S, Hoedt E, Lefebvre T, Pierce A. Modification by SUMOylation controls both the transcriptional activity and the stability of delta-lactoferrin. PLoS One 2015; 10:e0129965.
- 91. Chen S, Yu X, Lei Q, Ma L, Guo D. The sumoylation of zinc-fingers and homeoboxes 1 (ZHX1) by ubc9 regulates its stability and transcriptional repression activity. J Cell Biochem 2013; 114:2323-2333
- 92. Song, Y., Chi, D. Y., Yu, P., Lu, J. J., Xu, J. R., Tan, P. P., ... Chen, H. Z. (2019). Carbocisteine Improves Histone Deacetylase 2 Deacetylation Activity via Regulating Sumoylation of Histone Deacetylase 2 in Human Tracheobronchial Epithelial Cells. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, *10*, 166. doi:10.3389/fphar.2019.00166

- 93. Hahn, S., & Young, E. T. (2011). Transcriptional regulation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: transcription factor regulation and function, mechanisms of initiation, and roles of activators and coactivators. *Genetics*, 189(3), 705-736.
- 94. Zabidi MA, Stark A. 2016. Regulatory Enhancer–Core-Promoter Communication via Transcription Factors and Cofactors. Trends Genet. 32: 801 814
- 95. Haberle, V., & Stark, A. (2018). Eukaryotic core promoters and the functional basis of transcription initiation. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *19*(10), 621.
- 96. Lubliner, S., Keren, L., & Segal, E. (2013). Sequence features of yeast and human core promoters that are predictive of maximal promoter activity. *Nucleic acids research*, 41(11), 5569-5581.
- 97. Yang, C., Bolotin, E., Jiang, T., Sladek, F. M., & Martinez, E. (2007). Prevalence of the initiator over the TATA box in human and yeast genes and identification of DNA motifs enriched in human TATA-less core promoters. *Gene*, *389*(1), 52-65.
- 98. Kolovos, P., Knoch, T. A., Grosveld, F. G., Cook, P. R., & Papantonis, A. (2012). Enhancers and silencers: an integrated and simple model for their function. *Epigenetics & chromatin*, *5*(1), 1.
- 99. Levine, M., & Tjian, R. (2003). Transcription regulation and animal diversity. *Nature*, 424(6945), 147.
- 100. Sainsbury, S., Bernecky, C., & Cramer, P. (2015). Structural basis of transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 16(3), 129-143.
- 101. Compe, E., Genes, C. M., Braun, C., Coin, F., & Egly, J. M. (2019). TFIIE orchestrates the recruitment of the TFIIH kinase module at promoter before release during transcription. *Nature communications*, *10*(1), 2084.
- 102. Nogales, E., Louder, R. K., & He, Y. (2017). Structural insights into the eukaryotic transcription initiation machinery. *Annual review of biophysics*, *46*, 59-83.
- 103. Lambert, S. A., Jolma, A., Campitelli, L. F., Das, P. K., Yin, Y., Albu, M., ... & Weirauch, M. T. (2018). The human transcription factors. *Cell*, *172*(4), 650-665.
- 104. Inukai, S., Kock, K. H., & Bulyk, M. L. (2017). Transcription factor–DNA binding: beyond binding site motifs. *Current opinion in genetics & development*, 43, 110-119.
- 105. Dror, I., Golan, T., Levy, C., Rohs, R., & Mandel-Gutfreund, Y. (2015). A widespread role of the motif environment in transcription factor binding across diverse protein families. *Genome research*, *25*(9), 1268-1280.
- 106. Morgunova, E., & Taipale, J. (2017). Structural perspective of cooperative transcription factor binding. *Current opinion in structural biology*, 47, 1-8.
- 107. Siggers, T., Duyzend, M. H., Reddy, J., Khan, S., & Bulyk, M. L. (2011). Non-DNA binding cofactors enhance DNA-binding specificity of a transcriptional regulatory complex. *Molecular systems biology*, *7*(1).
- 108. Reinke, A. W., Baek, J., Ashenberg, O., & Keating, A. E. (2013). Networks of bZIP protein-protein interactions diversified over a billion years of evolution. *Science*, *340*(6133), 730-734.
- 109. Rodrigues-Pousada, C., Devaux, F., Caetano, S. M., Pimentel, C., da Silva, S., Cordeiro, A. C., & Amaral, C. (2019). Yeast AP-1 like transcription factors (Yap) and stress response: a current overview. *Microbial Cell*, 6(6), 267.
- 110. Jindrich, K., & Degnan, B. M. (2016). The diversification of the basic leucine zipper family in eukaryotes correlates with the evolution of multicellularity. *BMC evolutionary biology*, *16*(1), 28.

- 111. Hai, T., & Hartman, M. G. (2001). The molecular biology and nomenclature of the activating transcription factor/cAMP responsive element binding family of transcription factors: activating transcription factor proteins and homeostasis. *Gene*, 273(1), 1-11.
- 112. Garcia-Gimeno, M. A., & Struhl, K. (2000). Aca1 and Aca2, ATF/CREB activators in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, are important for carbon source utilization but not the response to stress. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 20(12): 4340-4349.
- 113. Nehlin, J. O., Carlberg, M., & Ronne, H. (1992). Yeast SKO1 gene encodes a bZIP protein that binds to the CRE motif and acts as a repressor of transcription. *Nucleic acids research*, 20(20), 5271-5278.
- 114. Vincent, A. C., & Struhl, K. E. V. I. N. (1992). ACR1, a yeast ATF/CREB repressor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *12*(12), 5394-5405.
- 115. Proft, M., Pascual-Ahuir, A., de Nadal, E., Ariño, J., Serrano, R., & Posas, F. (2001). Regulation of the Sko1 transcriptional repressor by the Hog1 MAP kinase in response to osmotic stress. *The EMBO journal*, 20(5), 1123-1133.
- 116. Proft, M., & Struhl, K. (2002). Hog1 kinase converts the Sko1-Cyc8-Tup1 repressor complex into an activator that recruits SAGA and SWI/SNF in response to osmotic stress. *Molecular cell*, *9*(6), 1307-1317.
- 117. Proft, M., Gibbons, F. D., Copeland, M., Roth, F. P., & Struhl, K. (2005). Genomewide identification of Sko1 target promoters reveals a regulatory network that operates in response to osmotic stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Eukaryotic Cell*, *4*(8), 1343-1352.
- 118. Pascual-Ahuir, A., Posas, F., Serrano, R., & Proft, M. (2001). Multiple levels of control regulate the yeast cAMP-response element-binding protein repressor Sko1p in response to stress. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(40), 37373-37378
- 119. Cook, K. E., & O'Shea, E. K. (2012). Hog1 controls global reallocation of RNA Pol II upon osmotic shock in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 2(9), 1129-1136.
- 120. Capaldi, A. P., Kaplan, T., Liu, Y., Habib, N., Regev, A., Friedman, N., & O'Shea, E. K. (2008). Structure and function of a transcriptional network activated by the MAPK Hog1. Nature genetics, 40(11), 1300.
- 121. Ni, L., Bruce, C., Hart, C., Leigh-Bell, J., Gelperin, D., Umansky, L., ... & Snyder, M. (2009). Dynamic and complex transcription factor binding during an inducible response in yeast. *Genes & Development*, 23(11): 1351-1363.
- 122. Liu, G., Bergenholm, D., & Nielsen, J. (2016). Genome-wide mapping of binding sites reveals multiple biological functions of the transcription factor Cst6p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *MBio*, 7(3): e00559-16.
- 123. Pohlers, S., Martin, R., Krüger, T., Hellwig, D., Hänel, F., Kniemeyer, O., ... & Mühlschlegel, F. A. (2017). Lipid signaling via Pkh1/2 regulates fungal CO2 sensing through the kinase Sch9. MBio, 8(1), e02211-16.
- 124. Suzuki, T., Yokoyama, A., Tsuji, T., Ikeshima, E., Nakashima, K., Ikushima, S., ... & Yoshida, S. (2011). Identification and characterization of genes involved in glutathione production in yeast. Journal of bioscience and bioengineering, 112(2), 107-113.
- 125. Wu, W. S., & Li, W. H. (2008). Identifying gene regulatory modules of heat shock response in yeast. BMC genomics, 9(1): 439.
- 126. Saleem, R. A., Rogers, R. S., Ratushny, A. V., Dilworth, D. J., Shannon, P. T., Shteynberg, D., ... & Aitchison, J. D. (2010). Integrated phosphoproteomics analysis of a

signaling network governing nutrient response and peroxisome induction. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 9(9), 2076-2088.

- 127. Ouspenski, I. I., Elledge, S. J., & Brinkley, B. R. (1999). New yeast genes important for chromosome integrity and segregation identified by dosage effects on genome stability. *Nucleic acids research*, 27(15), 3001-3008.
- 128. Denison C, Rudner AD, Gerber SA, Bakalarski CE, Moazed D, Gygi SP. A proteomic strategy for gaining insights into protein sumoylation in yeast. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2005; 4: 246–254.
- 129. Wohlschlegel JA, Johnson ES, Reed SI, Yates R 3rd. Global analysis of protein sumoylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279: 45662–45668.
- 130. Hannich JT, Lewis A, Kroetz MB, Li SJ, Heide H, Emili A, et al. Defining the SUMOmodified proteome by multiple approaches in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280: 4102–4110.

- Flotho A, Melchior F. Sumoylation: A Regulatory Protein Modification in Health and Disease. Annu Rev Biochem. 2013; 82: 357–385. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevbiochem-061909-093311 PMID: 23746258
- 2. Cubenas-Potts C, Matunis MJ. SUMO: a multifaceted modifier of chromatin structure and function. Dev Cell. 2012. 11.020; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.11.020
- 3. Hendriks IA, Lyon D, Young C, Jensen LJ, Vertegaal ACO, Nielsen ML. Site-specific mapping of the human SUMO proteome reveals co-modification with phosphorylation. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.3366 PMID: 28112733
- Hendriks IA, Vertegaal ACO. A comprehensive compilation of SUMO proteomics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016; 17: 581–595. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.81 PMID: 27435506
- Chymkowitch P, Ngue´a P A, Enserink JM. SUMO-regulated transcription: challenging the dogma. Bioessays. 2015; 37: 1095–105. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201500065 PMID: 26354225
- Dye BT, Schulman BA. Structural mechanisms underlying posttranslational modification by ubiquitinlike proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct. 2007; 36: 131–150. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biophys.36.040306.132820 PMID: 17477837
- Nayak A, Mu["] Iler S. SUMO-specific proteases/isopeptidases: SENPs and beyond. Genome Biol. 2014;15: 422. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0422-2 PMID: 25315341
- Makhnevych T, Sydorskyy Y, Xin X, Srikumar T, Vizeacoumar FJ, Jeram SM, et al. Global map of SUMO function revealed by protein-protein interaction and genetic networks. Mol Cell. 2009; 33: 124-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.12.025 PMID: 19150434
- Lewicki MC, Srikumar T, Johnson E, Raught B. The S. cerevisiae SUMO stress response is a conjugation-deconjugation cycle that targets the transcription machinery. J Proteomics. 2015; 118: 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2014.11.012 PMID: 25434491
- 10. Enserink JM. Sumo and the cellular stress response. Cell Div. 2015; 10: 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13008-015-0010-1 PMID: 26101541

- 11. Golebiowski F, Matic I, Tatham MH, Cole C, Yin Y, Nakamura A, et al. System-wide changes to SUMO modifications in response to heat shock. Sci Signal. 2009; 2: ra24. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2000282 PMID: 19471022
- 12. Niskanen EA, Palvimo JJ. Chromatin SUMOylation in heat stress: To protect, pause and organise?: SUMO stress response on chromatin. BioEssays. 2017; 39: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201600263
- Chymkowitch P, Ngue´a AP, Aanes H, Koehler CJ, Thiede B, Lorenz S, et al. Sumoylation of Rap1 mediates the recruitment of TFIID to promote transcription of ribosomal protein genes. Genome Res. 2015; 25: 897–906. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.185793.114 PMID: 25800674
- 14. Rosonina E, Duncan SMM, Manley JLL. SUMO functions in constitutive transcription and during activation of inducible genes in yeast. Genes Dev. 2010; 24: 1242–1252. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1917910 PMID: 20504900
- 15. Neyret-Kahn H, Benhamed M, Ye T, Le Gras S, Cossec JC, Lapaquette P, et al. Sumoylation at chromatin governs coordinated repression of a transcriptional program essential for cell growth and proliferation. Genome Res. 2013; 23: 1563–1579. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.154872.113 PMID: 23893515
- 16. Liu HW, Zhang J, Heine GF, Arora M, Gulcin Ozer H, Onti-Srinivasan R, et al. Chromatin modification by SUMO-1 stimulates the promoters of translation machinery genes. Nucleic Acids Res. 2012; 40:10172–10186. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks819 PMID: 22941651
- 17. Seifert A, Schofield P, Barton GJ, Hay RT. Proteotoxic stress reprograms the chromatin landscape of SUMO modification. Sci Signal. 2015; 8: rs7–rs7. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aaa2213 PMID:26152697
- Monribot-Villanueva J, Zurita M, Vazquez M. Developmental transcriptional regulation by SUMOylation, an evolving field. Genesis. 2017; 55: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvg.23009 PMID: 27935206
- Rosonina E, Akhter A, Dou Y, Babu J, Sri Theivakadadcham VS. Regulation of transcription factors by sumoylation. Transcription. 2017; 8: 220–231. https://doi.org/10.1080/21541264.2017.1311829 PMID: 28379052
- 20. Gill G. Something about SUMO inhibits transcription. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2005; 15: 536–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2005.07.004 PMID: 16095902
- 21. Lyst MJ, Stancheva I. A role for SUMO modification in transcriptional repression and activation. Biochem Soc Trans. 2007; 35: 1389–1392. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0351389 PMID: 18031228
- 22. Nayak A, Glo[¬]ckner-Pagel J, Vaeth M, Schumann JE, Buttmann M, Bopp T, et al. Sumoylation of the transcription factor NFATc1 leads to its subnuclear relocalization and interleukin-2 repression by histone deacetylase. J Biol Chem. 2009; 284: 10935–46. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M900465200 PMID:19218564
- 23. Yang S-HH, Sharrocks AD. SUMO promotes HDAC-mediated transcriptional repression. Mol Cell. 2004; 13: 611–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(04)00060-7 PMID: 14992729
- Motohashi H, Katsuoka F, Miyoshi C, Uchimura Y, Saitoh H, Francastel C, et al. MafG Sumoylation Is Required for Active Transcriptional Repression. Mol Cell Biol. 2006; 26: 4652–4663. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.02193-05 PMID: 16738329

- 25. Zhang J, Yuan C, Wu J, Elsayed Z, Fu Z. Polo-like kinase 1-mediated phosphorylation of Forkhead box protein M1b antagonizes its SUMOylation and facilitates its mitotic function. J Biol Chem. 2015; 290: 3708–19. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.634386 PMID: 25533473
- 26. Tempe D, Vives E, Brockly F, Brooks H, De Rossi S, Piechaczyk M, et al. SUMOylation of the inducible (c-Fos:c-Jun)/AP-1 transcription complex occurs on target promoters to limit transcriptional activation. Oncogene. 2014; 33: 921–927. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.4 PMID: 23396363
- Akhter A, Rosonina E. Chromatin association of gcn4 is limited by post-translational modifications triggered by its DNA-binding in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics. 2016; 204: 1433–1445. https://doi. org/10.1534/genetics.116.194134 PMID: 27770033
- Rosonina E, Duncan SMSM, Manley JLJL. Sumoylation of transcription factor Gcn4 facilitates its Srb10-mediated clearance from promoters in yeast. Genes Dev. 2012; 26: 350–355. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.184689.111 PMID: 22345516
- 29. Sutinen P, Rahkama V, Rytinki M, Palvimo JJ. Nuclear Mobility and Activity of FOXA1 with Androgen Receptor Are Regulated by SUMOylation. Mol Endocrinol. 2014; 28: 1719–1728. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2014-1035 PMID: 25127374
- Bertolotto C, Lesueur F, Giuliano S, Strub T, de Lichy M, Bille K, et al. A SUMOylation-defective MITF germline mutation predisposes to melanoma and renal carcinoma. Nature. 2011; 480: 94–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10539 nature10539 [pii] PMID: 22012259
- 31. Lin B-S, Tsai P-Y, Hsieh W-Y, Tsao H-W, Liu M-W, Grenningloh R, et al. SUMOylation attenuates c-Maf-dependent IL-4 expression. Eur J Immunol. 2010; 40: 1174–1184. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200939788 PMID: 20127678
- 32. Paakinaho V, Kaikkonen S, Makkonen H, Benes V, Palvimo JJ. SUMOylation regulates the chromatin occupancy and anti-proliferative gene programs of glucocorticoid receptor. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014;42: 1575–1592. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1033 PMID: 24194604
- 33. Sutinen P, Malinen M, Heikkinen S, Palvimo JJ. SUMOylation modulates the transcriptional activity of androgen receptor in a target gene and pathway selective manner. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014; 42: 8310-8319. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku543 PMID: 24981513
- 34. Gong L, Ji W-K, Hu X-H, Hu W-F, Tang X-C, Huang Z-X, et al. Sumoylation differentially regulates Sp1 to control cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014; 111: 5574–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1315034111 PMID: 24706897
- 35. Siggers T, Gordan R. Protein-DNA binding: complexities and multi-protein codes. Nucleic Acids Res.2014; 42: 2099–2111. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1112 PMID: 24243859
- Inukai S, Kock KH, Bulyk ML. Transcription factor–DNA binding: beyond binding site motifs. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2017; 43: 110–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2017.02.007 PMID: 28359978
- Denison C, Rudner AD, Gerber SA, Bakalarski CE, Moazed D, Gygi SP. A proteomic strategy for gaining insights into protein sumoylation in yeast. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2005; 4: 246–254. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M400154-MCP200 PMID: 15542864

- Wohlschlegel JA, Johnson ES, Reed SI, Yates R 3rd. Global analysis of protein sumoylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279: 45662–45668. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M409203200 PMID: 15326169
- Hannich JT, Lewis A, Kroetz MB, Li SJ, Heide H, Emili A, et al. Defining the SUMOmodified proteome by multiple approaches in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280: 4102–4110. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M413209200 PMID: 15590687
- Garcia-Gimeno MA, Struhl K. Aca1 and Aca2, ATF/CREB activators in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, are important for carbon source utilization but not the response to stress. Mol Cell Biol. 2000; 20: 4340–9.PMID: 10825197
- 41. Proft M, Serrano R. Repressors and upstream repressing sequences of the stress-regulated ENA1 gene in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: bZIP protein Sko1p confers HOG-dependent osmotic regulation. Mol Cell Biol. 1999; 19: 537–546. PMID: 9858577
- Nehlin JO, Carlberg M, Ronne H. Yeast SKO1 gene encodes a bZIP protein that binds to the CRE motif and acts as a repressor of transcription. Nucleic Acids Res. 1992; 20: 5271–8. PMID: 1437546
- 43. Vincent AC, Struhl K. ACR1, a yeast ATF/CREB repressor. Mol Cell Biol. 1992; 12: 5394–405. PMID:1448073
- 44. Proft M, Pascual-Ahuir A, de Nadal E, Arino J, Serrano R, Posas F. Regulation of the Sko1 transcriptional repressor by the Hog1 MAP kinase in response to osmotic stress. EMBO J. 2001; 20: 1123–1133. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/20.5.1123 PMID: 11230135
- 45. Rep M, Proft M, Remize F, Tamas M, Serrano R, Thevelein JM, et al. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Sko1p transcription factor mediates HOG pathway-dependent osmotic regulation of a set of genes encoding enzymes implicated in protection from oxidative damage. Mol Microbiol. 2001; 40: 1067–1083. PMID: 11401713
- 46. Pascual-Ahuir A, Serrano R, Proft M. The Sko1p repressor and Gcn4p activator antagonistically modulate stress-regulated transcription in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 2001; 21: 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.21.1.16-25.2001 PMID: 11113177
- 47. Proft M, Struhl K. Hog1 kinase converts the Sko1-Cyc8-Tup1 repressor complex into an activator that recruits SAGA and SWI/SNF in response to osmotic stress. Mol Cell. 2002; 9: 1307–1317. doi:S1097276502005579 [pii] PMID: 12086627
- 48. Proft M, Gibbons FD, Copeland M, Roth FP, Struhl K. Genomewide Identification of Sko1 Target Promoters Reveals a Regulatory Network That Operates in Response to Osmotic Stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryot Cell. 2005; 4: 1343–1352. https://doi.org/10.1128/EC.4.8.1343-1352.2005 PMID: 16087739
- Ni L, Bruce C, Hart C, Leigh-Bell J, Gelperin D, Umansky L, et al. Dynamic and complex transcription factor binding during an inducible response in yeast. Genes Dev. 2009; 23: 1351–63. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1781909 PMID: 19487574
- Cook KE, O'Shea EK. Hog1 controls global reallocation of RNA Pol II upon osmotic shock in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. G3 (Bethesda). 2012; 2: 1129–1136. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.112.003251 PMID:22973550
- 51. Capaldi AP, Kaplan T, Liu Y, Habib N, Regev A, Friedman N, et al. Structure and function of a transcriptional network activated by the MAPK Hog1. Nat Genet. 2008; 40: 1300–1306. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.235 PMID: 18931682

- 52. Ng CH, Akhter A, Yurko N, Burgener JM, Rosonina E, Manley JL. Sumoylation controls the timing of Tup1-mediated transcriptional deactivation. Nat Commun. 2015; 6: 6610. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7610 PMID: 25766875
- Zhao Q, Xie Y, Zheng Y, Jiang S, Liu W, Mu W, et al. GPS-SUMO: a tool for the prediction of sumoylation sites and SUMO-interaction motifs. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014; 42: W325–W330. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku383 PMID: 24880689
- 54. Pascual-Ahuir A, Posas F, Serrano R, Proft M. Multiple levels of control regulate the yeast cAMPresponse element-binding protein repressor Sko1p in response to stress. J Biol Chem. 2001; 276:37373–8. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M105755200 PMID: 11500510
- 55. Falco SC, Dumas KS. Genetic analysis of mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae resistant to the herbicide sulfometuron methyl. Genetics. 1985; 109: 21–35. PMID: 3881312
- 56. Gareau JR, Lima CD. The SUMO pathway: emerging mechanisms that shape specificity, conjugation and recognition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010; 11: 861–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3011 PMID:21102611
- 57. Kinoshita E, Kinoshita-Kikuta E, Takiyama K, Koike T. Phosphate-binding tag, a new tool to visualize phosphorylated proteins. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2006; 5: 749–57. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.T500024-MCP200 PMID: 16340016
- 58. Dwarki VJ, Montminy M, Verma IM. Both the basic region and the "leucine zipper" domain of the cyclic AMP response element binding (CREB) protein are essential for transcriptional activation. EMBO J.1990; 9: 225–32. PMID: 2136830
- 59. Gordaⁿ R, Murphy KF, McCord RP, Zhu C, Vedenko A, Bulyk ML. Curated collection of yeast transcription factor DNA binding specificity data reveals novel structural and gene regulatory insights. Genome Biol. 2011; 12: R125. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2011-12-12-r125 PMID: 22189060
- Erb I, van Nimwegen E. Transcription Factor Binding Site Positioning in Yeast: Proximal Promoter Motifs Characterize TATA-Less Promoters. Aerts S, editor. PLoS One. 2011;
 6: e24279. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024279 PMID: 21931670
- 61. Zhao X. SUMO-Mediated Regulation of Nuclear Functions and Signaling Processes. Mol Cell. 2018;71: 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.07.027 PMID: 30075142
- 62. Niskanen EA, Malinen M, Sutinen P, Toropainen S, Paakinaho V, Vihervaara A, et al. Global SUMOylation on active chromatin is an acute heat stress response restricting transcription. Genome Biol. 2015;16: 153. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0717-y PMID: 26259101
- 63. Guertin MJ, Lis JT. Mechanisms by which transcription factors gain access to target sequence elements in chromatin. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2013; 23: 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2012.11.008 PMID: 23266217
- 64. Liu G, Bergenholm D, Nielsen J. Genome-Wide Mapping of Binding Sites Reveals Multiple Biological Functions of the Transcription Factor Cst6p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. MBio. 2016; 7. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00559-16 PMID: 27143390
- 65. Sarangi P, Zhao X. SUMO-mediated regulation of DNA damage repair and responses. Trends Biochem Sci. 2015; 40: 233–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2015.02.006 PMID: 25778614
- 66. Apostolov A, Litim-Mecheri I, Oravecz A, Goepp M, Kirstetter P, Marchal P, et al. Sumoylation Inhibits the Growth Suppressive Properties of Ikaros. Ramchandran R,

editor. PLoS One. 2016; 11: e0157767. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157767 PMID: 27315244

- 67. Brewster JL, Gustin MC. Hog1: 20 years of discovery and impact. Sci Signal. 2014; 7: re7–re7. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2005458 PMID: 25227612
- 68. de Nadal E, Posas F. Osmostress-induced gene expression—a model to understand how stress-activated protein kinases (SAPKs) regulate transcription. FEBS J. 2015; 282: 3275–3285. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13323 PMID: 25996081
- 69. Knop M, Siegers K, Pereira G, Zachariae W, Winsor B, Nasmyth K, et al. Epitope tagging of yeast genes using a PCR-based strategy: more tags and improved practical routines. Yeast. 1999; 15: 963–972. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0061(199907)15:10B<963::AID-YEA399>3.0.CO;2-W PMID:10407276
- 70. Amberg DC, Burke DJ, Strathern JN. Yeast RNA Isolation: Small-Scale. Cold Spring Harb Protoc.2006; 2006: pdb.prot4155. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot4155 PMID: 22485556
- 71. Langmead B, Salzberg SL. Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat Methods. 2012; 9: 357–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1923 PMID: 22388286
- 72. Zhang Y, Liu T, Meyer CA, Eeckhoute J, Johnson DS, Bernstein BE, et al. Model-based analysis of ChIP-Seq (MACS). Genome Biol. 2008; 9: R137. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2008-9-9-r137 PMID:18798982
- 73. Zhu LJ, Gazin C, Lawson ND, Pagès H, Lin SM, Lapointe DS, et al. ChIPpeakAnno: a Bioconductor package to annotate ChIP-seq and ChIP-chip data. BMC Bioinformatics. 2010; 11: 237. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-237 PMID: 20459804
- 74. Babicki S, Arndt D, Marcu A, Liang Y, Grant JR, Maciejewski A, et al. Heatmapper: web-enabled heat mapping for all. Nucleic Acids Res. 2016; 44: W147–W153. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw419 PMID:27190236
- 75. Bailey TL, Johnson J, Grant CE, Noble WS. The MEME Suite. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015;
 43: W39–W49. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv416 PMID: 25953851
- 76. Robinson JT, Thorvaldsdo´ ttir H, Winckler W, Guttman M, Lander ES, Getz G, et al. Integrative genomics viewer. Nat Biotechnol. 2011; 29: 24–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1754 PMID: 21221095

- 1. Carr SM, Poppy Roworth A, Chan C, La Thangue NB. 2015. Post-translational control of transcription factors: Methylation ranks highly. FEBS J 282: 4450–4465.
- 2. Cubeñas-Potts C, Matunis MJ. 2013. SUMO: A Multifaceted Modifier of Chromatin Structure and Function. Dev Cell 24: 1–12.
- 3. Makhnevych T, Sydorskyy Y, Xin X, Srikumar T, Vizeacoumar FJ, Jeram SM, Li Z, Bahr S, Andrews BJ, Boone C, et al. 2009. Global map of SUMO function revealed by protein-protein interaction and genetic networks. Mol Cell 33: 124–135.
- 4. Flotho A, Melchior F. 2013. Sumoylation: A Regulatory Protein Modification in Health and Disease. Annu Rev Biochem 82: 357–385.
- 5. Dye BT, Schulman BA. 2007. Structural mechanisms underlying posttranslational modification by ubiquitin-like proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 36: 131–150.
- 6. Kunz K, Piller T, Müller S. 2018. SUMO-specific proteases and isopeptidases of the SENP family at a glance. J Cell Sci 131.

- Hendriks IA, D'Souza RCJ, Yang B, Verlaan-De Vries M, Mann M, Vertegaal ACO. 2014. Uncovering global SUMOylation signaling networks in a site-specific manner. Nat Struct Mol Biol 21: 927–936.
- 8. Hendriks IA, Vertegaal ACO. 2016. A comprehensive compilation of SUMO proteomics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 17: 581–595.
- 9. Esteras M, Liu I-C, Snijders AP, Jarmuz A, Aragon L. 2017. Identification of SUMO conjugation sites in the budding yeast proteome. Microb cell (Graz, Austria) 4: 331–341.
- Hannich JT, Lewis A, Kroetz MB, Li SJ, Heide H, Emili A, Hochstrasser M. 2005. Defining the SUMO-modified proteome by multiple approaches in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 280: 4102–4110.
- 11. Rosonina E, Akhter A, Dou Y, Babu J, Sri Theivakadadcham VS. 2017. Regulation of transcription factors by sumoylation. Transcription 0: e1311829.
- Motohashi H, Katsuoka F, Miyoshi C, Uchimura Y, Saitoh H, Francastel C, Engel JD, Yamamoto M. 2006. MafG Sumoylation Is Required for Active Transcriptional Repression. Mol Cell Biol 26: 4652–4663.
- 13. Yang S-HH, Sharrocks AD. 2004. SUMO promotes HDAC-mediated transcriptional repression. Mol Cell 13: 611–617.
- 14. Nayak A, Glöckner-Pagel J, Vaeth M, Schumann JE, Buttmann M, Bopp T, Schmitt E, Serfling E, Berberich-Siebelt F. 2009. Sumoylation of the transcription factor NFATc1 leads to its subnuclear relocalization and interleukin-2 repression by histone deacetylase. J Biol Chem 284: 10935–46.
- Tempe D, Vives E, Brockly F, Brooks H. 2013. SUMOylation of the inducible (c-Fos: c-Jun)/AP-1 transcription complex occurs on target promoters to limit transcriptional activation. Oncogene 33: 921–7.
- Rosonina E, Duncan SM, Manley JL. 2012. Sumoylation of transcription factor Gcn4 facilitates its Srb10-mediated clearance from promoters in yeast. Genes Dev 26: 350– 355.
- 17. Bertolotto C, Lesueur F, Giuliano S et □al (2011) A SUMOylation-defective MITF germline mutation predisposes to melanoma and renal carcinoma. Nature 480:94–98.
- Paakinaho V, Kaikkonen S, Makkonen H, Benes V, Palvimo JJ. 2014. SUMOylation regulates the chromatin occupancy and anti-proliferative gene programs of glucocorticoid receptor. Nucleic Acids Res 42: 1575–1592.
- 19. Sutinen P, Malinen M, Heikkinen S, Palvimo JJ. 2014. SUMOylation modulates the transcriptional activity of androgen receptor in a target gene and pathway selective manner. Nucleic Acids Res 42: 8310–8319.
- 20. Sri Theivakadadcham VS, Bergey BG, Rosonina E. 2019. Sumoylation of DNA-bound transcription factor Sko1 prevents its association with nontarget promoters. PLoS Genet 15: e1007991.
- 21. Rosonina E. 2019. A conserved role for transcription factor sumoylation in binding-site selection. Curr Genet 1–6.
- 22. Yan Q, Gong L, Deng M, Zhang L, Sun S, Liu JJ, Ma H, Yuan D, Chen P-C, Hu X, et al. 2010. Sumoylation activates the transcriptional activity of Pax-6, an important transcription factor for eye and brain development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 21034–9.
- 23. Chen Y-C, Hsu W-L, Ma Y-L, Tai DJC, Lee EHY. 2014. CREB SUMOylation by the E3 ligase PIAS1 enhances spatial memory. J Neurosci 34: 9574–89.

- 24. Rosonina E, Duncan SM, Manley JL. 2010. SUMO functions in constitutive transcription and during activation of inducible genes in yeast. Genes Dev 24: 1242–1252.
- 25. Wohlschlegel JA, Johnson ES, Reed SI, Yates JR, Yates 3rd JR. 2004. Global analysis of protein sumoylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 279: 45662–45668.
- 26. Saleem RA, Rogers RS, Ratushny A V., Dilworth DJ, Shannon PT, Shteynberg D, Wan Y, Moritz RL, Nesvizhskii AI, Rachubinski RA, et al. 2010. Integrated Phosphoproteomics Analysis of a Signaling Network Governing Nutrient Response and Peroxisome Induction. Mol Cell Proteomics 9: 2076–2088.
- 27. Garcia-Gimeno MA, Struhl K. 2000. Aca1 and Aca2, ATF/CREB activators in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, are important for carbon source utilization but not the response to stress. Mol Cell Biol 20: 4340–9.
- Liu G, Bergenholm D, Nielsen J. 2016. Genome-Wide Mapping of Binding Sites Reveals Multiple Biological Functions of the Transcription Factor Cst6p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. MBio 7.
- 29. Knop M, Siegers K, Pereira G, Zachariae W, Winsor B, Nasmyth K, Schiebel E. 1999. Epitope tagging of yeast genes using a PCR-based strategy: more tags and improved practical routines. Yeast 15: 963–972.
- 30. Amberg DC, Burke DJ, Strathern JN. 2006. Yeast RNA Isolation: Small-Scale. Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2006: pdb.prot4155.
- 31. Haruki H, Nishikawa J, Laemmli UK. 2008. The anchor-away technique: rapid, conditional establishment of yeast mutant phenotypes. Mol Cell 31: 925–932.
- 32. Enserink JM. 2015. Sumo and the cellular stress response. Cell Div 10: 4.
- 33. Niskanen EA, Malinen M, Sutinen P, Toropainen S, Paakinaho V, Vihervaara A, Joutsen J, Kaikkonen MU, Sistonen L, Palvimo JJ. 2015. Global SUMOylation on active chromatin is an acute heat stress response restricting transcription. Genome Biol 16: 153
- 34. Suzuki T, Yokoyama A, Tsuji T, Ikeshima E, Nakashima K, Ikushima S, Kobayashi C, Yoshida S. 2011. Identification and characterization of genes involved in glutathione production in yeast. J Biosci Bioeng 112: 107–13.
- 35. Wu WS, Li WH. 2008. Identifying gene regulatory modules of heat shock response in yeast. BMC Genomics 9: 1–15.
- 36. Zhao Q, Xie Y, Zheng Y, Jiang S, Liu W, Mu W, Liu Z, Zhao Y, Xue Y, Ren J. 2014. GPS-SUMO: A tool for the prediction of sumoylation sites and SUMO-interaction motifs. Nucleic Acids Res 42: 325–330.
- Beauclair G, Bridier-Nahmias A, Zagury JF, Säb A, Zamborlini A. 2015. JASSA: A comprehensive tool for prediction of SUMOylation sites and SIMs. Bioinformatics 31: 3483–3491.
- 38. Castro PH, Tavares RM, Bejarano ER, Azevedo H. 2012. SUMO, a heavyweight player in plant abiotic stress responses. Cell Mol Life Sci 69: 3269–3283.
- 39. Golebiowski F, Matic I, Tatham MH, Cole C, Yin Y, Nakamura A, Cox J, Barton GJ, Mann M, Hay RT. 2009. System-wide changes to SUMO modifications in response to heat shock. Sci Signal 2: ra24.
- 40. Lewicki MC, Srikumar T, Johnson E, Raught B. 2015. The S. cerevisiae SUMO stress response is a conjugation-deconjugation cycle that targets the transcription machinery. J Proteomics 118: 39–48.
- 41. Chymkowitch P, Nguéa P A, Enserink JM. 2015. SUMO-regulated transcription: Challenging the dogma. BioEssays 37: 1095–1105.

- 42. Apostolov A, Litim-Mecheri I, Oravecz A, Goepp M, Kirstetter P, Marchal P, Ittel A, Mauvieux L, Chan S, Kastner P. 2016. Sumoylation Inhibits the Growth Suppressive Properties of Ikaros. PLoS One 11: e0157767.
- 43. Llorca CM, Potschin M, Zentgraf U. 2014. bZIPs and WRKYs: two large transcription factor families executing two different functional strategies. Front Plant Sci 5: 169.
- 44. Lee S, Shuman JD, Guszczynski T, Sakchaisri K, Sebastian T, Copeland TD, Miller M, Cohen MS, Taunton J, Smart RC, et al. 2010. RSK-mediated phosphorylation in the C/EBP{beta} leucine zipper regulates DNA binding, dimerization, and growth arrest activity. Mol Cell Biol 30: 2621–35.
- 45. Escobar-Ramirez A, Vercoutter-Edouart A-S, Mortuaire M, Huvent I, Hardivillé S, Hoedt E, Lefebvre T, Pierce A. 2015. Modification by SUMOylation Controls Both the Transcriptional Activity and the Stability of Delta-Lactoferrin. PLoS One 10: e0129965.
- Ramachandran H, Herfurth K, Grosschedl R, Schäfer T, Walz G. 2015. SUMOylation Blocks the Ubiquitin-Mediated Degradation of the Nephronophthisis Gene Product Glis2/NPHP7. PLoS One 10: e0130275.
- 47. Ouyang J, Gill G. 2009. SUMO engages multiple corepressors to regulate chromatin structure and transcription. Epigenetics 4: 440–444.

- 1. Flotho, A., & Melchior, F. (2013). Sumoylation: a regulatory protein modification in health and disease. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 82.
- 2. Rosonina, E., Akhter, A., Dou, Y., Babu, J., & Sri Theivakadadcham, V. S. (2017). Regulation of transcription factors by sumoylation. *Transcription*, 8(4), 220-231.
- 3. Chymkowitch, P., Nguéa P, A., & Enserink, J. M. (2015). SUMO-regulated transcription: Challenging the dogma. *BioEssays*, *37*(10), 1095-1105.
- 4. Vincent, A. C., & Struhl, K. E. V. I. N. (1992). ACR1, a yeast ATF/CREB repressor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *12*(12), 5394-5405.
- Proft, M., Pascual-Ahuir, A., de Nadal, E., Ariño, J., Serrano, R., & Posas, F. (2001). Regulation of the Sko1 transcriptional repressor by the Hog1 MAP kinase in response to osmotic stress. *The EMBO journal*, 20(5), 1123-1133.
- 6. Proft, M., & Struhl, K. (2002). Hog1 kinase converts the Sko1-Cyc8-Tup1 repressor complex into an activator that recruits SAGA and SWI/SNF in response to osmotic stress. *Molecular cell*, *9*(6), 1307-1317.
- Denison C, Rudner AD, Gerber SA, Bakalarski CE, Moazed D, Gygi SP. A proteomic strategy for gaining insights into protein sumoylation in yeast. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2005; 4: 246–254.
- 8. Wohlschlegel JA, Johnson ES, Reed SI, Yates R 3rd. Global analysis of protein sumoylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279: 45662–45668.
- Hannich JT, Lewis A, Kroetz MB, Li SJ, Heide H, Emili A, et al. Defining the SUMOmodified proteome by multiple approaches in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280: 4102–4110.
- 10. Garcia-Gimeno, M. A., & Struhl, K. (2000). Aca1 and Aca2, ATF/CREB activators in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, are important for carbon source utilization but not the response to stress. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 20(12): 4340-4349.

- 11. Liu, G., Bergenholm, D., & Nielsen, J. (2016). Genome-wide mapping of binding sites reveals multiple biological functions of the transcription factor Cst6p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *MBio*, 7(3): e00559-16.
- 12. Suzuki, T., Yokoyama, A., Tsuji, T., Ikeshima, E., Nakashima, K., Ikushima, S., ... & Yoshida, S. (2011). Identification and characterization of genes involved in glutathione production in yeast. Journal of bioscience and bioengineering, 112(2), 107-113.
- Smet-Nocca, C., Wieruszeski, J. M., Léger, H., Eilebrecht, S., & Benecke, A. (2011). SUMO-1 regulates the conformational dynamics of thymine-DNA Glycosylase regulatory domain and competes with its DNA binding activity. *BMC biochemistry*, *12*(1), 4.
- Bertolotto C, Lesueur F, Giuliano S, Strub T, de Lichy M, Bille K, et al. A SUMOylation-defective MITF germline mutation predisposes to melanoma and renal carcinoma. Nature. 2011; 480: 94–8.
- SUMOylation attenuates c-Maf-dependent IL-4 expression. Eur J Immunol. 2010; 40: 1174–1184.
- Paakinaho V, Kaikkonen S, Makkonen H, Benes V, Palvimo JJ. SUMOylation regulates the chromatin occupancy and anti-proliferative gene programs of glucocorticoid receptor. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014; 42: 1575–1592.
- Akhter, A., Yurko, N., Burgener, J. M., Rosonina, E., & Manley, J. L. (2015). Sumoylation controls the timing of Tup1-mediated transcriptional deactivation. *Nature communications*, *6*, 6610.

APPENDIX

COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS FOR FIGURES:

Figure 6.1: Structural comparison between Ubiquitin and the human SUMO1 isoform.

Licensed Content Publisher: Elsevier

License Number: 4765570845977

Figure 1.3: The sumoylation pathway in mammals and S. cerevisiae

Licensed Content Publisher: John Wiley and Sons

License Number: 4765570196279

Figure 1.4: Types of sumoylation and the function of poly-sumoylation in ubiquitinmediated proteasomal degradation.

1.4 A: Licensed Content Publisher: American Association for Cancer Research

License Number 4765580332170

1.4 B: Licensed Content Publisher: Elsevier

License Number: 4765580610041

Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of how SUMO alters the binding site on the target surface.

Licensed Content Publisher: John Wiley and Sons

License Number: 4765570196279

Figure 1.6: Methods explaining how sumoylation can have a prolonged effect on transcriptional repression even after de-sumoylation of the transcription factor.

Licensed Content Publisher: Springer Nature

License Number: 4765571498508

Figure 1.7 A&B: Schematic representation of the cis-regulatory sequences involved in transcription.

Licensed Content Publisher: Springer Nature

License Number: 4765590211972

Figure 1.8 A&B: Schematic representation of the formation of transcription machinery.

Licensed Content Publisher: Springer Nature

License Number: 4765590472431

Figure 1.9: bZIP transcription factor structures and comparisons.

1.9 B: Licensed Content Publisher: American Society for Microbiology

Permissions Request: ASM authorizes an advanced degree candidate to republish the requested material in his/her doctoral thesis or dissertation. If your thesis, or dissertation, is to be published commercially, then you must reapply for permission.